
Cabinet

Wednesday 21 July 2021 10.00 am

Council Chamber, Shire Hall

AGENDA

Item Discussion Portfolio

1 Apologies 

To note any apologies for absence.

Leader of the 
Council

2 Minutes (Pages 1 - 20)

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 23 June 2021 
(minutes attached).

Leader of the 
Council

3 Declarations of Interest 

To  declare any pecuniary or personal interests relating to specific 
matters on the agenda.

Please see information note (1) at the end of the agenda

Leader of the 
Council

4 Questions at Cabinet Meetings 

Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item.

Written questions 

To answer any written questions from a County Councillor, (or any 
person living or working in the county, or is affected by the work of the 
County Council), about any matter which relates to any item on the 
agenda for this meeting. 

The closing date for the receipt of written questions is 4.00 pm on 
Thursday 15 July 2021.

Please submit any questions to 
stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

A written answer will be provided for each written question received (to 

Leader of the 
Council

mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


21 July 2021

be presented to the questioner and to Cabinet (in advance of the 
meeting). The questions and answers will be taken as read and will not 
be read out at the meeting. At the discretion of the Leader of Council, 
each questioner ( in attendance at the meeting) will be allowed to ask 
one supplementary question (in response to the answer given to the 
original question). 

A copy of all written questions and written answers circulated at the 
meeting will be attached to the signed copy of the minutes of the 
meeting.

Urgent questions

An urgent written question may be asked by a member of the public 
about any item on the Cabinet agenda for that meeting which the 
Chairperson considers could not have been reasonably submitted by the 
deadline for the receipt of written questions, provided he or she gives 
notice of the question to the Chief Executive by 12 noon the day before 
the meeting.

Key Decisions

5 Short Breaks for Children and Young People with Disabilities 
(Pages 21 - 32)

Cabinet Member - 
Children's 
Safeguarding and 
Early Years

6 Variation of existing contracts for an extension to the existing 
services to Children and Family Centres (Pages 33 - 44)

Cabinet Member - 
Children's 
Safeguarding and 
Early Years

7 Extension of existing contact for Youth Support Services. 
(Pages 45 - 54)

Cabinet Member - 
Children's 
Safeguarding and 
Early Years

8 Residential Framework for Children's Homes (Pages 55 - 64) Cabinet Member - 
Children's 
Safeguarding and 
Early Years

9 Youth Justice Plan 2021/22 (Pages 65 - 100) Cabinet Member - 
Children's 
Safeguarding and 



21 July 2021

Early Years

10 MHCLG Domestic Abuse Section 31 Grant Funding for 
2021/22 (Pages 101 - 126)

Cabinet Member - 
Adult Social Care 
Delivery

11 Elected Member Community Grant Scheme Build Back Better 
- Councillor Scheme (Pages 127 - 132)

Deputy Leader 
and Cabinet 
Member - Finance 
and Change

12 Provision of Food Waste Transfer Services (Pages 133 - 140) Cabinet Member - 
Environment and 
Planning

13 Arle Court Transport Hub –Contract Procurement and 
Ancillary Orders (Pages 141 - 150)

Cabinet Member - 
Environment and 
Planning

14 Financial Monitoring Report 2021/22 (Pages 151 - 164) Deputy Leader 
and Cabinet 
Member - Finance 
and Change

Cabinet
Cllr Stephen Davies, Cllr David Gray, Cllr Philip Robinson, Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE, 
Cllr Carole Allaway-Martin, Cllr Tim Harman, Cllr David Norman MBE, Cllr Vernon Smith, 
Cllr Lynden Stowe and Cllr Kathy Williams

NOTES
1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to 

make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Director of Policy, Performance and 
Governance ( 01452 328506 e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the 
meeting.

2. INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or reports 
relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the meeting, please 
contact: Stephen Bace, Lead Democratic Services Adviser :01452 324204/e-mail: 
stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk

3. DEFINITION OF A KEY DECISION - A ‘Key Decision’ is one that is, if implemented, is likely to

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk


21 July 2021

 Result in significant additional expenditure or savings to the value of £500,000 or more, or
 Be significant in terms of its effect on communities in two or more electoral divisions.

4.

5. 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS - Members are required to sign the attendance list.

PHOTOGRAPHY, FILMING AND AUDIO RECORDING OF COUNCIL MEETINGS is permitted 
subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions. Please contact Democratic 
Services (01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements ahead of the meeting. If you are 
a member of the public and do not wish to be photographed or filmed please inform the 
Democratic Services Officer on duty at the meeting.  

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please 
leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point located outside the 
main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further 
instructions.



CABINET

23 June 2021

Gloucestershire
County
Council

Minutes

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Lynden Stowe – Deputy Leader & Cabinet Member for Finance and Change
Cllr Stephen Davies – Cabinet Member for Childrens Safeguarding and Early Years
Cllr Carole Allaway Martin – Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Commissioning
Cllr Kathy Williams – Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Delivery
Cllr David Gray – Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning
Cllr Dave Norman – Cabinet Member for Public Protection, Parking and Libraries
Cllr Phil Robinson – Cabinet Member for Economy, Education and Skills
Cllr Vernon Smith – Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood
Cllr Tim Harman – Cabinet Member for Public Health and Communities

-

1. Apologies 

No apologies.

2. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting on 24 March 2021 were agreed as a correct record.

3. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made at the meeting.

4. Questions at Cabinet Meetings 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 1 -

A total of 11 member questions were submitted for consideration in advance of the 
meeting.

The following supplementary questions were asked at the meeting

Question 3 – Cllr Colin Hay asked how members would be able to influence and to 
be consulted on the spending of the Gloucestershire Restart Fund?

Cllr Lynden Stowe replied that it would be through him and that work was underway 
to capture what other grant schemes were available so as not to duplicate.  A 
format would be created that would allow for applications to be made. 

Question 4 – Cllr Colin Hay refered to the liberal democrat amendment at budget 
council to allow for some funding for members to distribute to communities. He 
asked if the Cabinet member agreed that councillors were best placed to help 
advise on how to distribute funds?.

Cllr Lynden Stowe replied he agreed councillors were well placed and the 
administration had empowered those councillors to do this.

Question 5 – Cllr Colin Hay asked for confirmation that the general reserves funds 
would not be touched until the next budget setting period and asked how the 
member would consult with councillors on how to allocate. 

Cllr Lynden Stowe replied that any proposals would be fully documented and 
available for all members to view. 

Question 6 – Cllr Alex Hegenbarth asked for clarification of how much of the 
electricity would come from renewable sources.

Cllr  David Gray replied he could not confirm at this time and would come back in 
writing. 

Question  8 – Cllr John Bloxsom asked whether the support and advice to childcare 
businesses would be sufficient to enable the children’s early years and 
safeguarding sector to be sustainable? 

Cllr Stephen Davies replied advice was available and that he welcomed the views 
of members on what advice should be provided.

Question 9 – Cllr John Bloxsom asked if the reliance on agency staff was alarming 
to the Cabinet Member?

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

Cllr Lynden Stowe replied that alarming was not the right word; the Council was 
always reviewing this and would like to see improvement in those figures.  We were 
not the only council looking for social workers so sometimes the Council had to live 
with the additional costs of using agency staff. The direction of travel was going in 
the right direction.

Question 10 – Cllr John Bloxsom asked for assurance that the provision would get 
through, suggesting that, when schools were closed, provision in holiday period 
seemed to be difficult to implement. 

Cllr Stephen Davies replied that because schools are open, communication would 
be easier and the aim was to increase outreach. 

Question 11 - Cllr John Bloxsom asked for assurances that we are seeking to 
increase the numbers of staff using low emission vehicles. He asked to be provided 
with numbers and a target figure?

Cllr David Gray replied he would come back to the member with the numbers.

5. Outside bodies 

Cabinet considered the outside bodies and partnership document and the names 
listed in the annex.

RESOLVED to:

Agree the appointments in Appendix A.

6. Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2021 

Cllr Stephen Davies, Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years, 
sought Cabinet approval for Gloucestershire’s Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 
2021.

The Childcare Act 2006 imposed local authorities with a duty to ensure there was 
sufficient childcare provision in their localities.  A key element of that duty was to 
undertake an annual assessment of the childcare available and produce an annual 
report for Council members on how the duty is being met.

The Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2021 provided an analysis of childcare 
supply and demand across Gloucestershire, including information about its quality 
and accessibility.  The duty to complete an annual childcare sufficiency assessment 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

was waived for 2020 as part of the initial response to Covid-19.  As such this was 
the first assessment since 2019. 

Members noted that this was a sector with many challenges and noted their thanks 
to officers.

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and,

RESOLVED to:

Approve the Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2021 and delegate authority to the 
Executive Director of Children’s Services, in consultation with the Cabinet Member 
for Children's Safeguarding and Early Years, to make any final changes prior to 
publication.

7. Holiday Activities and Food Programme 2021 - 2022 (HAF) 

Cllr Stephen Davies, Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years, 
sought Cabinet approval for the allocation of £1,289,310 of Gloucestershire’s grant 
from the DFE for the Holiday Activities and Food (HAF) programme.

Gloucestershire County Council was awarded a grant of £1,546,870 by the 
Department of Education on 8th February 2021, in order to fund the Holiday 
Activities and Food Programme during the period March 2021 – March 2022.

The terms of the HAF provided that £155,560 should be allocated by the council to 
provide activities and food for one week during the Easter Holiday 6th – 9th April 
2021. This allocation was approved by an Individual Cabinet Member Decision 
Report dated 12th March 2021.

The recommendations in the report related to the remaining £1,391,310 of the HAF 
Grant which the Council was required to allocate to the provision of food and 
holiday activities for children and young people (5 – 16) eligible for Free School 
Meals (FSM) and their families, during the Summer Holiday and Christmas Holiday 
in 2021 – 2022 Financial year.

The Cabinet Member noted the allocation of funding in the report and outlined an 
amendment to the reported recommendations:

 Option One allocation to read £1,391,310
 Allocate £247,113 to support additional costs of delivering the HAF 

programme

In addition an amendment was made to allocate £1,391,310 from the Contain 
Outbreak Management Fund to the programme to extend the fund to a wider group 
of vulnerable children and families.  This would be used to allocate match funding of 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

£990,893 between the six District Councils in proportion to the number of children 
eligible for free school meals, a further £300,417 to support the additional costs of 
delivering the programme and £100,000 to extend the dedicated HAF team.

The Leader noted the changes (outlined in full in the resolution within these 
minutes) and explained that this doubled the commitment in the paper thanks to 
Central Government and the County Council’s strong partnership with district 
colleagues.

All six weeks of the holidays would be covered. The leader highlighted that 
Gloucestershire County Council was one of the few councils in the country that 
would be doing that. It was felt that following teething problems in the first year 
there had been improvements.

Cabinet noted the Equality Impact Assessment received alongside the report.

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and.

RESOLVED to:

Delegate authority to the Assistant Director for Integrated Children and Families 
Commissioning, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Children’s 
Safeguarding and Early Years to approve Option One - the allocation of £1,391,310 
of Gloucestershire’s grant from the DFE for the Holiday and Activities Programme 
(HAF) as follows: 

1. Allocate £990,893 by District, based on the number of children and young 
people registered Free School Meals (FSM) in grant to a District Lead, who 
will ensure the delivery of activities and food during the summer holiday 2021 
and Christmas Holiday 2021 periods. Grants will be approved following the 
completion of an expression of interest and application form. 

2. Allocate £247,113 to support the additional costs of delivering the HAF 
programme including: transport in rural areas, countywide activity providers, 
additional food to fill any gaps identified in the proposed provision. Grants 
will be approved following the completion of an application form. 

3. Allocate £153,304 to fund a dedicated team HAF Team within the Children 
and Families Commissioning Hub to support delivery and management of the 
HAF Programme.

In addition to agreeing the recommendations contained within the report, 
Cabinet resolves to:

1. Allocate £1,289,310 from the Contain Outbreak Management Fund to the 
local Holiday Activities and Food Programme in order to extend the fund 
to a wider group of vulnerable children and families who would not 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

otherwise be eligible, including young people aged 16 and over, children 
with additional needs and disadvantaged families from black, Asian and 
other minority ethnic communities. 

2. Delegate authority to the Assistant Director for Integrated Children and 
Families Commissioning, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years to

a) Allocate match funding of £990,893 between the County’s six District 
Councils in proportion to the number of children eligible for free school 
meals within each District.  This will take the form of a grant, payable 
on receipt of an expression of interest and application form, to enable 
them to provide or commission food and activities for this wider group 
of vulnerable children and families.  

b) Allocate a further £270,000 to support the additional costs of 
delivering the programme to wider vulnerable groups, including: 
transport in rural areas, countywide activity providers, additional 
targeted provision for more hard to reach groups unable to deliver 
large scale provision.  This will take the form of a grant pot payable to 
voluntary and community groups on receipt of a successful 
expression of interest.

c) Allocate £100,000 to expand the dedicated team HAF Team within the 
Children and Families Commissioning Hub to support delivery and 
management of the expanded HAF Programme.

8. Mental Health Accommodation Based Support 

Cllr Carole Allaway Martin, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Commissioning, 
sought Cabinet approval for the revised deadlines set out within the report for the 
recommissioning of the supported accommodation services project in respect of 
individuals requiring mental health supported accommodation. The report also 
sought approval to split the current staffing funding within the current contract for 
the provision of Mental Health Accommodation Based Supported Services with 
GHCNHSFT into a) funding provided to GHCHSFT for a Placement Review Team; 
and b) funding provided to Gloucestershire County Council’s Adult Social Care Joint 
Commissioning Team to provide new joint commissioning resources.

The changes were to allow for the recommissioning. Currently 108 individuals 
would have their needs reviewed.  There was a lack of high quality self contained 
accommodation in Gloucestershire so new builds would be required. Due to the 
large amount of required new build, the time estimated to take would be 3 years 
from October 2021 to complete. It was important to involve service users in the 
process.

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

Cabinet noted the Equality Impact Assessment received alongside the report.

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and.

RESOLVED to:

1. Note and approve the revised timeline for the deadlines set out in the
report for the recommissioning of the Supported accommodation services
project in respect of individuals requiring mental health supported
accommodation

2. Approve the splitting of the current staffing funding budget of £437,995
within the current contract for the provision of Mental Health
Accommodation Based Supported Services with GHCNHSFT into (a)
funding provided to GHCNHSFT for a Placement Review Team; and (b)
funding provided to Gloucestershire County Council’s (GCC) Adult Social
Care Joint Commissioning Team to provide new joint commissioning
Resources

3. Delegate authority to the Executive Director: Adult Social Care and
Public Health to enter into a section 75 agreement with the
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG) and GHCNHSFT
for the provision of the Placement Review Team. .
The proposed Section 75 agreement shall continue for the length of the
recommissioning project, a period of approximately 36 months
commencing on 1st October 2021, at an estimated maximum total value to
the Council of £539,085.

9. Rural Mobility Fund - Update 

Cllr Philip Robinson, Cabinet Member for Economy, Education and Skills, sought 
Cabinet authorisation for the procurement of goods and services through the Rural 
Mobility Funding received from the Department for Transport, in accordance with 
the Council’s approved bid submission. The Council’s project involved providing an 
enhanced Demand Responsive Transport (DRT) service for two rural areas that 
currently suffer from poor transport links – The South Forest of Dean and North 
Cotswolds; working with GCC Communications on a comprehensive marketing 
plan; procuring four bespoke wheelchair accessible minibuses; and procuring two 
bus service contracts (one in respect of the North Cotswold areas and the other in 
respect of the South Forest of Dean area).

The project was planned as a two-year pilot, and funded by the DfT. Based on the 
DRT model of service delivery, the service would deliver an innovative transport 
solution, starting as two pilot schemes in Gloucestershire’s two most rural districts. 
The government funding that had been received was to specifically kick-start this 
new on demand service – the aim was to; (i) finance the services provided by the 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

proposed project/scheme itself, and (ii) ensure that public transport in the rural 
areas continued to be a viable, encompassing service offer and to reverse recent 
trends of passenger decline and hopefully proving a new, more efficient way of 
providing public transport in rural areas.

Current traditional timetabled services suffer from two issues:
 Restricted options – some only provide a link to the nearest town one day a 

week
 Declining passenger numbers – as increasing delivery cost restricts the 

range of services fewer people are inclined to use them

The service would be launched by March 2022. After two years of the service a full 
project report and review would take place, including a decision on future funding. If 
the service was unsuccessful then the winding down would begin; a full exit 
strategy would be in place in case one is required. Any continuation of the services 
would be funded by the GCC transport budget, though this would only be continued 
if an acceptable business case could be made, and it could be proven to provide 
value for taxpayer money. Any decision around continuation of the service would 
then be brought to Cabinet.

In response to questions it was confirmed that Community Transport schemes 
would be invited to submit bids. Members outlined the flexibility of the initiative and 
the importance of communicating it in the right way. Cabinet reflected on the 
positive impact this could have on individuals with needs who were remaining in 
their own homes and needed transport.

Cabinet noted the Equality Impact Assessment received alongside the report.

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and.

RESOLVED to:

Delegate authority to the Executive Director: Economy, Environment and 
Infrastructure, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Economy, Education and 
Skills to enter into contracts for goods and services as outlined in this report in 
respect of the Rural Mobility Fund (RMF), in accordance with the Council’s 
approved submission to the Department for Transport. In summary:

1. Conduct a mini-competition process using an existing fully compliant
framework to deliver four (4) bespoke, wheelchair accessible, Euro
VI engine minibuses,

2. Award such call-off contract to the preferred tenderer(s);

3. Conduct a competitive procurement process (using the current
dynamic purchasing system for a bus service contract in North
Cotswolds. The proposed contract shall continue for period of
approximately 2 years, with an option to extend for another 2 years

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

at GCC’s discretion;

4. Award such contract to the preferred tenderer(s);

5. Conduct a competitive procurement process (using the current
dynamic purchasing system  for a bus service contract in South
Forest of Dean. The proposed contract shall continue for period of
approximately 2 years, with an option to extend for another 2 years
at GCC’s discretion;

6. Award such contract to the preferred tenderer(s);

7. Award a contract for the supply of a contact centre (and associated
software) services to Lincolnshire County Council. “Call Connect” is
Lincolnshire County Council’s branding of their contact centre. The
proposed contract shall continue for period of approximately 2 years,
with an option to extend for another 2 years at GCC’s discretion.

10. Community and Adult Skills Programmes 2021 – 2022. 

Cllr Philip Robinson, Cabinet Member for Economy, Education and Skills, sought 
Cabinet approval to enter into the funding agreement with the Education and Skills
Funding Agency (ESFA) for the purpose of funding the delivery of
Community Learning and Adult Skills Programmes during the 2021 -
2022 academic year; and continue to award call-off contracts of varying lengths up 
to a maximum of 12 months (dependent on the type of course or piece of
work, for the 2021 - 2022 academic year) for the provision of adult learning
services under the GCC Community and Adult Skills Programmes 2018/19 to
2021/22 framework agreement awarded in October 2018 (valid until
September 2022).

The costs of the Adult Education contracts would be met from the ESFA grant, 
totalling £2,616,429 for the 2021 - 2022 academic year. A total of £2,116,430 will 
be allocated to Adult Education in Gloucestershire (direct delivery team) for skills 
and community learning courses and a total of £499,999 to the appointed sub-
contracted providers for community learning courses under the contract framework 
agreement.

The Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) funding enabled the council to 
contribute to developing skills in the local economy; this provision was especially 
important to recover from the Global Pandemic.  

Members discussed the duty the Council had to those individuals that later in life, 
commenting on the need for enhanced education and how important  providing 
opportunities for them was.

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

Cabinet noted the Equality Impact Assessment received alongside the report.

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and.

RESOLVED to:

Delegate authority to the Executive Director of Economy, Environment & 
Infrastructure to:

1. Enter into a funding agreement with the Education and Skills Funding Agency 
(ESFA) under which the council shall receive ESFA funding for the purpose of 
delivering Community Learning and Adult Skills Programmes for the 2021- 2022 
academic year;

2. To continue to award, during the academic year 2021 - 2022, a series of 12 
month call-off contract(s) for the supply of learning to adult learners, utilising the 
ranking criteria, from the providers appointed under a four year contract framework 
agreement in 2018 (up to the value of £499,999 in respect of any single call-off 
contract). Individual call-off contracts whose value exceeds £250,000 will be made 
in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Economy, Education and Skills. Any 
call-off contract with a value of £500,000 or more shall be the subject of a separate 
Cabinet decision.

11. Adoption of the ULEV (Ultra Low Emissions Vehicles) Strategy and the 
process for the procurement and installation of Electric Vehicle Chargers 
across Gloucestershire. 

Cllr David Gray, Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning, sought Cabinet 
authorisation to adopt the Gloucestershire ULEV (Ultra Low Emissions Vehicles) 
Strategy and to conduct a competitive procurement for one or more contracts to 
install and operate Electric Vehicle chargers in Gloucestershire in locations that will 
maximise the success of the strategy. 

In December 2019 Cabinet agreed our Climate Change Strategy. It committed the 
council to Net Zero emissions by 2030 and the whole of Gloucestershire to Net 
Zero by 2045.Transport accounted for 1/3 of carbon emissions and is a critical 
sector for decarbonisation. The Council would help people choose greener 
transport by investing in 1000 charge points: that meant up to 500 locations where 
two cars can charge up.

The report and strategy showed how the council would support growth in Electric 
Vehicles in our roles as an investor, partner and enabler. The member outlined the 
importance of providing practical steps and to demonstrate how the Council would 
lead in this area, considering how the Council could help people to switch to electric 
vehicles by investing in on street chargers in residential areas.

The Council had already budgeted over £620,000 for EV Infrastructure and would 
access government grants to make the money go much further. This was more than 

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

enough to make a start; however further internal and external funding would need 
to be sought later to reach our ambition of 1000 charge points. Should funds not be 
available the Council would not be contractually committed to any minimum spend.

In response to a question it was explained that 100% renewable energy would be 
used in the charging points.

It was noted that in the Highways Team, Electric Vehicles were already being 
purchased.

The Leader outlined that the Council was leading the way in this area, investing 
money and delivering on the ground to make a difference for residents.

Cabinet noted the Equality Impact Assessment received alongside the report.

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and.

RESOLVED to:

1. Adopt the Gloucestershire ULEV strategy setting out the council’s
leadership role as an investor, partner and enabler of EV infrastructure
and other measures to support the switch to low carbon transport.

2. Delegate authority to the Executive Director Economy, Environment
and Infrastructure to:

a) conduct a competitive procurement process using the Crown
Commercial Services Dynamic Purchasing System for Vehicle Charging
Infrastructure Solutions (RM6213) for a 3+1+1+1 year contract to the
value of up to £6 million (including third party spend) for the supply and
installation of electric vehicle chargers in Gloucestershire.

b) award the contract(s) to the successful bidder and call off works and
services from the contract(s) up to the value of the resources available
to the council and in accordance with the approach set out in the
Resource Implications and Financial Implications sections of this report.

c) identify and prioritise locations for the council’s investment in a public EV
charger network by applying the methodology from the ULEV strategy
and to install new chargers in a rolling implementation plan.

d) develop plans for more low emission, low carbon buses to deliver the
government’s Bus Back Better strategy and road map to net zero bus
services.

12. Procurement of Front Line Fire Engine Appliance Replacements 

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

Cllr Dave Norman, Cabinet Member for Public Protection, Parking and Libraries, 
sought Cabinet approval to procure up to 12 new Fire Engine Appliances for
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue over the 3 year period commencing July
2021.

The GFRS Fire Engine Fleet was ageing with twenty Front Line Fire Engine 
Appliance vehicles identified as needing to be replaced over the next 5 years. 
Capital funding of £3.7million had already been secured which would enable GFRS 
to purchase up to twelve Front Line Appliances over the next 3 years.

Under the Fire and Rescue Service Act 2004, the Fire Authority had a legal 
requirement to provide responses to fires, road traffic collisions and promote fire 
safety. If Cabinet were unable to support the replacement of fire appliances, there 
was a real risk that these vehicles could suffer a terminal failure due to their age 
exposing the Service and the public to unacceptable levels of risk. Not replacing the 
vehicles would be at odds with the Council’s vision & values and would not align 
with the strategic aims for response and resilience whereby we aim to respond 
promptly and efficiently to deal with fires and others emergencies when they occur.

Procurement of fire appliances through a bespoke NFCC framework minimised the 
risk to GCC and GFRS by maintaining legal compliance with Public Sector 
Procurement Regulations. The framework provided the best value for money and 
was public procurement law compliant. The proposed framework agreement had 
been developed by Fire and Rescue Services nationally and also supported the 
Home Office aims of best value and increased collaboration to achieve greater 
efficiencies.

By removing 12 very old more polluting euro 4/5 engine vehicles, over the next 3 
years) and replacing them with more efficient Euro 6 engine vehicles, the Council 
would reduces the Nitrogen oxides (NOx), Carbon monoxide (CO), Hydrocarbons 
(HC), particulate matter (PM) emissions produced across our fleet.

Cabinet noted the Equality Impact Assessment received alongside the report.

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and.

RESOLVED to:

Delegate authority to the Chief Fire Officer, in consultation with the Cabinet Member 
for Public Protection, Parking and Libraries to:

1. Conduct a series of mini-competition processes under the National
Fire Chiefs Council Emergency Response Vehicle Framework
Agreement (managed by Devon and Somerset FRS) in respect of a
series of call-off contracts for the supply of up to twelve equipped Fire
Engine Appliances with Euro 6 and greener technology engines which
will be used to replace the current fleet of more polluting Euro 4/5
engine vehicles during the three year period commencing July 2021

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 12 -

and ending Dec 2024.

2. Award such call-off contracts to the preferred tenderer(s).

13. School Meals and Shire Hall  Catering Services County Framework Contract 

Cllr Lynden Stowe, Cabinet Member for Finance and Change, sought Cabinet 
approval to re-procure the primary and special school meals county framework and 
that the Shire Hall catering service was included within the new framework. 

The existing contract was a successful one.  It provided over 17,000 meals per day 
in 173 schools. 

The proposed course of action would enable the Council to continue to facilitate the 
County Primary and Special School Meals service, which provided hot school 
meals cooked onsite in the majority of schools, and where necessary provide a 
delivered meals service for schools which did not have kitchen facilities. 

Members discussed the impact of a good nutritious school meal on educational 
outcomes for young people.

A catering service was required for staff returning to work at Shire Hall and for 
official hospitality.  Given the reduced numbers since COVID and agile working 
arrangements the Shire Hall catering contract might not be sustainable if tendered 
as a separate contract. 

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and.

RESOLVED to:

Delegate authority to the Executive Director of Corporate Resources in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Finance and Change to:

1. Conduct a competitive procurement process in respect of a Framework 
Agreement for:

(a) Lot 1 the supply of school meals in 170 primary, secondary and
special schools in Gloucestershire.

(b) Lot 2 the supply of catering services at Shire Hall only.

(c) Lot 3 the supply of school meals in 170 primary, secondary and
special schools in Gloucestershire and also the supply of catering
services at Shire Hall.

The proposed Framework Agreement shall continue for a period of 4
years.

Page 13



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 13 -

2. Award such Framework Agreement to the preferred tenderer;

3. Award a Call-Off Contract under such Framework Agreement on
behalf of each participating school for the supply of school meals. The
proposed Call-Off Contracts shall continue for a minimum period of 2
years and include options to extend their terms for a further period of
not more than 4 years;

4. Award a Call-Off Contract under such Framework Agreement for the
supply of catering services at Shire Hall. The proposed Call-Off
Contract shall continue for a period of 4 years.

14. To procure and award a new contract(s) for the supply of temporary staff and 
permanent recruitment for hard to fill posts. 

Cllr Lynden Stowe, Cabinet Member for Finance and Change, sought Cabinet 
approval to procure and award a new contract for the supply of temporary staff and 
permanent recruitment for hard to fill posts. 

The Council needed a contract in place for the supply of temporary workers which 
would enable managers to resource staff on a short-term basis.  Having a corporate 
contract in place enabled the Council to have a clear, streamlined process in place 
for managers. Other financial benefits included minimising the number of workers 
engaged off- contract at more expensive agency rates.

There was a trend towards using fewer agency staff but there was still a need for 
some to ensure capacity and to provide certain skillsets. There was a balance to be 
found.

He asked Cabinet to approve

 A direct award to the existing service supplier for a contract of up to 12 
months with the option for a three month extension for an interim contract, 
whilst we complete a procurement exercise for a new contract.  

 To conduct a legally compliant tender process for the award of a new five 
year contract(s) (three-year initial term with an option to extend for a further 
two years) for the supply of temporary staff.  The contract would also include 
the provision for using agencies for recruitment to hard to fill permanent 
roles, where appropriate.  

 to procure and award Call-Off Contracts under the Crown Commercial 
Services Non-Clinical Temporary and Fixed Term Staff Framework 
(RM6160) for the supply of temporary legal agency locums.  

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and.

RESOLVED to:

Page 14



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 14 -

1) Award without further competition a call-off contract of up to 12 months with the 
option to extend for three months, for the supply of temporary staff services (during 
the period 1 September 2021 to 30 November 2022) under the ESPO 653F 
MSTAR3 Framework to the existing services supplier in accordance with the 
specified direct award criteria. The Council is permitted to make a direct award 
under the proposed framework. This interim contract is required to ensure that the 
service is secured during the implementation and mobilisation phase of the new 
contract as it is unlikely that the new contract will be operable immediately at the 
end of the current contract. The value of this contract will be no more than £15 
million.

2) Delegate authority to the Director of People & Digital Services, in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Finance and Change:

a) To run a mini competition exercise under a legally compliant
framework and to award a call-off contract(s) to supplier(s) for the
services to supply temporary staff and recruitment to hard to fill
permanent posts. Such call-off contract(s) shall continue for an initial
period of three years (commencing no later than 1 December 2022)
and will include an option to extend its term for a further period of
two years. The value of this contract will be no more than £70
million.

b) To award such call-off contract(s) to the preferred tenderer/s; and

c) To determine whether to exercise the option to extend such call-off
contract(s) for a further period of not more than two years on the
expiry of the initial three-year term.

3) Delegate authority to the Assistant Director of Legal Services, in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member Finance and Change to procure and award Call-off 
Contracts under the Crown Commercial Service Non- Clinical Temporary and Fixed 
Term Staff Framework (RM6160) for the supply of temporary legal agency locums. 
Such Call-Off Contracts may be awarded at any time up to and including 25 July 
2023. The value of this contract will be no more than £1.3 million.

15. Revenue and Capital Expenditure 2020-2021 

Cabinet Member for Finance and Change, Cllr Lynden Stowe, gave an update on 
the Council’s outturn expenditure for 2020/21 and sought approval for the 
recommendations in the report and changes to the Capital Programme in 202/21 
and future years.

The forecast revenue final year position at the end of 2020/21 was an underspend 
of £3.153 million - 0.67% of total budget. This underspend would be transferred to 
General Reserves. This final position was an indication of robust financial 
management during the year.

Page 15



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 15 -

This overall position did mask a number of significant variances – the areas of 
major revenue risk during the year continued to relate to the care of the most 
vulnerable children and adults. Those demand-led budget areas were subject to 
significant volatility due to changes in client numbers and care needs and would 
need to be closely monitored and controlled in the new financial year.

The last financial year was dominated by COVID and the Council’s response to the 
pandemic. Members congratulated officers on their efforts during this time. 

Cabinet thanked Central Government for the funding that had been provided during 
the pandemic.

In addition, the report recommended carry forwards totalling £8.7m – some of those 
were associated with projects originally scheduled for 2020/21 but had to be 
delayed due to COVID whilst other carry forwards were designed to fund Council 
priorities in 2021/22 for example:-

 £0.5m to fund additional bridge and structure maintenance
 £0.6m to fund the GFRS Improvement Plan
 £1m to establish a Gloucestershire Restart Fund
 £530k to be added to existing for Electric Vehicle Infrastructure fund
 £530k additional Highways Local funding

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and.

RESOLVED to:

1. Note the overall 2020/2021 revenue budget underspend of £3.153 million and 
recommend that this be transferred to the General Reserves.

2. Approve transfers and use of carry forwards that total £8.700 million, as detailed 
in annex 1.

3. Delegate the Executive Director of Corporate Resources to administer the restart 
fund, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and Change.

4. Approve the £10.946 million carry forward of the Covid 19 Emergency Grant 
funding.

5. Transfer the additional funding received for 2020/21 Tax Income Guarantee 
Grant for Council Tax of £2.957 million and the Business Rates Section 31 grant of 
£10.637m to the Revenue Grants Unapplied Reserve.

6. Transfer £594k to the Business Rates Retention Reserve in relation to the GCC 
share of the surplus on the Business Rates Retention Pool. In addition approve a 
transfer of £744k to the Strategic Economic Development Fund also as a result of 
the Business Rates Pool surplus for 20/21.

7. Approve other technical reserve movements for 2020/21 as set out in annex 3.

Page 16



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 16 -

8. Note delivery of the £10.790 million of savings against a target of £10.545 million 
in 2020/21 or 102.3%, a breakdown is shown at Paragraph 57.

9. Note the capital outturn position for 2020/21 of £114.081 million against a budget 
of £123.871 million, giving in year slippage of £9.790 million.

10.Approve an increase of £5.425 million in the Capital Programme as detailed in 
section G of the report.

11.Approve the following revenue contributions to capital schemes:

 £248k revenue contribution for Highways Locals
 £11k revenue contribution towards work at the County’s Traveller sites
 £377k revenue contribution from covid emergency grant for capital schemes 

London Road Emergency Active Travel project
 £213k revenue contribution from covidemergency grant for digital stock in 

Libraries

16. Replacement of the current SAP Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) solution 

Cllr Lynden Stowe, Cabinet Member for Finance and Change, sought Cabinet 
approval to consider the replacement of the current SAP on premise system 
through the procurement of: a cloud hosted ERP Software as a Service (SaaS) 
solution and the services of an implementation and support partner in relation to 
such solution.

The council’s current SAP solution, which provided HR, payroll, finance and 
procurement functionality did not provide the transformation and digital tools that 
GCC required in the future. A decision to introduce a modern, efficient, cloud-
hosted Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) system would transform the user 
experience for staff and managers and provide a range of digital tools to support 
day to day operations in line with the Council’s Digital Strategy.

.Authority would be delegated to the Executive Director of Corporate Resources in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and Change to seek expressions 
of interest and run a mini competition under the Crown Commercial Services SDIS 
framework.

The contracts would be 5 years, with the option to extend for 1 year plus 1 year.

The estimated implementation costs and the on-going revenue running costs were 
deemed to be commercially sensitive and were therefore included in an exempt 
annex to the report. Funding for the implementation and the on-going revenue costs 
would be met from within existing budgets

Prior to the discussion, members were advised that, should Cabinet wish to discuss 
the contents of the exempt information reported in the annex, consideration should 

Page 17



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 17 -

be given to whether the press and public should be excluded from the meeting in 
accordance with Regulation 4 (2) (b) of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.

Cabinet agreed to consider the item without having to refer to the exempt 
information.

Cabinet noted the Equality Impact Assessment received alongside the report.

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and.

RESOLVED to:

Delegate authority to the Executive Director of Corporate Resources in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Finance and Change to:

1. Seek expressions of interest from suppliers under the Crown Commercial
Services Back Office Services (BOS) framework agreement (RM 6194) for
the purpose of determining whether such suppliers would be interested in
the opportunity to bid for the Council’s proposed ERP SaaS solution
contract;

2. Conduct a mini-competition process under such framework agreement, in
a format determined by the council with reference to the content of such
expressions of interest, in respect of a call-off contract for the supply of a
cloud hosted ERP SaaS solution (the “ERP SaaS Contract”). The
proposed ERP SaaS Contract shall continue for an initial period of 5 years
and include two extension options each 12 months in length;

3. Award such ERP SaaS Contract to the preferred tenderer;

4. Determine whether to exercise the options to:

a. extend the term of such ERP SaaS Contract for a further period of 12
months on the expiry of the initial 5 year term; and

b. extend the term of such ERP SaaS Contract again for a further period
of 12 months on the sixth anniversary of the contract.

5. Conduct a mini-competition process under Crown Commercial Services
Software Design & Implementation Services (SDIS) Framework (RM6193)
in respect of a call-off contract for the supply of implementation and
support services (the “Implementation and Support Contract”) in relation
to:

a. the proposed ERP SaaS Contract;

b. the support of existing SAP modules and existing applications which do not form 
part of this programme;

Page 18



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 18 -

c. the supply of support services in respect of the council’s existing on premise SAP 
solution while the proposed new ERP SaaS Contract is implemented.

The proposed Implementation and Support Contract shall continue for an
initial period of 5 years and include two extension options each 12 months in
length.

6. Award such Implementation and Support Contract to the preferred
tenderer;

7. Determine whether to exercise the options to:

a. extend the term of such Implementation and Support Contract for a
further period of 12 months on the expiry of the initial 5 year term; and

b. extend the term of such Implementation and Support Contract again
for a further period of 12 months on the sixth anniversary of the
contract

Leader of Council

Meeting concluded at 11:20

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TITLE: Short Breaks for Children and Young People with Disabilities

Cabinet Date 21 July 2021

Cabinet Member Cllr Stephen Davies - Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and 
Early Years.     

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To seek Cabinet support for a revised strategy for the commissioning of 
short breaks for children and young people with disabilities and to seek 
delegated authority to conduct the associated procurement processes.

Recommendations

 That Cabinet ;

(1) Agree the proposed commissioning strategy and timeline. 

(2) Authorise the Executive Director of Children Services in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding 
and Early Years to: 

a) Conduct a compliant competitive tender process for the 
development of a three-year contract with the option to extend for a 
further two years for directly provided Short Break services.

b) Determine whether to exercise the option to extend the contract for 
a further period of not more than two years on the expiry of the 
initial two year term.

c) Conduct a competitive procurement process in respect of a three 
year Framework Agreement for the supply of activity provision

d) Award such Framework Agreement to the preferred tenderer (s);
e) Procure and award Call-Off Contracts for the supply of activity 

provision under such Framework Agreement whose combined 
aggregate value shall not exceed £3m 

f) The combined value of both the contracts and the Framework is 
estimated as £8.3m over the Five years for the delivery of Short 
Breaks services for children and young people with additional 
needs. 

g) Upon conclusion of the competitive tender process, to enter into 
contract arrangements with preferred providers to develop a 
framework of approved providers.

Page 21

Agenda Item 5



Reasons for 
recommendations

Existing GCC contracts for short break provision are coming to an end in 
March 2022 and will require to be retendered. The opportunity afforded by 
this has been taken to review the current Short Breaks offer in light of the 
pandemic and the closure of a large provider in order to deliver a more 
varied and consistent service across Gloucestershire and to meet 
expressed views of parents and carers. This report details the suggested 
way forward. 

Resource 
Implications

Within existing devolved budgets

Background 
Documents

GCC Short Breaks Statement

Statutory Authority Children Act 1989 
Breaks for Carers of Disabled Children Regulations 2011
Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970 
Children Act 2004
Children and Families Act 2014
Equality Act 2010
NHS Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012)
Care Act 2014 (in relation to transition to adult social care)

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

All

Officer Wendy Williams, Assistant Director for Integrated Children and Families 
Commissioning
01452 328526
07796611068
wendy.williams3@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Timeline April 2021: New Short Breaks Working Group established
May half term; Increased short breaks provision via existing providers and 
Special Schools (measured against Summer 2020 provision) and for 
subsequent School holidays whilst the Tender processes are completed.
July 2021: Initial needs analysis completed
Early Sept 2021: Short Breaks Sufficiency Strategy developed and agreed
New Specifications for existing contracts to be developed for 3 year plus 2 
years contracts 
Oct – Dec 2021: Existing short break contracts tendered
Jan 2022: Tender for pseudo Framework Agreement for directly             
commissioned Short Break services issued 

Page 22

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/disabilities/short-breaks-for-disabled-children-and-young-people/
mailto:wendy.williams3@gloucestershire.gov.uk


April 2022:Short Breaks contract start
Sept 2022: New pseudo Framework providers start

1. Background 

1.1 Since 1991 Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) has been under a legal duty 
to provide access to information and support for children and young people with 
a disability and their families. The impact of this provision is intended to promote 
and support the resilience of families or carers and allow children and young 
people with disabilities to access age and ability appropriate inclusive play and 
social opportunities. These duties have been further strengthened by the 
Children and Families Act 2014 which introduced Education, Health and Care 
Plans (EHCP’s) and the notion of co-production in the development, 
commissioning and review of services to children and young people with a 
special educational need or disability.

1.2 Due to the mixed rural and urban demographics of the county there is a risk of 
social isolation amongst children and young people with disabilities which can be 
compounded by the accessibility of public transport. There is a strong evidence 
base to suggest that reducing social isolation both for children and young people 
with disabilities and their families is a key protective factor leading to better 
outcomes in adult life. 

1.3 The Covid19 pandemic has resulted in a very challenging scenario for short 
breaks providers with demand being variable as a result of children and young 
people ‘shielding’ or finding social distancing a significant challenge. This has 
been compounded by provider staff shortages and a large provider (Hop, Skip 
and Jump – HSJ) going into administration and then closing. Information from 
individual parents, the Gloucestershire Parent Carer Forum and independent 
support providers confirms that parents have faced significant difficulties in 
finding safe local short break provision to meet their needs especially when they 
have been in receipt of a Direct Payment to employ Personal Assistants.

1.4 The existing Short Break arrangements have not been reviewed for some time, 
to that end a new Short Breaks Working Group has been established led by a 
GCC Commissioner which met for the first time on 27 April with representation 
from parents, local providers and a representative from the Gloucestershire 
Association of Special School Heads. The parental representation is being 
ensured through the Gloucestershire Parent Carer Forum. Further work is 
ongoing to enable the voice of children and young people to be heard.

2. Legal framework

2.1 The Local Authority has a number of duties associated with short breaks which 
include those owed to individual children and families in relation to assessment 
and care planning and wider commissioning obligations on local authorities. The 
key statutory duties are to be found within the following legislation:

Page 23



 Children Act 1989 and the Breaks for Carers of Disabled Children 
Regulations 2011

 Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970 (‘CSDPA 1970’)
 Children Act 2004
 Children and Families Act 2014
 Equality Act 2010
 NHS Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012)
 Care Act 2014 (in relation to transition to adult social care)

2.2 The starting point for consideration of the legal framework relating to short 
breaks is the general duty to provide services for children in need under section 
17(1) of the Children Act 1989. The duty is to ‘safeguard and promote the 
welfare of children within their area who are in need; and so far, as is consistent 
with that duty, to promote the upbringing of such children by their families, by 
providing a range and level of services appropriate to those children’s needs.’

2.3 All ‘disabled’ children are children ‘in need’ (section 17(10)(c) and (11)). There is 
no requirement for a child to have a particular level of disability or to need any 
support from the local authority to qualify as a child ‘in need’. All that matters is 
that the child falls within the definition of ‘disabled’ in section 17(11), which reads 
as follows; ‘a child is disabled if he is blind, deaf or dumb or suffers from mental 
disorder of any kind or is substantially and permanently handicapped by illness,
injury or congenital deformity.’ The quantum of service required to meet the need 
will be determined by assessment. 

The Short Breaks Duty

2.4 Paragraph 6 of schedule 2 of the Children Act 1989 provides that;

(3) Every local authority shall provide services designed—

(a) to minimise the effect on disabled children within their area of their 
disabilities;
(b) to give such children the opportunity to lead lives which are as normal as 
possible; and
(c) to assist individuals who provide care for such children to continue to do so, 
or to do so more effectively, by giving them breaks from caring.

The duty in para 6(1)(c) of schedule 2, often described as the ‘short breaks duty’, 
was inserted by the Children and Young Persons Act 2008. It was intended to 
ensure that the improvement made by investment in short breaks through the 
Aiming High for Disabled Children programme was not lost. The effect of the 
short breaks’ duty is that the services provided by every local authority to 
children in need must include both ‘crisis’ breaks and breaks designed to ensure 
that family life can be sustained effectively.

2.6 Regulations have been made to supplement the short breaks duty, in the form of 
the Breaks for Carers of Disabled Children Regulations 2011 (‘the 2011 
Regulations’). The key regulations are as follows;

Page 24



 Regulation 3: Duty to make provision

 Regulation 4: Types of services which must be provided

 Regulation 5: Short breaks services statement

2.7 The current GCC Short Breaks statement was written some time ago in 
preparation for the introduction of the SEND reforms. There is an urgent need to 
fully review this Statement. 

3. Current Situation

3.1 Day Short Breaks are currently provided through a combination of; 

 directly commissioned services comprising of 5 contracts for activity provision 
and support, these contracts end 31 March 2022 and will require retendering;

 a pseudo framework for the provision of floating support;
 spot purchasing from a number of providers
 Direct Payments to parents and carers to buy their own provision (usually 

Personal Assistants where they are available).

3.2 Overnight Short Breaks are provided either by the provision of a service from 
Hartwood House, our in-house residential respite provision, by Family Link, our 
in-house family based fostering scheme or by external commissioning.

3.3 Provision is not uniform across the Council area with particular challenges in the 
Forest of Dean, the north and east Cotswolds and to the south of Stroud. As can 
be seen from the tables below most children and young people classified as an 
open case to Children’s Social Care Locality Teams live in the Gloucester, 
Cheltenham, Stroud triangle. Please note however those open to DCYPS or 
DCYPS Early Help are not differentiated by District Council area and further 
mapping is being undertaken.  

Demand

3.4 Open cases of children and young people identified as disabled can feature in 
the caseloads of either the specialist Disabled Children and Young Persons 
Service (DCYPS), the DCYPS Early Help Service or be allocated to one of the 
Locality Teams if their needs have been assessed as not meeting the threshold 
for DCYPS. The tables below show the open allocated cases by team and those 
open to Early Help.

Allocated Team at 
Report Date

CiN/ Open 
Referral CLA CP Total

Cheltenham 33 12 8 53
Children's Permanence 
Team (under 11s) 0 11 0 11

Cotswolds 10 3 3 16
DCYPS 54 27 8 89
Forest of Dean 7 1 4 12

Page 25



Gloucester 42 9 6 57
Stroud 30 8 5 43
Tewkesbury 12 5 2 19
Total 187 76 36 299

Early Help

Cases can also be held in the DCYPS Early Help Service or be ‘Open to 
Review’1

Open Cases Open to Review Grand Total
(Open plus 

Open to Review)
Gender Gender Gender

Age Male Female

Total
Open

Male Female

Total
Open to 
Review

Male Female Total
0 – 4 6 2 8 1 1 2 7 3 10
5 – 11 30 18 48 55 21 76 85 39 124
12 – 19 43 20 63 48 29 77 91 49 140
Total 79 40 119 104 51 155 183 91 274

In total therefore there are 573 cases open to Children’s Social Care in one 
guise or another in different teams. The development of Short Breaks services 
will need to address these varying levels of need and locality.  

Commissioning

3.5 Responsibility for the commissioning of Short Breaks has recently passed to the 
Integrated Children and Families Commissioning Hub. The Hub recognises the 
current challenge in the delivery of high quality, short break provision post 
pandemic/lockdown. As noted the provision of Short Breaks has been hard hit by 
the pandemic for a variety of reasons. The difficulty experienced by the Local 
Authority in finding providers with capacity and/or capability to provide the 
assessed provision has meant that in many cases a Direct Payment has been 
offered to the family instead. This has left many families reporting problems in 
finding suitable provision and that the stress of managing a Direct Payment 
outweighs the advantages, it has also in some cases seen considerable unspent 
funds accrue in Direct Payment bank accounts. Other learning from the 
pandemic and the demise of Hop, Skip and Jump is the need to ensure that new 
and existing services meet the following criteria;

a) Accessible – not only in the traditional sense but also in terms of travel time, 
delivering a service based solely in the Gloucester/Cheltenham/Stroud area 
may meet the needs of the majority of our population but excludes those 
living in other parts of the County;

b)  Inclusive – where appropriate and exclusive when required;

c)  Sustainable – providers should be financially sound and well regulated.

1 ‘Open to Review’ cases are generally stable cases where needs are understood well, do not vary greatly over the year and where 
the support package can be appropriately managed by the parent or carer. They are usually reviewed on an annual basis.

Page 26



Whilst also remaining true to the current strategy.

3.6 To meet the challenges identified the Integrated Hub proposes the following 
changes to our purchasing strategy;  

a) Firstly to hypothecate a proportion of the available Short Break budget away 
from Direct Payments to allow for the direct commissioning by the Council of 
more services whether by contract or a pseudo Dynamic Purchasing System. 
Parents have reported significant difficulties during the pandemic in finding 
services to purchase or Personal Assistants (PA’s) to employ via their Direct 
Payment accounts and have requested that the Local Authority assume more 
commissioning responsibility. This will manifest itself firstly in the specification 
and retendering of the direct provision and support contracts designed to be 
accessible, inclusive and sustainable;

b) Secondly the existing pseudo  Framework for Floating Support will be re-
energised though a combination of more frequent monitoring and 
conversation with providers to spot patterns and challenges in order to 
increase capacity and usage;

c) Thirdly the development of a new pseudo Framework  focussed on activities 
and active play to deliver on a county wide basis, and; 

d) Finally an ‘approved’ list will be available to families should they wish to 
continue to contract high quality services directly.

Co-production

3.7 To enable this to happen the engagement of children, young people, their 
parents and carers will be essential. Gloucestershire has already established via 
the publication of the Engagement and Participation Strategy for Services 
working with Children and Young People with Additional Needs and their Parents 
and Carers in 2019 how it’s service providers, County Council staff, and partner 
organisations will work with people with disabilities and carers as equal partners 
in the design, development, commissioning, delivery, monitoring and review of 
support and services. Through this Strategy and working together we aim to 
deliver the following priorities: 

 Children, young people and parents will be encouraged to be equal partners 
in developing plans and agreeing outcomes to be achieved. Every effort will 
be made to seek their views, reflecting on the vital role parents/family play in 
supporting their child’s development 

 Children, young people and parents will play a key role in co-producing and 
developing services across health, education and social care – particularly 
those specifically for children and young people with special educational 
needs and disabilities; 

 Engagement and participation are vital to ensuring the services we provide 
meet the needs of the people who use them. 

 Listening to children, young people, parents and carers and working together 
helps services to know what works and where changes and improvements 
are needed. 

Page 27



3.8 The combination of greater clarity of numbers of children and young people 
eligible for Short Breaks, understanding the needs and wishes of children, young 
people and their parents/carers and a clearer appreciation of the effect of the 
pandemic on existing providers and new entrants will enable a comprehensive 
Sufficiency Strategy to be co-produced and shared with prospective providers. 
This in turn will lead to more effective commissioning of services and better 
outcomes, including; 

 Giving families choice and control over services;
 A reduction in the need for expensive residential education and/or social care 

placements, often situated some distance from Gloucestershire;
 Supportive, enabling and maintaining children and young people to remain 

within their families and local communities.

3.9 The timeline to achieve the actions identified is noted above.

310 Cabinet is invited to agree the proposed retendering of existing contracts, the 
new Framework and the timeline. To support these processes, it is suggested 
that Cabinet delegates authority to award the contracts to the Executive Director 
of Children’s Services. 

4. Options

4.1 The Local Authority is required to have a Short Break provision for eligible 
children, young people and their parents/carers. The following options have been 
considered in the development of this proposal; 

a) Stay as we are/Do nothing

This is not tenable, current arrangements are coming to an end in March 
2022 and doing nothing would mean the council was unable to meet legal 
obligations. 

b) Tendering the Short Break direct provision contracts and the development of 
a new Activity pseudo Framework 

This offers the opportunity to mould provision to the Council’s needs through 
close engagement with providers in the tendering of direct provision  
contracts. The development and tendering of a new Activity pseudo 
Framework using the light touch regime of the public contract regulations to 
modify the framework as a pseudo-framework allows the Council to change 
the length of the framework to encourage market development and options 
such as reopening the framework at a later date to accommodate new 
providers. 

c) Revitalising the existing Floating Support Framework

The existing Floating Support Framework is led by Adult Services and within 
the Framework services for children and young people and their families are 
contained within Lot 3. There is an urgent need to understand why the 

Page 28



existing Floating Support Framework is not delivering the expected service 
dividends, meetings are planned in July 2021 with all existing providers in Lot 
3 to understand the reasons for this which are believed to centre on the size 
and timing of packages requested and the inability to recruit staff.. The 
Framework is being reopened in September to new providers and a clearer 
understanding will be achieved by that time

 
d) Spot purchase

Whilst this could provide most flexibility it comes at the cost of additional 
expenditure, potential risk of supply to meet demand  and least influence over 
the market. It also runs the risk of challenge as purchases are not in line with 
the Public Contract Regulations.

5. Risks 

5.1 Failure by the Local Authority to provide appropriate Short Break provision may 
result in legal challenge and reputational damage for the Local Authority and 
increased emotional and financial costs as a result failing to support young 
people to live with their families. Mitigation to this will be via good market 
engagement prior to tendering to secure providers able to deliver quality 
provision in the new arrangements

6. Financial implications

6.1 Revenue funding of Short Break provision will be achieved within existing budget 
allocations. Families who are in receipt of Direct Payments will be approached to 
ask whether they wish to continue with their current arrangements or whether 
they wish the Council to commission on their behalf. t is hoped that by ‘flexing’ 
allocations between directly commissioned services and those bought by Direct 
Payments greater financial efficiencies will be achieved.

7. Climate change implications

7.1 Creating Short Break opportunities closer to children and young people’s homes 
will reduce unnecessary travelling, thus supporting improvement in local climate 
quality.

8. Equality implications

8.1 Has an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) been completed?

 Yes

8.2 The proposed tender and framework will enable disabled children and young 
people to experience a range of inclusive and exclusive activities allowing them 
to improve health, education and relationship outcomes that would not have 
been possible otherwise. This will contribute to the elimination of discrimination, 
advance equality of opportunity and promote good relations.

Page 29



8.3 The proposed actions will support parents and carers to have a break from their 
caring role which will also contribute to the elimination of discrimination, advance 
equality of opportunity and promote good relations.

9. Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

9.1 Data Protection Impact Assessment is a legal requirement. Work with IMS will be 
undertaken and completed to identify any personal data risks, these will be 
addressed within the retender and Framework process.

10. Social value implications

10.1 Provision of Short Breaks will improve the quality of life for eligible children, 
young people and their parents/carers. Providers will be asked how they will 
increase Social Value as part of their tender submissions.

11. Consultation feedback

11.1 Feedback from the GPCF, current and putative providers all highlight the need to 
revisit the Short Breaks statement, to develop a Short Breaks strategy and 
tender effectively for appropriate services.

12. Officer recommendations

12.1 The Officer recommendations to Cabinet are; 

1) To agree the proposed commissioning strategy and timeline. 

2) Authorise the Executive Director of Children Services in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years to: 

a) Conduct a compliant competitive tender process for the development of a 
three-year contract with the option to extend for a further two years for 
directly provided Short Break services.

b) Determine whether to exercise the option to extend the contract for a further 
period of not more than two years on the expiry of the initial two year term.

c) Conduct a competitive procurement process in respect of a three year 
Framework Agreement for the supply of activity provision

d) Award such Framework Agreement to the preferred tenderer (s);
e) Procure and award Call-Off Contracts for the supply of activity provision 

under such Framework Agreement whose combined aggregate value shall 
not exceed £3m 

f) The combined value of both the contracts and the Framework is estimated as 
£8.3m over the Five years for the delivery of Short Breaks services for 
children and young people with additional needs. 

g) Upon conclusion of the competitive tender process, to enter into contract 
arrangements with preferred providers to develop a framework of approved 
providers.

Page 30



13. Performance Management/Follow-up 

13.1 Performance management metrics for tendered services will be co-produced 
with children, young people and their parents/carers who will be supported to 
take part in oversight meetings. In addition, new systems will be introduced 
allowing families to book services more easily providing choice and control over 
provision, a by-product will be enhanced data on providers including take and 
trends as well as gaps in provision.  

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TITLE- Variation of existing contracts for an extension to the existing 
services to Children and Family Centres

Cabinet Date 21st July 2021

Cabinet Member Cllr Stephen Davies - Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and 
Early Years

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To seek an approval to vary existing contracts to Barnardo’s,  and Gardners 
Lane and Oakwood Federation (GLOW) from 1st April 2022 to 31st March 
2023 for the provision of targeted family support services with children and 
family Centres in Gloucestershire.  To cover Gloucester City, Forest of Dean, 
Stroud, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury localities. This will allow us to reshape 
and consult in order to offer an integrated service to the children and families 
in Gloucestershire.

Recommendations

That Cabinet delegates authority to the Executive Director of Children’s 
Services in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding 
and Early Years to issue a variation to the following contracts with two 
existing providers to extend the end date of the contracts by 12 months:-  

 Barnardo’s: for the provision of targeted family support services with 
children and families centres in the Gloucester City locality; and the 
Forest of Dean and Stroud localities.

 Gardners Lane and Oakwood Federation (GLOW): for the provision of 
the above services in the localities of Cheltenham and Tewkesbury.

Page 33

Agenda Item 6



Reasons for 
recommendations

In June 2016, Cabinet awarded contracts for the provision of targeted family 
support services for a term of 3+2 years to Barnardo’s and GLOW.  Further 
extension was approved by Cabinet on 24th July 2019 to allow consistency in 
service delivery until March 2022.

These contracts significantly supported the payment by results work of the 
Troubled Families Programme. Children and Family Centres have exceeded 
their targets set for the last 4 years and in doing so, have supported many 
more children and families than anticipated. They have made a bigger 
contribution to the payment by results service of Families First that helps to 
make up the current Early Help Service.

There are a number of reasons for the recommendation:

1. Within Gloucestershire, as throughout the county, the current  COVID 
pandemic  has shown the real importance  of communities and how 
people have worked together  to support each other. This has been 
phenomenal, so we want to capture this new wave of localism to drive 
our Family Hub provision.

2. Continuity of providers will ensure stability and continuity of service for 
the current service users within a fragile economy and challenging 
context. There is increased latent demand due to the pandemic and we 
anticipate further demand due to COVID babies. We require further 
detailed analysis in order to match demand and capacity of the service 
for the future.

3. There have been changes from Central Government around Family 
Hubs, to improve cognitive and non-cognitive outcomes in disadvantaged 
and vulnerable children (conception to age five) across a number of 
areas to help children to achieve their potential and improve their 
chances of success in later life.  These include labour market 
participation, earnings, health and wellbeing. Feedback from families will 
be used during the contract period to offer both earlier intervention and 
evidence based provision in addition to learning from the Troubled 
Families (Supporting Families) Programme

4. The remodelled service requires future consultation with a wide range of 
stakeholders including children and their families in order to develop a 
new comprehensive service specification to reflect the direction of travel 
and undertake market management to gauge the appetite for the future 
reshaped model.

5. The premises are leased to the providers and detailed work is required to 
address the implications on premises and leases in the redesign of the 
service.

Approval of variation of existing contracts to existing providers without 
competition until 31st March 2023 will sustain continuity of care to some of our 
most vulnerable children and families.  In the meantime, commissioners will 
undertake further work to develop our Early Help Strategy, along with a 
demand and capacity analysis to take account of the impact of the pandemic, 
which will reshape and reconfigure services so they are integrated, 
accessible and in line with the overarching Sufficiency Strategy

Page 34



Resource 
Implications

The total budget figure for the Children and Family Contracts is £3,625,482 
per annum and is funded through the Dedicated Schools Grant and Public 
Health grant. The funding is allocated between providers as follows :-
Barnardo’s
Gloucester  City - £1,264,879 
Forest/Stroud - £982,339 

GLOW 
Cheltenham and Tewkesbury - £1,378,264.

Background 
Documents

1. Cabinet paper June 2016
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s30780/Cabinet%20Memb
er%20Questions%20and%20Answers%20-%208%20June%202016.pdf

2. Children and Young People’s Plan 2015-18
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/strategies-plans-
policies/children-and-families/

3. Right Placement First Time – Sufficiency Strategy 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/children-young-
people-and-families/sufficiency-strategy-2018-2021/

4. Children and Family Centres information and local offer
https://www.glosfamiliesdirectory.org.uk/kb5/gloucs/glosfamilies/results.page
?familychannel=3_2_1

5. The best start for life: a vision for the 1,001 critical days
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-best-start-for-life-a-vision-
for-the-1001-critical-days

6. Summary, exec summary, booklets and data dashboards for Children 
and Family Centres can be viewed through the link below.

\\svrshfp01\EDS_Shirehall$\DevelopmentTeam\ChildrenCentresPM\Performa
nce and Contract Monitoring Data\Performance Reports\2018 - 2021 
Performance Summaries and dashboards additional info

Statutory Authority Gloucestershire County Council
The Childcare Act 2006 -  Establishment of Children’s Centres

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

ALL 

Officer Wendy Williams 
Assistant Director for Integrated Children and Families Commissioning
Tel: 01452 328526 Email: wendy.williams3@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Timeline  23rd July 2021 - Cabinet approval sought for variation

Page 35

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s30780/Cabinet%20Member%20Questions%20and%20Answers%20-%208%20June%202016.pdf
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s30780/Cabinet%20Member%20Questions%20and%20Answers%20-%208%20June%202016.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/strategies-plans-policies/children-and-families/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/strategies-plans-policies/children-and-families/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/children-young-people-and-families/sufficiency-strategy-2018-2021/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/children-young-people-and-families/sufficiency-strategy-2018-2021/
https://www.glosfamiliesdirectory.org.uk/kb5/gloucs/glosfamilies/results.page?familychannel=3_2_1
https://www.glosfamiliesdirectory.org.uk/kb5/gloucs/glosfamilies/results.page?familychannel=3_2_1
file://svrshfp01/EDS_Shirehall$/DevelopmentTeam/ChildrenCentresPM/Performance%20and%20Contract%20Monitoring%20Data/Performance%20Reports/2018%20-%202021%20Performance%20Summaries%20and%20dashboards%20additional%20info
file://svrshfp01/EDS_Shirehall$/DevelopmentTeam/ChildrenCentresPM/Performance%20and%20Contract%20Monitoring%20Data/Performance%20Reports/2018%20-%202021%20Performance%20Summaries%20and%20dashboards%20additional%20info
file://svrshfp01/EDS_Shirehall$/DevelopmentTeam/ChildrenCentresPM/Performance%20and%20Contract%20Monitoring%20Data/Performance%20Reports/2018%20-%202021%20Performance%20Summaries%20and%20dashboards%20additional%20info
mailto:wendy.williams3@gloucestershire.gov.uk


 23rd July 2021 - Cabinet approval sought for extension. 

 August 2021 - Notify current contract holders of intention to vary 
contract

 August 2021 - Formally write to providers to inform them of the 1 year 
variation to effect award of current services.

 Autumn 2021- Expected to reshape model. 

 Spring 2022 -Expected to Procurement tender.

 April 2023 - New contracts
 

1. Background

1.1 Following a full public consultation and a redesign of the Children’s Centre offer 
across Gloucestershire, in June 2016, Cabinet approved a new model of working 
for Children’s Centres to support children pre-birth to 11 years and their families 
who have a level of need that would require intervention. This targeted family 
support service is based in 16 Children and Family Centre buildings in the areas 
of greatest deprivation in Gloucestershire. The other 29 Children’s Centre 
buildings have been de-designated as formal Children’s Centres and have been 
developed as hubs for early education and childcare, universal services 
delivered by private, voluntary and community groups and as bases for 
professionals who work with families. These remaining Children and Family 
centres have been managed by 3 organisations, 2 commissioned externally and 
one commissioned in house.

1.2 The contracts for the 16 Childrens Centres were initially approved by Cabinet in 
June 2016 for three years from 1st April 2017 to 31st March 2020 with an option 
to extend for an additional two years. Further extension was approved by 
Cabinet on 24th July 2019 to allow consistency in service delivery until March 
2022.

1.3 The contracts for the provision of targeted family support services in the 
Gloucester City locality, Stroud  and Forest of Dean localities were awarded to 
Barnardo’s. The contracts were awarded to Gardners Lane and Oakwood 
Federation (GLOW) for the provision of the above services in Cheltenham and 
Tewkesbury. Gloucestershire County Council (Families First Plus) covers the 
locality of the Cotswolds.

1.4 Since these contracts began, the targeted family support service based around 
the 16 Children and Family Centres has significantly supported the payment by 
results for the Troubled Families (Supporting Families) Programme. The 
monitoring of current Children and Family centre activity and impact is based on 
a variety of data sources. These include:

 Troubled Families central data team 

Page 36



 Performance and data team
 Gloucestershire County Council’s Liquid Logic and EHM systems
 OFSTED data
 Sufficiency Assessments 
 Data collected through contract monitoring with Children’s Centres
 Headcount data

Key achievements 

1.5 The Children’s Centres’ proportion of the payment by results target was 456 
families for Year 1. The service actually supported 1,009 families (equating to 
over 3,000 individuals) in 17/18 as part of the targeted family support service. 
This was nearly double the target originally set. Highlights include;

 Over a third of families supported were children on a Child in Need plan.

 The service provides packages of support to children on Child Protection 
plans where the long term aim is for the child to stay within the family home.

 The Children and Family Centres are being used as a hub for community 
supervised contacts.

 In addition to the targeted family support service, the centres are facilitating 
additional targeted and universal services to support children and families.

 These universal and targeted services run by partners are well attended by 
local families.

 Delivery of the Freedom Programme and You and Me Mum, both provided 
evidenced based programmes which are well embedded in order to support 
families experiencing domestic abuse.

 A menu of evidenced based parenting programmes such as Solihull, Webster 
Stratton and Triple P are delivered through the centres to support families to 
improve their parenting skills. Pre-birth classes are reaching families at a 
much earlier stage to embed positive parenting.

 A wide range of universal services are on offer to children and families in all 
localities showing us universal services are being retained and grown by local 
communities.

2. Options:

2.1 Option 1: Do Nothing:

Do nothing – Contracts will come to end in March 2022 and providers could 
withdraw their services, with no other provision in place. This would lead to a 
vast number of vulnerable families having access to little or no targeted support 
services.  Due to Covid lockdown and hardship resulting in extreme pressure on 

Page 37



families without any support available, this will lead to further escalation of needs 
therefore impaction on statutory services. This option would only leave services 
within the Cotswolds area as these are not externally commissioned. 

2.2 Option 2: Undertake a compliant competitive tender procurement. 

We need to address changes from the Central Government around Family Hubs, 
the learning from the Troubled Families Programme and the anticipated demand 
due to pandemic and Covid babies. This will be used to match the demand and 
capacity of the service for the future. To facilitate and remodel the service, we 
are also required to consult families and partners to develop a new 
comprehensive service specification to reflect the direction of travel. 

As a consequence, further work is required in order to plan and complete 
procurement, including a tender process with market management to gauge the 
appetite for the future reshaped model, mobilisation and implementation plan. 

2.3 Option 3: Bring the entire service in house.

When both contracts come to an end in March 2022, these services could be 
taken in house and managed by Gloucestershire County Council.  However, this 
will require a major infrastructure and workforce. This would lead to a vast 
number of vulnerable families being restricted to limited targeted support 
services during the development and implementation of the infrastructure.  Due 
to Covid lockdowns and post pandemic recovery, hardship is a real risk, resulting 
in extreme pressure on families with only limited support available. This this will 
lead to a further escalation of needs, impacting on statutory services.   

2.4 Option 4: Vary the current contracts to extend the end date of the services until 
31st  March 2023. This is the preferred option

Barnardo’s:  for the provision of targeted family support services in children and 
families centres in the Gloucester City locality; Forest of Dean and Stroud 
localities.

Gardners Lane and Oakwood Federation (GLOW): for provision of the above 
services in the localities of Cheltenham and Tewkesbury.

Cotswolds service to continue in house but will be incorporated into the 
remodelling before leading to a more formal procurement process to meet PCR 
requirements.

2.5 These providers will offer targeted family support services in children and 
families centres in Gloucester City, Forest of Dean and Stroud and Cheltenham, 
Tewkesbury and Cotswolds localities. This will allow us to redesign an integrated 
service for the children and families in Gloucestershire.

Page 38



2.6 Moreover, a market analysis and due diligence exercise carried out by the 
council has demonstrated that Barnardo’s and GLOW are the most appropriate 
solutions for Gloucestershire County Council at this moment in time and are the 
preferred providers and a cost effective solution.

2.7 Varying these contracts end dates for the two providers who already offer 
services will allow for longer term planning of services to take place. This would 
be in line with Gloucestershire children’s services proposed new Early Help 
Strategy and the government decision in relation to the Troubled Families 
(Supporting Families) Programme. This option would allow continuity of care for 
vulnerable families during and after the Covid pandemic until March 2023. 

2.8 Current services are working above agreed capacity; therefore, families who 
need support are receiving this in a timely and appropriate manner. They are 
preventing, where appropriate, an escalation of needs and statutory 
interventions.

Preferred option

2.10 Cabinet is asked to approve Option 4 as the preferred option. This preferred 
option, reduces the risks and possible challenge from potential bidders, as 
opportunity will arise from the reshaped model and new procurement tender from 
spring 2022.

2.11 This will address the service provision against increasing demands on the 
Council. This allows for the development and inclusion of children centre 
services to be incorporated within the new Early Help Strategy and plan a clear 
vision for Family Hubs, while also ensuring vulnerable families within 
Gloucestershire County Council have continuity of family support services.

2.12 Securing the service until 31st March 2023 to the present providers through 
varying the current contracts, would allow for the current services to continue 
while an options appraisal for future services is undertaken. This option would 
give time for a full tendering process to take place; this timeframe would mean 
that a service would be designed within a new Early Help Strategy, able to 
respond to, and implement changes in government direction in relation to the 
family Hubs and Troubled Families (Supporting Families) Programme and 
manage the after effect of pandemic.

3. Risk Assessment  

3.1 Option 1: Do Nothing

The risk here is in relation to the council’s reputation and ability to respond to 
vulnerable families in a timely and appropriate manner. With little or no targeted 
support, families will be left with escalating needs and meeting the threshold for 
specialised services, which would be more costly and for extended periods of 
time due to lack of “step down” targeted support. Children’s services would be at 
risk of not being able to claim all the potential payment by results funding, or any 

Page 39



potential Covid relief grants. This would also have a wider impact onto Early 
Help services. 

3.2 Option 2: Undertake a compliant competitive tender procurement

This would have a direct effect on the reputational stability in offering Early Help 
support to children and their families in Gloucestershire during and after the 
pandemic. This will not allow us to develop the Early Help Strategy or respond 
and implement changes in government direction in relation to the Family Hubs 
and Troubled Families (Supporting Families) Programme, or manage the after 
effect of the pandemic to be integrated with associated redesign provision to 
meet the growing needs or undertake a formal consultation. There is insufficient 
time to plan and complete procurement, including a tender process, mobilisation 
and implementation plan. 

3.3 Option 3: Bring the entire service in house

There is a lack of skilled workforce in house to deliver the structured, evidence 
based programme and outcomes to meet the needs. This would NOT be 
compliant with the Official Journal of the European Union (OJEU) ruling. The 
management and governance required to bring this in-house will require a 
governance arrangement, consultation and line management that will be far 
more expensive than the allocated budget.

This option will cost more than the allocated budget with substantial duplication 
of costs, especially around management. The risk here is in relation to the 
Council’s ability to respond rapidly to vulnerable families in a timely and 
appropriate manner, especially after the pandemic.

3.4 Option 4; Vary the current contracts to extend the end date of the services until 
31st March 2023.

Services officers are in the process of finalising their new Early Help Strategy; 
this strategy is currently being developed and will be ready for draft approval. 
This will set out Gloucestershire and its partners vision to support families at the 
earliest point, with services that are accessible and outcome focused to prevent 
children, young people and their families escalating to statutory services.

During the contracted period, the future Early Help offer will be developed in line 
with the overarching Sufficiency Strategy action plan and any changes/extension 
to the Troubled Families Programme. These action plans will be implemented 
and managed using a project management approach, with a risk and issues log 
being actively managed.

Covid has had a major impact on the service and, as such, time needs to be 
taken to review the service to understand what it needs to deliver into the future. 
The contract needs to be extended to allow for the time to review and reframe 
the needs and then retender. Public Contracts Regulations (2015) Regulation 72 
(b) allows for the contract to be modified due to the significant inconvenience or 

Page 40



substantial duplication of cost as long as the circumstances could not have been 
foreseen, the overall nature of the contract hasn’t changed and the increase in 
price does not exceed 50% of the original contract value. The complexity of the 
contracts means that a short term award to anyone other the incumbent 
providers would could significant inconvenience and a substantial duplication of 
costs. As the Covid pandemic and its effects could not have been predicted, the 
nature of the overall contract is not changing and the price increase is under 
50% of the original contract the tests are met to modify the contract. The time will 
be used to ensure that the specification and other documents are ready for 
tender within in the allocated timeframe.

The risk of procurement challenge to varying the contracts to extend the end 
date is mitigated as the Public Contract Regulations (2015) allows under 
Regulation 72, the modification of contracts under certain conditions, which this 
service requirement meets. 

All transparency requirements in the Public Contracts Regulations (2015) will be 
met and a Modification Notice will be published in Find a Tender and Contracts 
Finder

4. Financial implications

4.1 There is no additional financial implication for awarding these contracts to 
present providers and is funded through the Dedicated Schools Grant and Public 
Health grant. The total budget figure for the Children and Family Contracts is 
£3,625,482 per annum and allocated to:-

Barnardo’s
Gloucester City - £1,264,879 Forest/Stroud - £982,339 

GLOW Cheltenham /Tewkesbury - £1,378,264

5. Climate change implications

No disproportionate impact identified.

6. Has an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) been completed?  

Yes

6.1 Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) indicates that there are no significant impacts 
identified in respect of protected characteristic. The impact of directing award the 
contract for Children and Family Centres is positive in terms of age and neutral 
in all other areas. 

6.2 Cabinet Members should read and consider the Equalities Impact Assessment in 
order to satisfy themselves as decision makers that due regard has been given

Page 41



7. Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) Implications

7.1 IMS Procurement risk assessment has been completed and advice from IMS 
has been sought, they advise that the risk rating is high. DPIA is required but yet 
to be completed and signed off by the Information Asset Owner.  

7.2 A privacy notice is being written for existing providers, so that recipients know 
how their data is being shared.  

8. Social value implications

8.1 Under a short extension to the contract period, the social value will be 
unchanged.  However, the Council would continue to work with the two providers 
to look at potential opportunities within the contract. 

8.2 No disproportionate impact identified.

9. Consultation Feedback 

9.1 No consultation has taken place with the public, as the service delivered to the 
current cohort affected will not change by extending the existing contact until 
March 2023. However a formal consultation will take place as part of redesigning 
and recommissioning Family Hubs and developing service specification.

9.2 There has been a low level of complaints with regards to the provision to date, 
so there would not be an expectation that service users would want this service 
to change. 

9.3 We have consulted with other Local Authorities to learn from their experiences to 
date and inform recommendations.

10. Contract consultation  

10.1 In the present contract, consultation with service users takes place every 
quarter, using different forms of engagement which has been completed as part 
of the current contact requirements. Consultation has clearly evidenced 
developing and sustained good practice, with improved outcomes for our 
vulnerable children and their families.

10.2 Feedback informs commissioners that services are accessible to children and 
their families and that they feel engaged with the programmes of support, they 
feel listened to and valued. Consultation will continue throughout the new 
contracts, this will inform both the continued development and design of new 
services delivery post 2023. 

11. Discussion

11.1 The present services are growing in success and are with providers who have 
significantly improved outcomes for children and their families in the last four 
years. 

Page 42



11.2 Extending the existing contracts will offer the opportunity to maintain and build 
on this performance and also the added value that providers have bought to 
these contracts

11.3 Taking the proposed approach will allow for services to be developed in a 
planned way, as part of Gloucestershire’s Early Help offer and implement 
changes in government direction to the Family Hubs and Troubled Families 
Programme. This will allow us to manage the after effect of the pandemic in 
redesigning Family Hubs to meet the growing needs and undertake formal 
consultation. 

12. Officer Recommendations

12.1 That Cabinet delegates authority to the Executive Director of Children’s Services 
in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early 
Years to issue a variation to the following contracts with two existing providers to 
extend the end date of the contracts by 12 months:

 Barnardo’s: for the provision of targeted family support services with children 
and families centres in the Gloucester City locality; and the Forest of Dean 
and Stroud localities.

 Gardners Lane and Oakwood Federation (GLOW): for the provision of the 
above services in the localities of Cheltenham and Tewkesbury.

13. Performance Management

13.1 Robust monitoring frameworks are still in place, for the core delivery of the 
service.

13.2 The Children and Family Centre contracts will continue to be monitored 
quarterly.

13.3 All performance data will be evaluated as part of reshaping and developing new 
service. 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TITLE:   Extension of existing contact for Youth Support Services.

Cabinet Date  Wednesday 21 July 2021

Cabinet Member
  
 Stephen Davies, Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early 
Years

Key Decision  Yes

Purpose of Report To seek Cabinet agreement for a way forward for Youth Support services to 
continue to discharge the Council’s statutory and partnership responsibilities 
towards young people aged 10 to 24 years following the end of the current 
Youth Support contract in March 2022, acknowledging the wide-ranging 
impact of the coronavirus pandemic.

Recommendations

That Cabinet approves the variation of the Council’s existing contract with 
Prospects Services (the current provider of integrated countywide Youth 
Support services) by extending its term for an interim period of six months, 
from 1 April 2022 to  30 September 2022, in order to provide the Council with 
an opportunity to complete a process of extensive market testing and market 
development in preparation for a full procurement process for a replacement 
contract commencing in October 2022.

 

This

Page 45

Agenda Item 7



Reasons for 
recommendations

The reason for the recommendation is that a six month extension to the 
council’s existing contract with Prospects Services is required in order to 
secure the provision of statutory services for young people whilst the market 
for such services recovers from the effects of COVID restrictions.  The 
proposed extension will allow the Council additional time to assess the impact 
of COVID-19 on young people’s lives in order that the replacement service 
(for which a procurement exercise will be carried out commencing February 
2022) will be fit for purpose and responsive to need. 

COVID restrictions have meant that it has not been possible to satisfactorily 
conduct an engagement exercise with Youth Service providers, nor carry out 
soft market testing in sufficient depth, to enable a thorough and best value 
commissioning process to take place. Services such as Youth Offending 
remain in transition from response to recovery, further impeding the 
exploratory work by the Council that is necessary to develop future Youth 
service provision.

The proposed contract extension will enable extensive market testing and the 
reshaping of services to respond to extra demand for services arising from 
the COVID emergency. 

Resource 
Implications

The Youth Support contract sum in 2021/2022 is £4.716m per annum. 

This includes the Youth Justice Board (MoJ) annual grant towards the Youth 
Offending Service (£548k for 2021/22 but variable); and a £254,775 
contribution from Gloucestershire’s Public Health grant, towards the 
integrated young people’s substance misuse treatment service, which is 
confirmed to continue in 2022/2023. 

The value of the proposed new 6 month contract extension (April 2022 to 
September 2022) is £2.358m.

Page 46



Background 
Documents

Previous decisions
 Options and Decision on Youth Support Service from 2020, 30 Jan 2019, 

Cabinet
 Decision on Commissioning Youth Support, 22 July 2020 Cabinet – 

A Direct Award to Prospects Services from April 2021 for a period of 12 
months.  .

Youth duties
 Must know for youth services, March 2019, LGA
 Youth Strategy Task Group Report, Oct 2019, OSC: Children & Families 
 Youth Work Inquiry Final Report, April 2019, APPG on Youth Affairs

Participation & skills 
  Youth Survey 2019, Oct 2019, GFirst LEP & Young Gloucestershire  

Health & wellbeing 
  Children, Young People and Families - Needs Analysis, 2018, GCC Public 
Health/Inform Gloucestershire 
  Young People Substance Misuse Commissioning Support 2020-21, PHE 
  Frameworks for Teenage Pregnancy Prevention and Supporting Teenage 
Mothers and Young Fathers, 2019, PHE & LGA 

Justice & prevention 
  Police and Crime Plan 2017-2021, Police and Crime Commissioner 
 Child First Justice: The research evidence base. Loughborough University 

2021
  Youth Justice Plans - YJB Practice Guidance March 2021 Youth Justice 
Board 
  Violence Prevention Needs Assessment, Jan 2020, Safer Gloucestershire 

Statutory Authority Section 507B of the Education and Inspection Act 2006

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

All

Officer Name: Wendy Williams
Telephone: 01452 328526
Email: wendy.williams3@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Timeline The Youth support services market has not fully recovered from the effects of 
COVID restrictions and the Council is yet to understand the full impact of the 
pandemic on Young people.  Therefore, a short-term contract extension will 
allow additional time to engage in vigorous market testing exercises and the 
exploratory work necessary to develop future provision.
Market testing exercises are scheduled to take place from Aug 2021-Nov 
2021. This extended period will allow for any further restrictions on 
engagement events. A short summer consultation would not be viable for 
smaller youth organisations, given that they will also inevitably be working 
towards full recovery of services and will therefore not be in a positon to 
effectively partake in the testing exercise. Moreover, the lifting of furlough on 
the 30 September 2021 will give a more accurate picture of future capacity 
and aspirations of Youth Support service providers.  

Page 47

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/g9224/Public%20reports%20pack%20Wednesday%2030-Jan-2019%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/g9224/Decisions%20Wednesday%2030-Jan-2019%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=2
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?Id=1515
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s63041/Item%2011%20-%20Youth%20Support%20Service.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/must-know-youth-services
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/g9231/Public%20reports%20pack%20Wednesday%2013-Nov-2019%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10
https://nya.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/APPG-Youth-Work-Inquiry-Final-Report-April-2019-ONLINE.pdf
mailto:wendy.williams3@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Review national data on the impact of COVID-19 for young people, 
benchmarking local data and trends Aug-Nov 2021
February -  March  2022  - Market testing  takes place 
April - June  2022   -  Tender process 
July 2022   - Award contract/s 
July – September  2022  Mobilisation period 

Page 48



Background 

1. In July 2020 Cabinet authorised the Executive Director for Children’s Services, in 
consultation with the Lead Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years to 
make a direct contract award to the Council’s incumbent provider of Youth Support 
Services (Prospects Services), for a period of 12 months from April 2021 to March 2022.

2. The contingencies adopted during the continuing lockdown are likely to continue through 
2021. Though vaccinations may be more effective than other control measures adopted in 
the UK so far, a pandemic virus with such worldwide coverage is highly likely to keep 
absorbing public energy and resource, and challenging our work improving opportunities 
and outcomes for our young people.

3. We know that during the last year there has been a 40% decrease in youth and holiday 
provision both nationally and across the county.  Many services particularly those for young 
people with additional needs do not feel safe to fully open until later in the Autumn at the 
earliest. 

4. Any capacity within the youth service market has been absorbed to meet current urgent/ 
emerging needs, particularly around young people’s mental health. The real scope and 
impact of the pandemic has yet to be fully understood for young people. 

Current scope of Youth Support contract 

5. The Gloucestershire integrated Youth Support Service, is currently provided by Prospects 
Services under a contract to March 2022. The contract includes a wide range of statutory, 
public health and other youth support functions, including youth offending and youth crime 
prevention, youth activity programmes, information, advice and guidance (IAG) for young 
people not in education, training or employment, homelessness, substance misuse 
treatment, sexual health, teenage pregnancy and parenthood, and wrap-around services 
for care leavers, all delivered by teams of Prospects staff integrated with other 
professionals seconded from Health, Police and Probation

6. The government is about to review its current guidance on the youth duties of local 
authorities, which may bring together various responsibilities derived from primary 
legislation in education, children & families, crime and disorder, health, civil society, 
homelessness and local government. National funding for open access or universal youth 
work is now almost entirely directed at and restricted to third sector delivery, whether 
national contracts for large programmes, regional contracts for example for the National 
Citizenship Service, or grants to local organisations. 

7. Current Local Authority youth responsibilities, that we discharge largely through our Youth 
Support Services contract include: 

5a. Youth activities and youth programmes: The Council has a statutory duty 
towards young people aged 13 to 19 (or to 24 if SEND) “secure, so far as is reasonably 
practicable, sufficient provision of recreational leisure-time activities for the 
improvement of their well-being”

Page 49



5b. Youth offending, youth justice and youth crime prevention: The Council has a 
statutory duty to  provide a multi-agency  Youth Offending Team, with the participation 
of the statutory partners identified in the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 – Police, NHS 
and Probation. 

5c. Youth homelessness: The Council has a duty to assess and advise all 16 to 17-
year olds presenting as homeless: to mediate a return to family, find them 
accommodation or, if necessary (‘the Southwark judgment’), take them into care. Under 
the Homelessness Reduction Act (2017), we have further duties to support young 
people at risk of homelessness: especially care leavers, those returning from youth 
detention and other vulnerable young people aged 16 to 24. 

5d. Participation in education, training and employment: The Council has a duty to 
support young people to stay in education or training up to 18 (Raising the Participation 
Age), or to 24 for all care leavers and those with additional needs in an Education 
Health and Care Plan (EHCP). The Council must offer a September Guarantee for 
education and/or training places for all 16 to 17-year olds, and track all destinations, all 
those not in education, employment or training (NEETs), and unknowns. We have a 
new Care Leaver Offer, including increased personal advisor and other support.

Priorities

8. The Council has been able to maintain a satisfactory service for young people through the 
current Youth Support contract during the pandemic with astute contingency planning.  
However, anecdotal evidence continues to highlight a marked deterioration in young 
people’s mental health and resilience, especially affecting the already at risk. This key 
group have lost contacts with third sector youth provision during lockdowns, coupled with 
newly rising levels of exploitation, homelessness, substance misuse, self-harm and eating 
disorders. There has also been a resurgence in disengagement from education and 
unemployment for 16-24s (already quadrupled, with dozens of our care leavers having lost 
their jobs), and an ongoing recession particularly impacting on young people with fewer 
skills or less parental backing. 

9. Even if entry-level jobs in the retail, hospitality and leisure sectors recover, the dice will still 
be stacked against young people struggling to get their first jobs (or retain them after 
incentive schemes time out). The granting of an additional 6 months will ensure we fully 
understand the impact of COVID on our young people and are able to  shape services to 
better meet their needs in the future.

 

Page 50



Options

Option 1:  
Do nothing 

10.This is not tenable. The current arrangements are coming to an end in March 2022, and 
doing nothing would mean the Council would be unable to meet its statutory duties and the 
wellbeing of vulnerable young people in the County would be at risk.
This option is not recommended.

Option 2:
Procure a five-year contract for integrated countywide Youth Support services to 
commence March 2022 

11.A future contract for integrated provision, with the service offer and costs sustained at 
current levels, would still be based on the following required outcomes; all youth support 
clients (whether they enter service because of disengagement, youth offending, substance 
misuse, homelessness or whatever) would be supported towards long-term outcomes of 
social and emotional thriving, participation in education, training or employment and 
preparedness for adult life. 

12.The procurement process in respect of such contract would be hurried, given that the 
Council will not be in a position to fully understand or take account of the impact of the 
pandemic on Gloucestershire young people, and could therefore make it necessary for the 
Council to negotiate future time consuming and potentially costly contractual changes to 
reflect avoidable COVID influenced demand, without having an opportunity to fully test the 
market. 

13.A replacement Youth Support service contract which commences in March 2022 would not 
provide officers with sufficient time to understand how COVID has changed the needs of 
the service and to have the time to review what needs to be delivered, to whom and how. 
Until the work is completed, officers will be unable to tender the service as it will not deliver 
the needs as they can not be identified.                              

For these reasons this option is not recommended.

Option 3: 
Vary the Council’s existing contract for Youth Supports services by extending it for an 
interim period of six months (from April 2022 to September 2022) and then returning to 
cabinet for permission to conduct a competitive procurement process in respect of a 5 
year contract to replace it.

14.A modification under Regulation 72(b) of the Public Contract Regulations 2015 to extend 
the current contract with the existing provider would offer the continued delivery of statutory 
duties while finalising the post COVID model of youth support.

Page 51



15.The pandemic period has brought exceptional demand for services and many barriers to 
full service-user, partner and market engagement, which are only just beginning to ease. A 
hurried exercise to achieve a new contract in April 2022 would limit the thoroughness, 
innovation and quality the Council requires from Commissioners to ensure public money 
achieves the best outcomes in the most economically advantageous way. A significant 
period of market testing will be the best way to shape the market to align with our 
transformative commissioning intentions, both in youth support and children and family 
centre provision.  Working with the market in this way is more likely to achieve better 
specifications and higher quality bids for future service delivery. This will also provide the 
Council with additional time and opportunity to more accurately measure the impact of 
COVID on Gloucestershire’s young people,  identify  priorities  with regards to  recovery 
and consider these within  the new  contract specification,  as well as highlighting any  
areas of development or requiring investment of additional resources . 

This is the recommended option to allow the Council to commission appropriate provision 
for GCC young people post lockdown, that will be needs led and achieve best value for 
money.

Risks

16.COVID has had a major impact on Youth support services, hence time needs to be taken 
to review the service to understand what it needs to deliver into the future.   Accordingly, it 
is recommended that the council’s existing youth support services contract with Prospects 
Services be extended on the proposed basis in order to provide the council with sufficient 
time to review and reframe the needs of young people before then re-procuring such 
services.  This will ensure that a reshaped service is properly realigned to account for the 
changing needs of young people affected by the pandemic. Such reshaped services will 
need to make provision for, amongst other things, a noticeable increase in teenage 
pregnancies during lockdown and rising unemployment for young people again as a direct 
consequence of business closure due to lockdown. The Council anticipates that young 
people’s employment will be further affected once furlough is ended in September 2021. 
Further evidence of the continuing impact of COVID on the wellbeing of young people is 
demonstrated by a noticeable increase to MASH which has been 120% higher during the 
pandemic. Nationally, young people’s emotional wellbeing needs have increased, this is 
shown locally by the increase of referrals to TiC+ during the pandemic, with young people 
presenting with more complex mental health needs. Accident & Emergency have also 
reported an increase in young people presenting with mental health needs. These 
demands and needs which are still emerging as a result of the pandemic need to be 
addressed within the new specification.

Moreover, in view of the fact that the youth support services market remains in recovery,  
any new capacity within it has been targeted at working to mitigate the impact of COVID on 
young people in key areas, such as mental health, rather than progress the commissioning 
process, which requires extensive market testing and market development work.

In view of the above considerations, if a five-year contract is hurriedly procured to 
commence in April 2022 (ie, rather than the recommended 6 month interim extension to 
the council’s existing contract with Prospects Services), there is a risk that the services 

Page 52



thereunder will not meet the emerging needs of young people following the impact of 
COVID-19 given that there will not have been an adequate opportunity for the council to 
properly engage with them.  There is also a risk that a hurried procurement process will 
result in low quality tender responses. .

17.There is a risk in respect of any contract variation that it may be subject to legal challenge 
under the Public Contract Regulations 2015 (“PCRs”).  While it is acknowledged that a 
contract variation is only permissible under the PCRs on very limited grounds, the variation 
proposed in this report is justified on the basis that:

(a) A change of provider cannot be made for economic or technical reasons; and
(b) A change of provider would cause significant inconvenience or a substantial 

duplication of costs for the council; and
(c) The increase in price of the contract does not exceed 50% of the original 

contract value.

In the context of the Council’s proposed contract variation, it would not be possible to 
engage any provider other than Prospect Services to provide youth support services during 
the 6 month period required by the Council. The reasoning for this is that the size of the 
Integrated Youth Support Service and the breadth of required services means it would not 
be possible, before April 2022, to mobilise a replacement supplier who would be able and 
ready to discharge the Council’s statutory duties.  Moreover, in view of the need to carry out 
youth engagement events, extensive market testing and market development during a 
period in which the youth support services market remains in recovery, the comprehensive 
procurement process that will be needed to appoint a service provider to provide a service 
of the complexity described above, would not be possible before April 2022 without 
substantial duplication of costs. 

Moreover, a short-term contract award to anyone other than the incumbent provider would 
cause significant inconvenience, service disruption and a substantial duplication of costs to 
the Council, on the basis that the Council would incur foreseeable costs with regards to the 
TUPE transfer of staff and other pensions, salary and HR costs associated with moving 
such a sizeable service infrastructure to another supplier for a interim period while the full 
procurement takes place. 

The increase in price resulting from the proposed 6 month extension will not exceed 50% of 
the original contract value. 

The council shall publish a modification notice and voluntary transparency notice in Find a 
Tender in accordance with its transparency obligations under the Public Contracts 
Regulations (2015).

Financial implications
The value of the proposed 6 month contract extension commencing April 2022 is £2.358m.

Climate change implications
Not affected

Equality implications

Page 53



An Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) been completed. The service will continue to work with 
the current specified service user group of 10-24s and inclusively with young people with 
additional needs through its established and accredited equality and diversity strategy. The 
service is relaunching an intensive work programme  for  girls and young women on the cusp 
of offending/reoffending and actively reaches out to young people from underrepresented 
communities

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications
Data Protection Impact Assessment is a legal requirement. Commissioning are working with 
IMS to complete and identify any personal data risks

Social value implications
Continue to work with the incumbent provider (Prospects) on the Social Values contained 
within the original contract. 

Consultation feedback
A period of vigorous market testing from August to November 2021 will be the best way to 
shape the market to align with our transformative commissioning intentions, both in youth 
support and children and family centre provision.  Working with the market in this way is more 
likely to achieve better specifications and higher quality bids for service delivery
The pandemic has thus far prevented such engagement and soft market testing, but this could 
potentially begin in early 2022 as it is anticipated restrictions are fully lifted.

Officer recommendations:
Considering the options and associated risks, Officers advice that Option 3 is recommended 
as the optimum way of discharging the Council’s statutory and partnership Youth Support 
responsibilities in the current circumstances. 

It is therefore recommended that the Council:

varies the Council’s existing contract with Prospects Services (the current provider of 
integrated countywide Youth Support services) by extending its term for an interim period of 
six months, from April 2022 to September 2022, in order to provide the Council with an 
opportunity to complete a process of extensive market testing and market development in 
preparation for a full procurement process for a replacement contract commencing in October 
2022..

Performance Management/Follow-up 

Current performance management arrangements will continue to apply throughout the 
contract term, in any transition periods and in new contract mobilisation. 

Page 54



REPORT TITLE: Residential Framework for Children’s Homes

Cabinet Date 21 July 2021

Cabinet Member Cllr Stephen Davies - Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and 
Early Years

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To seek approval to undertake a compliant competitive tender process, in 
order to develop ‘in county’ residential provision for Gloucestershire children 
and young people in care.  

Recommendations

The Officer recommendations to Cabinet are;

(1) To approve the establishment of a pseudo framework opportunity for 
Residential Care, initially for up to ten 2-3 bed children’s homes and up to 
two 6 bed children’s homes;

(2) To delegate authority to the Executive Director of Children’s Services, in 
consultation with the Executive Director of Corporate Services and Cabinet 
Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years, to:

a) Conduct a compliant process for the tender of a 5-year pseudo 
framework agreement for residential children homes. The 
estimated total value is up to £150m. 

b) Upon conclusion of the pseudo framework process; call off up to 7 
contracts for residential children’s homes in the first year, for a 
period of 5 years, plus an optional extension of up to 5 years to an 
estimated maximum value of £70m; and, up to 5 additional 
residential children’s homes for a period of 5 years, plus an 
optional extension of up to 5 years, to an estimated maximum 
value of £50m in years 2-5 of the framework.

c) Determine whether to exercise the option to extend each call-off 
contract for each home for a further period of not more than 5 
years on the expiry of the initial five-year term.

Page 55

Agenda Item 8



Reasons for 
recommendations

Completing a successful tender process for the residential provision 
identified will enable the Council to:
 Establish greater certainty regarding future costs for up to 50% of our 

requirement for residential placements in future years;
 Maintain more children and young people within County, keeping 

educational, family and friends’ links;
 Meet the statutory Sufficiency requirements set out in the Background 

Documents;
 Improve outcomes for some of our most vulnerable children and young 

people through the provision of bespoke placements based on 
Gloucestershire’s needs. 

Resource 
Implications

The continuing rise in numbers of children and young people becoming 
Looked After is placing increasing challenge on existing budgets. This 
reflects a national trend which has been further exacerbated by Covid.  
As these new provisions come on line, children and young people identified 
by their current location and/or individual need will move at an appropriate 
time for them from their existing home into the new homes with the funding 
moving with them. It is anticipated that the new pseudo framework will result 
in competitive costings for the new provisions, it is likely in the short term 
that expenditure may increase slightly due to the associated set up costs. 
This will be balanced by efficiencies achieved over the whole period of the 
framework. 

Background 
Documents

Right Placement First Time: Sufficiency Strategy 2018 - 2021

Statutory Authority Children Act 1989 – Section 22(g) General duty of local authority to 
secure sufficient accommodation for looked after children.
The duty to provide or procure placements for Children in Care is explicit in 
the Children Act 1989.  This has since been strengthened by the 
introduction of Sufficiency Statutory Guidance (2010) and the Care Planning 
Placement and Case Review Regulations 2010. 

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

All

Officer Wendy Williams, Assistant Director for Integrated Children and Families 
Commissioning
01452 328526
07796611068
wendy.williams3@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Timeline July 2021: Market engagement
Oct 2021: Tender Documents Published
April – Sept 2022: Pseudo Framework operational with initial call off of up to 
four homes.

Page 56

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2089860/2019-05-28-final-sufficiency-strategy.pdf
mailto:wendy.williams3@gloucestershire.gov.uk


1.0 Background 

1.1  Gloucestershire is committed to ensuring, wherever possible, that children who 
need to be cared for away from home receive the ‘Right Placement First Time’.  
In order to achieve this outcome for children in care there will need to be system 
wide changes that allow the commissioning of whole pathways for children in 
care from infancy to young adulthood, service development to address gaps in 
provision, alongside workforce development to empower positive professional 
practice.

Residential Care

1.2 When a child comes into care and depending on their needs an option for some 
children is to be placed into residential care. Previously many local authorities, 
including Gloucestershire maintained their own in-house residential provision but 
over time many of these resources closed.  As a consequence, authorities have 
become increasingly reliant on placing children in private residential homes, 
sometimes many miles from the child’s parents and social networks. Research 
evidence shows this does not lead to consistently good outcomes for children

1.3 Over the past 20 years local authorities have created what is in effect a ‘just in 
time’ marketplace. This is due to purchasing placements from primarily profit-
making companies who aim to have ‘just enough’ placements to satisfy the 
marketplace and ensure maximum profitability, as vacancies/voids cost money, 
that ultimately would fall on LAs. This is most evident in the residential children’s 
home and residential, independent and non-maintained schools (INMSS) 
market.  

As children in care numbers continue to rise, the market takes time to respond.  
This rise in numbers of children in care has been a constant feature over the last 
five years and there is a lag in the marketplace responding.

‘The rising number of children in care is placing the child protection systems 
under increasing pressure. Due to record levels of demand local authorities can 
struggle to find suitable placements in local residential care homes resulting in 
children being placed further from home. This may not be in their best interests 
but there are few, if any alternatives. Regulation is a factor in this complex set of 
issues as is austerity.’  Alison Michalska, ADCS President. 

In order to manage these issues in the marketplace we have taken steps to 
address them, by joining together as a purchasing consortium with other local 
authorities to form a larger partnership for a dynamic purchasing system (DPS) 
for residential children’s homes. This system gives us a route to market and 
ensures compliance with Public Contract Regulations and UK Procurement 
Legislation.

2.0     The Gloucestershire Experience

2.1 Gloucestershire does not currently have any in-house, non-disability related 
residential provision and, as a result, we purchase all our residential placements 

Page 57



from third parties. In the financial year 2020/21, the spend for residential 
placements, excluding secure and parent and child placements, came to 
£17.8m. Some 77.6% of these placements were outside of Gloucestershire and 
in some instances outside of the south west region. This means that the child is 
placed away from their home with the risk of them becoming socially isolated 
from education, family and friend networks. 

2.2 In June 2021, there were 83 children and young people in the care of GCC who 
were placed in residential provision, including those who were jointly funded with 
health. Of these only 12 placements were in Gloucestershire (approx. 14.5%) 
meaning 85.5% were placed outside of our borders. The overall number is an 
increase of 4 on the position at the end of March 2021 (during 2020/21 the 
number of children and young people in residential care varied month on month 
between 63 and 79) the total cost for 2021/22 is now expected to increase to 
£20.2m. 

2.3 Along with the direct cost pressures from additional children in care, especially 
those in residential care, further pressures are added through the time and costs 
incurred by social workers and other practitioners, such as Independent 
Reviewing Officers performing their statutory functions. This in part has led the 
Council to consider its reliance on external residential provision and explore 
different delivery models which are more effective for children, deliver better 
outcomes and more efficient use of staff and financial resources.

Sufficiency Strategy

2.4 Our Sufficiency Strategy “Right Placement First Time“, outlines a vision to build 
placement sufficiency and choice for Gloucestershire, acknowledging that our  
reliance upon the Southwest framework arrangements has not delivered those 
objectives. Moving away from the reliance on frameworks is a huge undertaking, 
and represents a medium to long term plan to create or secure the ‘range, type 
and sufficiency’ of required placements. 

2.5 This change in approach is based upon the premise that determining our 
commissioning and service requirements and developing provision alongside 
providers on a competitive tender basis will shape the market rather than 
adopting a ‘one size fits all’ approach.

2.6 The identified benefits from our commissioning principles include;
 

 Provision (and subsequent development) reflects the needs of our children 
and young people; 

 Development is needs driven and defined by the local authority;
 The shape of the local market is to a great extent defined and managed by 

the local authority as ‘sole consumer’; 
 We engage in a true partnership approach and move away from a traditional 

purchaser/provider relationship; 
 Quality is contractually defined and locally assured; 
 Services are local and can be tailored – allowing for specialist, targeted and 

emergency provision that is fit for purpose by design and concept; 

Page 58



 Placement stability is positively influenced and managed as provision better 
matches need. 

2.7 An example of this approach is Trevone House which delivers service that is;

 based upon identified, well understood, local need; 
 co-designed with care experienced young people and locally delivered; 
 that prioritises being needs lead and Outcomes focused; 
 market leading in its approach; 
 a partnership with a major service provider; 
 changing perceptions of what supported living could and should look like, 

and; 
 is a key contributor to placement stability.

2.8 The demand for residential provision in future years is likely to increase due to 
increasing numbers of children and young people in the care system which will, 
in turn, generate increased numbers in residential care. In addition there is a 
greater understanding that for some young people the existing pathway to 
residential care via fostering causes more harm than good and results in 
considerably worse outcomes. For this reason, we have begun to explore 
different models of residential care based on therapeutic concepts. 

2.9 At Trevone House there is a strong commitment to the ‘Trauma Informed Model 
of Care’, with all staff having been trained in this approach and further support 
for individual and group sessions with a psychotherapist. We have also explored 
a model known as Social Pedagogy, which is prevalent in Europe within 
residential child care settings and increasingly gaining traction in the UK. Whilst 
both approaches have their differences, at their heart is a joint belief in 
relationships and residential care as a positive experience, rather than the 
placement of last resort after multiple prior failures. Moreover, it should be the 
placement of choice for those children or young people for whom  a family-based 
provision such as foster care is not appropriate or suitable.

3.0 Proposed Actions

3.1 We therefore intend to develop a pseudo framework to deliver a multi year 
opportunity to develop residential provision for young people aged 12 – 17 years,
based on the following;

 the potential increased demand for residential care;
 the desire for more children and young people in the care system to either 

live within or close to Gloucestershire;
 our successful experience of commissioning Trevone House to meet 

identified local need, and;
 evidence of the need to explore different residential care options .

Page 59



3.2 The framework will be used to establish a maximum of ten 2 – 3 bedded 
residential homes to be located around the county and in adjacent localities1 
over the lifetime of the contract, with an initial call off of 7 homes in the first year 
of the framework. These homes could also provide supported accommodation 
and ‘move on’ options for the resident young people. In addition, we anticipate 
developing two 6 bedded homes to be run on a therapeutic model, both of which 
will have supported accommodation as part of the contract. Taken together 
these units could meet 40 – 50% of our overall jointly identified and funded 
requirement for residential provision over the medium and long term. The service 
will offer the following opportunities:

 Consistency of staff involvement and support to young people across key 
elements (residential and supported accommodation);

 Young people being enabled to remain within or close to Gloucestershire 
thus maintaining key relationships;

 Improved outcomes;
 An option to remain until the young person is aged 25 years in the supported 

accommodation;
 Greater engagement with providers due to the long term nature of our 

contracting;
 An opportunity to reduce GCC costs indirectly by reducing travel of key 

professionals as many placements will be closer.

3.3 It is recognised that in the first year of delivery of each home there will be start 
up costs resulting in them being marginally more expensive in the immediate 
term than existing placements. However we believe the opportunity to work as 
sole user with a provider allows us to jointly ‘flex’ delivery to enable the best 
outcomes for our children and young people to be achieved including, most 
importantly, providing security of placement and a reduction in unplanned moves 
or placement failures. 

3.4 The DfE are in the process of launching a new £19.5 million pounds Children’s 
home capital building programme. The application programme will take place 
during the summer of 2021, projects will be approved in November 2021 for full 
completion by March 2023. Gloucestershire’s sufficiency planning is in a strong 
position to bid for such government funding, which will accelerate our 
programme to develop residential provision in county for our children and young 
people.

4.0 Options

4.1 The Council is faced with a number of options, these are;

1. Stay as we are/Do nothing

1 The majority of provision in any lot must be within the county boundary of Gloucestershire. Additional 
provision may be situated only in the following Local Authority areas; Herefordshire, Monmouthshire, 
Oxfordshire, South Gloucestershire, Swindon, Warwickshire, Wiltshire, Worcestershire

Page 60



To stay as we are would be to continue to use the South West Framework for 
Residential Placements. This is not tenable at the present time, current 
arrangements do not deliver the quantity or range of provision required at 
reasonable cost. Failure to provide placements would not meet statutory 
duties.

2. Develop a pseudo Framework 

This offers the opportunity to mould provision to the Council’s needs through 
close engagement with providers. Using the light touch regime of the public 
contract regulations to modify the framework as a pseudo-framework allows 
the Council to change the length of the framework to encourage market 
development and options such as reopening the framework. This would 
include lots which reflect different leasing arrangements e.g. where the 
provider has their own property or where there is a suitable GCC property or 
a 3rd party e.g. Housing Provider. Setting the overall pseudo-framework value 
at a higher value than initial anticipated spend enables the framework to be 
flexible to future requirements.

This is the recommended option because it provides the best opportunity to 
provide tailored and local residential care opportunities whilst maintaining a 
hold on costs.

3. Spot purchase

Whilst this could provide most flexibility it comes at the cost of additional 
expenditure, potential unavailability when required and least influence over 
the market. It also runs the risk of challenge as purchases are not in line with 
the Public Contract Regulations.

4. Undertake a tender each time 

This option provides managed flexibility but is time consuming as each time 
further capacity is required a competition is held which may not meet the 
Council’s or more importantly the young person’s time scales for delivery.

5.0 Risks 

5.1 There is a risk that providers do not reply to the tender opportunity which can be 
mitigated by a proactive provider engagement process early on and setting the 
call off contract length at five years (plus up to five years optional extension) to 
increase the commercial viability of the contracts.

5.2 There is a risk of inability to control costs which will be mitigated by five year 
(plus up to five year) contracts, contract management and continued 
membership of existing Residential Frameworks.

Page 61



6.0 Financial implications

6.1 We do not anticipate significant savings as part of the Tender; rather it provides 
an opportunity to manage costs more effectively for up to 50% of our jointly 
funded residential placements.  We also anticipate that the Local Authority 
should see reductions in travel time and associated claims by social workers if 
the tender is successful in ensuring more young people live within 
Gloucestershire or close by. 

6.2 As noted above DfE have recently announced the launch of a new £19.5 million 
pounds Children’s home capital building programme to which Gloucestershire 
will submit an application. If we are successful this will allow for the acceleration 
of our programme to develop residential provision. 

7.0 Climate change implications

7.1 The opportunity for more young people to live closer to key relationships will 
support actions to positively support climate change intentions.

7.2 Tender specifications will include a requirement for homes to be energy efficient.

8.0 Equality implications

8.1 Has an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) been completed? 

Yes

8.2 The proposed tender and framework will enable children and young people in 
the care of the Local Authority and placed in residential provision live closer to 
their support networks with provision specifically tailored to the needs of 
Gloucestershire children and young people. This will improve a range of 
outcomes including health, education and relationships that would not have been 
possible otherwise. This will contribute to the elimination of discrimination, 
advance equality of opportunity and promote good relations.

9.0 Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

9.1 Data Protection Impact Assessment is a legal requirement. Work with IMS will be 
undertaken and completed to identify any personal data risks, these will be 
addressed within the tender and mitigated within the contract terms.

10.0 Social value implications

10.1 Provision of residential care within or close to Gloucestershire will improve the 
quality of life for looked after children, young people and their parents/carers.  
The tender process will invite providers to include how they would deliver 
increased social value as part of their bid submission.

11.0 Consultation feedback

Page 62



11.1 Feedback from professional colleagues supports the provision of residential care 
within or closer to Gloucestershire.

12.0 Officer recommendations

12.1 The Officer recommendations to Cabinet are;

1) To approve the establishment of a pseudo framework opportunity for 
Residential Care for up to ten 2-3 bedded children’s homes and up to two 6 
bedded children’s homes;

2) To delegate authority to the Executive Director of Children’s Services, in 
consultation with the Executive Director for Corporate Services and Cabinet 
Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years, to:

a) Conduct a compliant process for the tender of a 5-year pseudo framework 
agreement for residential children homes. The estimated total value is up to 
£150m. 
b) Upon conclusion of the pseudo framework process; call off up to 7 
contracts for residential children’s homes in the first year, for a period of 5 
years, plus an optional extension of up to 5 years to an estimated maximum 
value of £70m; and, up to 5 additional residential children’s homes for a 
period of 5 years, plus an optional extension of up to 5 years, to an estimated 
maximum value of £50m in years 2-5 of the framework.
c) Determine whether to exercise the option to extend each call-off contract 
for each home for a further period of not more than 5 years on the expiry of 
the initial five-year term.

13.0 Performance Management/Follow-up 

13.1 Performance management metrics for tendered services will be co-produced 
with children, young people and their parents/carers who will be supported to 
take part in oversight meetings.

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TITLE:   Youth Justice Plan 2021/22

Cabinet Date 21st July 2021

Cabinet Member Councillor Stephen Davies
Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To seek Cabinet’s recommendation that Council approve Gloucestershire’s 
Youth Justice Plan 2021/2022.

Recommendations To recommend the Youth Justice Plan 2021/22, attached at Appendix 1 to 
Council for approval.

Reasons for 
recommendations

The Council, working with partner agencies, has a duty to publish an Annual 
Youth Justice Plan outlining the activities, funding and resourcing of its Youth 
Offending Service.  The Youth Justice Plan forms part of the Council’s policy 
framework and shall be approved by full Council following consideration by 
Cabinet.

Resource 
Implications

There are no direct resource implications arising from this decision.   

Background 
Documents

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/973141/Youth_Justice_Plans_-
_YJB_Practice_Guidance__March_2021_.pdf

Statutory Authority Gloucestershire County Council

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

All

Officer Andy Dempsey
Director of Partnerships and Strategy
E-mail:  andy.dempsey@gloucestershire.gov.uk
Telephone:  (01452) 425019

Timeline The Youth Justice Plan will be considered by Cabinet prior to approval by 
Council and Gloucestershire’s Youth Justice Partnership Board, and 
submission to the Youth Justice Board.

Page 65

Agenda Item 9

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/973141/Youth_Justice_Plans_-_YJB_Practice_Guidance__March_2021_.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/973141/Youth_Justice_Plans_-_YJB_Practice_Guidance__March_2021_.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/973141/Youth_Justice_Plans_-_YJB_Practice_Guidance__March_2021_.pdf
mailto:andy.dempsey@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Background

1.1 Section 39 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 introduced the statutory requirement for 
local authorities to establish one or more Youth Offending teams (YOTs) in their area, 
with each requiring the involvement of the local authority, police, NHS and probation 
services. In Gloucestershire this responsibility rests with Gloucestershire County 
Council (GCC).

1.2     The responsible local authority is also required, after consultation with partner agencies, 
to publish a Youth Justice Plan each year outlining the composition of, and funding for, 
their YOT and the functions it is to carry out.  This includes the steps taken to 
encourage children not to commit criminal offences.  In Gloucestershire, the Youth 
Offending Service (YOS) is delivered by Prospects on a commissioned basis, as part of 
the Youth Support Team.

1.3   Local governance for the YOS is provided by the Gloucestershire Youth Justice 
Partnership Board (YJPB), comprising of representatives from the statutory partners 
(above) and relevant local agencies.   The Youth Justice Plan 2021/22 will be approved 
by Youth Justice Partnership Board prior to its submission to the National Youth Justice 
Board (YJB) as part of its conditions for the YOS Grant.

1.4  Following its consideration by the Statutory Partners, the Youth Justice Plan will be 
considered by Cabinet prior to approval by Council, as required by the constitution.  A 
copy of the Youth Justice Plan is attached at Appendix 1.  

1.5 In March 2021, the Youth Justice Board published Youth Justice Plan: YJB Practice 
Guidance which sets out the requirements for YOS planning, with local plans required 
to include:

  The direction and strategy of youth justice services. 
 How leadership and governance is set up to monitor the quality and effectiveness 

of services.
 Workforce learning and development needs.
 What is known about child criminal exploitation and any initiatives or plans the 

partnership has in place to address and prevent the harm arising from exploitation.
 What is known about any groups of over-represented children and any initiatives or 

plans to address this.
 What local partnerships are doing to ensure effective services are available for 

constructive resettlement for children leaving the secure estate.
 Effective practice and those aspects of service delivery that are contributing 

towards key achievements.
 How youth partnerships hold education to account over levels of exclusion, elective 

home education and the provision and delivery of education, health and care plans.

Page 66



 What is being done to divert children at risk of offending and prevent those already 
involved from being progressed into the formal youth justice system

A key element within Gloucestershire’s Youth Justice Plan (2021- 22) will be to build on 
last year’s recovery plan in responding to Covid 19.  

1.6    The performance of YOS is determined by reference to a range of national and local 
performance metrics. At a national level, there are three key determinants: - 

 The number and rate of first time entrants (FTE) to the criminal justice system – 
those young people receiving a substantial, sanction based outcome.

 The re offending rate of a tracked cohort – this includes the number of young 
people committing further offences and the number of offences on average each 
has committed.

 The use of custody as a rate per 1,000 young people aged 10 – 17 years old.

1.7 Gloucestershire YOS is generally performing well against these metrics when 
compared to South West and National comparators.  The YOS also utilises local data 
such as the percentage of young people in education, employment or training, the 
number of young people open to social care or with an Education Health and Care Plan 
(EHCP) to provide a broader picture of service effectiveness. 

1.8 As part of the national response to the Covid 19 pandemic the YJB waived the 
requirements for an annual youth justice plan for 2020/21, requiring in its place the 
completion of a Recovery Plan.  This was completed and considered by Cabinet in 
November 2020, prior to its approval by Council.  

1.9 Although Gloucestershire YOS is generally performing well, considerable challenges 
remain in seeking to improve outcomes for children and young people and the wider 
community. These are reflected in the YOS priorities for 2021/22 set on the plan:

 Reduce disproportionality in order to ensure that outcomes and the experience of 
BAME children who come into contact with the youth justice system in 
Gloucestershire are proportionate and fair.

 Ensure children and young people in Gloucestershire who come in to contact with 
the youth justice system are supported to achieve their full potential and given the 
opportunity to engage in good quality education, training, and employment. 

 Ensure the prevention and safeguarding of children at risk of criminal exploitation in 
Gloucestershire.

Page 67



 Develop a trauma informed approach to the complex cohort of young people who 
are responsible for high number of reoffences and who have experienced trauma 
and Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs).

 Develop greater insight into violent offending by children and young people and the 
underlying causes, in order to inform prevention activity.

 Develop and implement a countywide strategy towards Harmful Sexual Behaviour 
displayed by children and young people in Gloucestershire.

 Continue to develop our response to Covid moving from response to recovery in 
line with local and national guidance.

 Enhance the Restorative Justice offer to support victims to redress the harm 
caused, and engage those who offend in order to reduce reoffending.

 Gather feedback from children and young people, parents/carers, victims and 
partners and use it to further develop services and improve outcomes for these 
groups.

Options

2.1 There is a statutory requirement for Gloucestershire County Council, working with local 
partner agencies, to publish an annual Youth Justice Plan.  The local Youth Justice 
Plan is also required to be submitted to the Youth Justice Board for their approval as a 
condition of their grant funding.

Risks

3.1 There are a number of risks identified:

1. Risk: The Youth Justice Plan is not effective in tackling key issues including new 
entrants to the justice system and re-offending.  Mitigation: The Youth Offending 
Service is currently performing well against key performance metrics and the current 
plan set out further measures to improve effectiveness

2. Risk:  There is a risk that the outcomes and experience of BAME children is 
disproportionate and unfair. Mitigation: A programme of training on 
disproportionality is a key element within the Youth Justice Plan.

3. Risk: Partners are insufficiently engaged in the administration and effectiveness of 
Youth Justice in Gloucestershire.   Mitigation: The Youth Partnership Board 
provides oversight of partner agency support for the YOS/T and delivery of the 
Youth Justice Board.

Page 68



4. Risk: Covid impacts disproportionately on the most vulnerable/complex young 
people.  Mitigation: The Youth Justice Plan will place a particular focus on 
outcomes for the most vulnerable young people

5. Risk: Young people involved in the criminal justice system and/or at risk of 
offending  have a higher rate of exclusion and/or a reduced educational offer.  
Mitigation: Education provision will be a key element within the Youth Justice Plan 
and work of the Youth Justice partnership Board. 

Financial Implications

4.1 Gloucestershire’s YOS is funded by a combination of direct grant funding from the 
Youth Justice Board and contributions from the statutory partner agencies identified 
within the Crime and Disorder Act.  The funding arrangements for the current year are 
set out in the Youth Justice Plan 2021/22, attached at Appendix 1.  There are no direct 
financial implications arising from this decision and funding for the current year is 
considered to be sufficient to meet service needs.

Climate Change Implications

5.1 There are no direct climate change implications arising from the completion of the 
Youth Justice Plan.

Equality Implications

6.1 A key aspect of the Youth Justice Plan and work of Gloucestershire’s Youth Offending 
Service is to ensure that the administration of Youth Justice is fair and non-
discriminatory.  Current data evidences that children and young people from mixed and 
BAME ethnic groups are over represented within Gloucestershire’s YOS population.  
The Youth Justice Plan sets out a range of actions to address this, with performance 
reported on a regular basis to the Youth Justice Partnership Board.

6.2 A further focus within the Youth Justice Plan 2021/22 will be the extent to which other 
vulnerable groups, such as looked after children and children with behavioural, 
emotional or mental health needs become involved in the Youth Justice System.  The 
Children First programme which takes a restorative, trauma informed approach is key 
to ensuring that young people, who are vulnerable, and/or disadvantaged, do not 
become labelled by the system with all that implies for their longer-term prospects.

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

7.1    There are no direct Data Protection Impact Assessment implications arising from the 
completion of the Youth Justice Plan 2021/22.

Page 69



Social value implications

8.1 There is a considerable body of research evidence that the early involvement of young 
people in the criminal justice system has a significant and adverse impact on their 
subsequent outcomes.  An effective YOS and local youth justice plan are key to 
diverting young people in the first instance and preventing the escalation of those 
young people already in contact with youth justice services, which together deliver 
significant social value for the wider community of Gloucestershire.

Consultation Feedback

9.1 In developing the Youth Justice Plan, GCC has undertaken extensive consultation with 
local partners and stakeholders working through Gloucestershire’s Youth Justice 
Partnership Board.  Feedback has been positive and the plan was approved by the 
Youth Justice Partnership Board prior to submission to the Youth Justice Board.

Officer Recommendations

10.1 Gloucestershire County Council, working with local partner agencies, have taken the 
lead in developing the local Youth Justice Plan.  The plan proposes an early 
intervention approach and the progressive replacement of criminalising sanctions with 
restorative approaches that address offending behaviour and meet the needs of 
victims.

10.2 The Youth Justice Plan 2021/22 has been informed by the YJB guidance on local 
planning.  It is considered that the Youth Justice Plan 2021/22 provides an effective 
mechanism through which GCC and its partners can meet their statutory obligations 
under the Crime and Disorder Act (1998).

Performance Management/Follow Up

11.1 There is a comprehensive range of performance indicators in place to evidence the 
impact, or otherwise, of the YOS and Youth Justice Plan.  These include the rate of first 
time entrants, re-offending and the use of custody.

11.2 At a local level performance is scrutinised by the Youth Justice Partnership Board and, 
at a national level, by the Youth Justice Board.  Gloucestershire YOS is generally 
performing well against key performance metrics when compared to South West and 
National comparators.

Page 70



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Gloucestershire 

Youth Justice Plan 
2021-22 

  

Page 71



 

2 | P a g e  

Contents Page No. 

Statement of purpose 4 

Introduction 4 

Structure and governance 6 

Quality assurance and performance 6 

Partnership and staffing 7 

Partnership arrangements 8 

Resources and value for money 9 

YJB Grant expenditure 10 

YOS Budget 10 

Review of 2020/21 10 

First Time Entrants (FTE) 12 

Reducing reoffending 13 

Custody 14 

Local performance measures 15 

Education, Training and Employment (ETE) 15 

Restorative Justice 16 

Children’s Social Care 17 

Health 17 

Highlights 18 

Children First 18 

PACE 19 

Youth Custody Programme Officers 20 

Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) 20 

Harmful Sexual Behaviour (HSB) 20 

Liaison and Diversion (L&D) 21 

Youth Work and Activities 21 

Criminal Exploitation 21 

Training 22 

Key challenges and risks to future delivery 23 

• First Time Entrants 23 

• Reducing reoffending 24 

• Reduce use of Custody 24 

• Restorative Justice 24 

• Education, Training and Employment (ETE) 24 

• Children’s Social Care 25 

• Disproportionality 26 

Additional identified risks 26 

Priorities for 2021/22 26 

Appendix 1 – Structure chart 28 

Appendix 2 – Ethnicity and gender information 29 

Appendix 3 – Expenditure 30 

 

 

  

Page 72



 

3 | P a g e  

 

 Foreword 

 

The past 18 months has been a period of unprecedented challenge and turbulence due to the 

profound and enduring impact of the Covid 19 Pandemic.  While we remain on a journey from 

response to recovery and the long-term impacts are yet to be full realised, emerging research 

tells us that it has impacted disproportionality on the most vulnerable and exacerbated pre-

existing inequalities. This has profound implications for youth offending services and their work 

with the most vulnerable and complex young people in our community and poses a huge 

challenge for our practice, strategic leadership and governance of youth justice in the county. 

 

As part of the national response to Covid, the Youth Justice Board waived the requirement for an 

Annual Youth Justice Plan for 2020/21 asking instead that localities provide a response/recovery 

plan following a format they provided.  Gloucestershire’s YOS used this proactively to support 

the continuation of service provision for young people as part of the wider multi-agency response 

put in place across the county.   This proved to be very effective in not only sustaining services 

but also continuing to deliver good performance against key indicators such as first-time 

entrants, reoffending and custody.  The contribution of the Children First diversionary initiative 

cannot be overstated particularly in avoiding the delays to the administration of justice for young 

people that have occurred in other areas.  Staff and managers have shown great resilience and 

creativity in sustaining services for young people 

 

For 2021/22, the YJB has reinstated the requirement for localities to publish an annual youth 

justice plan.  In March this year, they revised their Youth Justice Plans: YJB Practice Guidance 

March 2021 setting out their expectations for local plans including responding to the pandemic 

and recovery from Covid 19.  It also extends the focus beyond the core youth justice 

preoccupations of first-time entrants, reducing offending and custody, to explore child criminal 

exploitation, over-representation, elective home education and Education, Health and Care 

Planning (EHCP).  This broader reach acknowledges the critical impact of a lack of education 

provision and health inequalities as criminogenic factors, as well as the broader themes of the 

increasing proliferation of EHE and EHCP and the need for youth justice services and the 

Partnership Board to understand the system connections and interdependencies in their areas.  

 

Whilst the return to an established cycle of assessment, planning and delivery is to be welcomed, 

it must deliver more than a return to the pre-pandemic position.  We need, as a service and 

partnership, to be proactive and nuanced in our response if we are to meet the needs of young 

people and a wider community whose habits and norms have been profoundly disrupted.  This 

plan reflects our local needs as well as meeting the requirements of the YJB revised guidance.  It 

will require the support of all partners both statutory and non-statutory if we are to realise its 

aims.  I urge you to give your full support to this plan and the priorities therein.  

 

Andy Dempsey 

GCC CS Director of Partnerships and Strategy 

Chair Gloucestershire Youth Justice Partnership Board 

June 2021  

 

 

Page 73



 

4 | P a g e  

Introduction, vision, and strategy 
 

1.0 Statement of Purpose 

 

1.1 Section 39 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 introduced the statutory requirement for local 

authorities to establish one or more Youth Offending Teams/Services (YOTs/YOS) in their area, 

with each requiring the involvement of the local authority, Police, NHS, and Probation Services 

as statutory partners. In Gloucestershire, this responsibility rests with Gloucestershire County 

Council. 

 

1.2 The primary aim of the Gloucestershire Youth Offending Service (YOS) is to prevent offending 

and reoffending by children and young people under the age of 18 and ensure the best outcomes 

for children by seeing the child first and the behaviour second. This is done through early 

intervention, practical and effective partnership working, and information sharing.  

 

1.3 Research published this year from Loughborough University entitled ‘Child First Justice: The 

research evidence-base’ clarifies the Child First principle through four tenets: 

 

• See children as children. 

• Develop pro-social identity for positive child outcomes. 

• Collaboration with children. 

• Promote diversion. 

 

1.4 We continue to be progressive through replacing criminalising sanctions with restorative 

approaches, ensuring a speedy response by reducing bureaucracy and recognising and 

responding to the underlying causes of offending and anti-social behaviour, and the needs of 

victims. We recognise that young people who offend are often themselves vulnerable and that 

traditional criminalising sanctions can be ineffective, inappropriate, and disproportionate. 

Gloucestershire continues to lead the way in effectively diverting children away from the Criminal 

Justice System and we continue to push boundaries and challenge traditional cultural and 

systemic responses to youth offending in the interests of children, young people, and the wider 

community. 

 

2.0 Introduction 

 

2.1 In Gloucestershire, the YOS are incorporated within targeted youth support through the County’s 

Youth Support Team (YST), a multi-agency, multi-disciplinary service, commissioned by 

Gloucestershire County Council and delivered by Prospects, part of the Shaw Trust Charity. The 

integrated model this provides means that support can be delivered at the earliest prevention 

stages or equally sustained beyond the young person’s Court Order. The overarching aim is to 

support young people to achieve their potential and prepare them to make a successful 

transition to adulthood. 

 

2.2 Section 39 (1) of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 requires the co-operation of named statutory 

partners to form a YOS. Section 38 (2) identifies statutory partners and places upon them a duty 

Page 74

https://repository.lboro.ac.uk/articles/report/Child_First_Justice_the_research_evidence-base_Full_report_/14152040
https://repository.lboro.ac.uk/articles/report/Child_First_Justice_the_research_evidence-base_Full_report_/14152040


 

5 | P a g e  

to co-operate to secure youth justice services appropriate to their area. Additional partners are 

recruited to the joint strategic effort to prevent offending and reoffending.  

 

2.3 The responsible Local Authority is also required, after consultation with partner agencies, to 

publish a Youth Justice Plan each year outlining the composition of, and funding for, their YOS 

and the functions it is to carry out.  This includes the steps taken to encourage children not to 

commit criminal offences. 

 

2.4 Local governance for the YOS is provided by the Gloucestershire Youth Justice Partnership Board 

(YJPB), comprising of representatives from the statutory partners (above) and relevant local 

agencies. The Youth Justice Plan 2021/22 will be approved by the Youth Justice Partnership Board 

Chair. Following consideration by the statutory partners, the Youth Justice Plan will be 

considered by Cabinet prior to approval by Gloucestershire Council, as required by its 

constitution. 

 

2.5 The national outcome measures for Youth Justice continue to comprise reductions in the number 

of first-time entrants, in the numbers and frequency of young people reoffending, and in the 

numbers of young people sentenced to custody.  Gloucestershire YOS is also required to meet 

additional statutory requirements including the Standards for Children in the Youth Justice 

System introduced in April 2019 and national inspection regimes. 

 

2.6 In addition to the national outcome measures, we have a series of local measures which include 

tracking the numbers of young people in contact with the Criminal Justice System (CJS) who are 

in education training and employment (ETE), those known to Children’s Social Care, and those 

engaging in Gloucestershire’s diversion scheme, Children First. We also contribute to the local 

priorities to meet the needs of Gloucestershire’s young people, their families, victims of crime 

and communities. 

 

2.7 Gloucestershire YOS are on a continual journey towards excellence and therefore we seek out 

opportunities to learn and develop our practice. Recently we have collaborated with Why Me? a 

Restorative Justice Charity. Why Me? were awarded funding to work with 3 YOSs over two years 

in order to identify ways to increase the use of restorative justice and engage victims, and they 

made the decision to work with Gloucestershire YOS on the first project. The collaboration is 

coming to an end and the findings are being published imminently.  

 

2.8 We continue to work with the Centre for Justice Innovation and the Youth Endowment Fund 

(YEF) in order to further improve our provision, specifically focusing on widening the criteria for 

diversion to tackle disproportionality in the criminal justice system. We are also exploring and 

testing the efficacy of online group work to address violent behaviour. 

 

2.9 This document sets out how the partnership will be provided and funded within Gloucestershire 

over the next 12 months. 

 

  

Page 75

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/957697/Standards_for_children_in_youth_justice_services_2019.doc.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/957697/Standards_for_children_in_youth_justice_services_2019.doc.pdf


 

6 | P a g e  

Governance, leadership, and partnership arrangements 
 

3.0 Structure and governance  

 

3.1 A Youth Justice Partnership Board is in place to oversee the effectiveness of Gloucestershire YOS 

and provide strategic direction. It is chaired by the local authority’s Director of Partnerships and 

comprises of senior representatives from the National Probation Service, the PCC, District 

Councils, Police, Health, Children’s Social Care, Restorative Gloucestershire, Education, Courts, 

Prospects (commissioned as the YST which incorporates the YOS), Commissioning, Early Help and 

the YJB. The Board meets quarterly and oversees the quality of delivery and its success in terms 

of delivery key aims and objectives. 

 

3.2 The YOS Head of Service reports into the Operations Director of the Youth Support Team who is, 

in turn, accountable to the Assistant Director Commissioning, GCC’s Director of Children’s 

Services and Children’s Services Senior Leadership Team.  

 

3.3 The YOS is an integrated service, and the Head of Service has a broad portfolio of services 

including all Youth Justice related activity, targeted and open access youth work and activities, 

and the Liaison and Diversion service. Delivery is via a structure comprising small multi-

disciplinary teams to ensure that a child’s journey is seamless (See Appendix A structure chart). 

 

3.4 This work also sits within the wider YST portfolio, which delivers a variety of services to 

vulnerable young people. The inclusion of the YOS staff in this integrated model enables the 

sharing of expertise and transferable skills that allows for a more co-ordinated and timely 

response to individual young people who often have multiple and complex needs. 

 

3.5 In addition to the Youth Justice Partnership Board, the YOS Head of Service also sits on the 

following Boards - Gloucestershire Criminal Justice, Gloucestershire Prevent, Channel Panel, 

MAPPA, Safer Gloucestershire, Serious Organised Crime Prevention Strategic, and Restorative 

Gloucestershire. Safer Gloucestershire provides the strategic framework for county-wide 

community safety activity including Youth justice and provides a forum for the discussing issues 

that cannot be resolved within the YJPB. 

 

3.6 The Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children Partnership (GSCP) receives performance information 

on youth justice. 

 

4.0 Quality Assurance and Performance 

 

4.1 The Youth Justice Improvement Plan has been revised to ensure that we continue to improve 

practice and outcomes for young people.  The Head of Service for Youth Justice will oversee the 

plan and will engage with partners to undertake the check and challenge function. Quality 

assurance is undertaken through the following mechanisms:  

 

• Internal Quality Improvement Board – overseen by the YOS HoS 

• Service User Feedback including National Standard Review meetings with young people 

and their parents and Youth Support Team Customer Surveys 

Page 76



 

7 | P a g e  

• Internal and external audit and inspection  

 

4.2 The YST Performance and Quality Officer is responsible for ensuring we comply with the YJB’s 

data requirements and oversees the submission of data and returns in line with the YJB 

timetable.  

 

4.3 In addition to the quality assurance measures outlined above, the Gloucestershire Youth Support 

Team is well established with the Children’s Services Quality Assurance Framework which was 

implemented in June 2018. This seeks to ensure that there is a focus on understanding and 

improving the impact of work with children and families and includes: 

 

4.4 Monthly performance surgeries scrutinise data in order to identify key issues and ensure decisive 

action is taken to improve outcomes for children and young people. These have led to increased 

timeliness and improved performance. 

 

4.5 We also complete two case file audits of youth justice interventions each month to identify good 

practice and highlight and address areas for development. Further training is scheduled in order 

to increase the number of auditors and moderators across the YST to ensure resilience for this 

element of quality assurance and coverage of all aspects of practice. 

 

4.6 Recent audits have shown there is evidence of improving practice in relation to planning, 

recording, risk assessments and management oversight. In addition, there continues to have 

been consistently positive findings in relation to workers engagement and relationships with 

children, young people and their parents/carers.  Areas identified for further development 

include ensuring that assessments are analysed fully to better inform intervention plans, and that 

the impact of a young person’s identity is incorporated within those assessments. 

 

5.0 Partnerships and staffing  

 

5.1 The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 requires partner agencies to allocate staff to the Youth 

Offending Service.  We have the following staff seconded to the Youth Support Team to support 

youth justice work and our wider work with vulnerable young people: 

 

• 2.0 (FTE) Police Officers  

• 0.5 (FTE) National Probation Officer plus we share a 0.8 (FTE) Probation Support Officer  

with Swindon and Wiltshire – recruitment is under way for this post  

• Health Team – 3.0 (FTE) Mental Health Worker, 0.6 (FTE) Physical Health Nurse, 0.8 

(FTE) speech and Language Therapist, 1.0 Substance Misuse Worker 

 

5.2 The Youth Support Team has one Child Sexual Exploitation Case Responsible Officer (CSE CRO).  

The specialist youth engagement worker works within the multi-agency CSE team in 

Gloucestershire.  This comprises of Police from the Public Protection Bureau, Social Care and our 

Youth Worker.  They work with the Constabulary to seek to engage young people who we are 

concerned may be at risk or involved in CSE. The CRO works within the Community and Youth 

Justice Teams and leads on casework around CSE. The wider YST also have a team of specialist 

CSE workers who sit within the county’s Referral and Assessment Teams and work with those at 

Page 77



 

8 | P a g e  

risk of CSE. They also provide advice and guidance to Social Workers and Youth Justice 

Practitioners. 

 

5.3 The YST act as the front door to the service and track all young people who go missing and 

undertakes return interviews to all young people not open to social care.  They also offer 

independent return interviews for all young people who go missing.  We have shifted our 

processes to ensure a more efficient way to increase the number and timeliness of return 

interviews completed, for those not known to Children’s Social Care or those requiring an 

independent interview, and to ensure this information is reflected in assessment and planning 

across the service. 

 

5.4 The YST contracted by GCC also provide Youth and Activity Workers, Liaison and Diversion 

support, additional NEET and Health support, housing advice and guidance, and training 

opportunities for staff through the wider integrated service and the parent charity Shaw Trust. 

 

5.5 All staff are trained in Prevent and aware of their responsibilities in relation to it.  Gloucestershire 

YOS HoS acts as the point of contact within the service for Prevent and is also sits on the Channel 

Panel and on Gloucestershire’s Prevent Board.  

 

5.6 The ‘Children First’ project is firmly established and is a partnership between GCC, the Youth 

Support Team, Gloucestershire Constabulary, the Police and Crime Commissioner, Victim 

Support and Restorative Gloucestershire. 

 

5.7 Additional training delivered to frontline practitioners has included BASE risk assessment 

training, updated safeguarding, supervision training, unconscious bias training, and conflict 

resolution and de-escalation workshops.  

   

5.8 Following a review of Community Safety in Gloucestershire, Safer Gloucestershire has been 

established to provide countywide strategic oversight of Community Safety and to ensure there 

is a strategic needs analysis to enable better targeting of resources and inform priority setting.  

Gloucestershire YOS is represented on this group by the Head of Service and ensures our work 

with young people is incorporated into this area of work.  

 

6.0 Partnership arrangements 

 

6.1 The service has strong links with the following services and agencies: 

 

6.1.1 Police and Crime Commissioner – The PCC provides financial support to the Youth Offending 

Service alongside additional funding to support work in the custody suite. 

 

6.1.2 Gloucestershire Constabulary – The Youth Offending Service have designated links with the 

Police for strategic and operational oversight of our work.  We work closely with the Police on 

the following key areas: 

 

• Out of Court Disposals – weekly panel for decision-making and oversight panel 

• PACE Transfer 

• Provision of Appropriate Adults 

Page 78



 

9 | P a g e  

• Liaison and Diversion 

• Reoffending Project 

• Restorative Justice 

• Missing, Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) and Child Criminal Exploitation (CCE) 

• Prevent 

• Management of high risk and prolific offenders 

 

6.1.3 Probation Service – We have a 0.5 (FTE) experienced Probation Officer seconded into the service 

who works with high-risk young people and ensures successful transitions into Probation. They 

bring a wealth of experience in managing high risk offenders and other areas of work such as 

MAPPA and work with sexually harmful behaviour. In addition, we are currently working with the 

National Probation Service (NPS) and have created a pilot to tackle transition for when young 

people within the Criminal Justice System move over into Probation. Our seconded Probation 

Officer is extremely skilled at working with young people and so the other half of her role now 

involves her only working with those young people transitioning to adulthood from YST. This will 

mean those young adults benefit from a continuity of expertise and support as they move into 

adult services.  

 

6.1.4 Children’s Social Care –We have a strong relationship with Children’s Social Care and work with 

the Police and Social Care to support missing young people, those at risk of CSE/CCE and 

management of Prevent/Channel cases. 

 

6.1.5 Restorative Gloucestershire – We work closely with Restorative Gloucestershire, reporting 

directly regarding our restorative justice interventions. The Children First diversion scheme has 

improved the restorative offer for Out of Court Disposals. 

 

6.1.6 Health – We work closely with health colleagues on our Liaison and Diversion Project, 

interventions and support for young people that self-harm, and young offenders. The internal 

YST Health Team provide support around substance misuse, and physical and mental health for 

young people within the Youth Justice arena. 

 

6.1.7 Education – We have oversight of all young people with additional needs within the Criminal 

Justice System and work together to explore previously unidentified needs and pathways for 

assessment and support. 

 
Resources and services 

 

7.0 Resources and value for money 

 

7.1 Gloucestershire YOS exceeds the minimum staffing requirements set out in the Crime and 

Disorder Act 1998 for a multi-agency Youth Offending Team. This includes Youth Workers, 

Programme Officers, ETE practitioners and seconded staff from the National Probation Service, 

Health, and Police. 

 

7.2 Gloucestershire YOS recruits, trains, and supports volunteers from the local community to act as 

Referral Order Panel volunteers. There are currently 13 Referral Order Panel Volunteers but due 

Page 79



 

10 | P a g e  

to the minimal need as a result of Children First, we are looking at ways of engaging volunteers 

across other areas of our work. We are in the process of recruiting a full-time Volunteer Co-

ordinator to really enhance our support of young people. 

 

7.3 Appropriate Adult Services in Custody are provided by CCP, commissioned by Gloucestershire 

County Council. Gloucestershire YOS HoS works closely with CCP to ensure work is aligned and 

attends Contract Monitoring meetings to ensure the partnership remains robust. 

  

8.0 Breakdown of YJB grant expenditure - See Appendix 3 

 

8.1 As the YOS is part of the multi-disciplinary Youth Support Team, we have access to: 

 

• Substance Misuse Workers 

• Teenage pregnancy specialists 

• Speech and Language specialists 

• Exploitation and Missing support 

• Housing Advisors 

• Social Workers  

• NEET Workers 

• Youth Workers 

• Activity Workers 

 

8.2 YOS Budget – England - Costs and Contributions 

 

Agency Staff Costs 
Payments in 

kind - revenue 

Other 

delegated funds 
Total 

Local Authority £891,708  £141,501 £1,033,209 

Police Service  £62,000  £62,000 

National Probation Service  £7,750 £5,000 £12,750 

Health Service £191,220 £194,000 £30,344 £415,564 

Police & Crime 

Commissioner 
£160,527  £25,473 £186,000 

YJB £480,807  £67,226 £548,033 

Other    £0 

Total £1,724,262 £263,750 £269,544 £2,257,556 

 

• Structure Chart - See Appendix 1 

• Ethnicity and Gender Information - See Appendix 2 

• Expenditure - See Appendix 3 

 

Performance and priorities 

9.0 Review of 2020/21 

 

9.1 In 2020/21, and despite the challenges of the pandemic, local figures indicate the service 

performed well. In terms of comparison, the latest published data up to December 2019 shows 

Gloucestershire First Time Entrant (FTE) rates are significantly lower than all other YOS in the 

Page 80



 

11 | P a g e  

South-West, and also the lowest in the our YOS Family Group (other local authorities that are 

statistically similar to Gloucestershire across a variety of factors, including socio-demographic, 

socio-economic and health data). We are also demonstrating strong outcomes in terms of  

reoffending, and the custody rate has also decreased and continues to remain lower than the 

national average. 

 

9.2 Our performance for the number of reoffences per offender is improving – the latest three-

month cohort (Oct 2018 – December 2018) shows an average of 3 compared to 4.35 for our 

Family Group and 3.91 nationally. Our reoffences per offender for the yearly cohort is an average 

of 3.13, compared to 4.08 for our Family Group, and 3.89 nationally. 

 

9.3 Our binary reoffending performance for the three-month cohort is also good – 30.8% compared 

to 34.5% for our Family Group and 37.3% nationally. However, our yearly cohort is slightly higher 

at 40% compared to 34.7% for our Family Group and 37.8% nationally. 

 

9.4 The revolutionary diversion scheme (Children First) that was introduced in Gloucestershire in 

2018 is now well-established in the county and recognised as the primary disposal route for the 

majority of children who commit an offence. In 2020/21, 144 (55%) of the 261 outcomes were 

diverted away from the formal CJS and processed through Children First Pathways (CFPs), with 

only 85 of the most complex children entering the formal CJS. 

 

9.5 Between its inception and the end of 2020, 622 children in Gloucestershire who had offended 

were prevented from being unnecessarily criminalised through effective diversion. This means 

that two thirds of the cohort who had offended avoided formal interventions which otherwise 

could have a detrimental impact on their future life chances. In addition, as the diversion scheme 

is a very efficient system these young people have had their needs identified and addressed in a 

timely manner, thereby increasing the likelihood of preventing further offending. The latest 

available data (July 2019 – September 2019) shows a reoffending rate of 18% for those processed 

through Children First, compared to a national reoffending rate of 27% for those young people 

awarded Cautions. 

 

 

Page 81



 

12 | P a g e  

 

10.0 First Time Entrants (FTE) 

 

10.1 A first-time entrant (FTE) to the criminal justice system is a Young Person aged 10 to 17 years of 

age who has been recorded in the Police National Computer (PNC) as having received their first 

conviction, caution or youth caution. The tables below summarise FTE performance in 

Gloucestershire. It should be noted that annual data measurements would usually be taken from 

April to March however for FTEs we are using a January to December timeframe. This is because 

Children First was implemented in January and by using this timeframe we can directly relate 

nationally published data that aligns with the commencement of Children First. 

 

First Time Entrants - Actual numbers 

Year 
Jan – Dec 

2015 

Jan – Dec 

2016 

Jan – Dec 

2017 

Jan – Dec 

2018 

Jan – Dec 

2019 

Gloucestershire 162 162 145 40 38 

 

10.2 In January 2018, Gloucestershire introduced a new diversion scheme, Children First, to help 

reduce the number of young people entering the formal criminal justice system. Although in 

Gloucestershire we had continued to see a steady decline in the number of FTEs, there has been 

a significant reduction since 2018, when the scheme was introduced. The yearly average pre-

Children First was 156 FTEs, compared to a yearly average of 39 FTEs post Children First. We are 

performing considerably better than the national and South-West averages in relation to this 

measure. 

 

First Time Entrants PNC Rate - Per 100,000 of the 10-17 Population 

Year 
Jan – Dec 

2015 

Jan – Dec 

2016 

Jan – Dec 

2017 

Jan – Dec 

2018 

Jan – Dec 

2019 

Gloucestershire 294 295 263 72 67 

South-West 376 337 299 242 195 

Nationally 371 328 294 236 207 

 

10.3 Achieving further reductions will be a significant challenge given our consistently low baseline 

performance in relation to FTE. However, a recent development is the option to include cases 

where a child provides a ‘no comment’ interview to Police. Previously such scenarios were 

outside the remit of the diversion scheme as there was a prior requirement for the child to accept 

some responsibility for their behaviour. In an effort to widen the number of children who can be 

diverted, Gloucestershire Constabulary have agreed to allow no comment cases to be reviewed 

by the Children First Joint Decision Panel (JDP), which should provide even further reductions in 

the number of FTEs in Gloucestershire going forward. It is hoped that this new process may also 

go some way to addressing some aspects of disproportionality. On occasions, those from ethnic 

minorities or the more vulnerable who are wary of authority and formal services may offer a no 

comment interview. By allowing ‘no comment’ scenarios to be considered by the JDP, children 

in these groups should not be unduly penalised. 

 

Page 82



 

13 | P a g e  

11.0 Reducing reoffending 

 

11.1 Reoffending is a key determinant of service effectiveness and is measured via a cohort of young 

people who, between a period of time after receiving an outcome, commit a further offence(s).  

These young people are then tracked in quarterly and annual cohorts.  Sometimes, a young 

person may commit an offence within the 12-month period they are being tracked but the case 

may not have progressed to the Courts within the 12-month period so are tracked for a further 

6 months to allow for any offence to be proven in Court. 

  

11.2 The number of reoffences per offender has decreased again, putting Gloucestershire significantly 

below both South-West and national rates. 

 

LOCAL QUARTERLY DATA 

 

 

No. of Young 

People in 

Cohort 

No. of 

Reoffenders 

No.  of 

Reoffences 

Reoffences 

per 

Reoffender 

% BINARY 

Reoffending 

rate 

Oct 18 – Dec 18 26 8 24 3.00 30.8% 

Jul 18 – Sep 18 24 8 25 3.13 33.3% 

Apr 18 – Jun 18 16 8 22 2.75 50.0% 

Jan 18 – Mar 18 22 10 48 4.80 45.5% 

Oct 17 – Dec 17 52 14 77 5.50 26.9% 

Jul 17 – Sep 17 58 17 87 5.12 29.3% 

Apr 17 – Jun 17 79 18 80 4.44 22.8% 

Jan 17 – Mar 17 75 18 95 5.28 24.0% 

 

LOCAL ANNUAL DATA 

 

 

No. of Young 

People in 

Cohort 

No. of 

Reoffenders 

No.  of 

Reoffences 

Reoffences 

per 

Reoffender 

% Binary 

Reoffending 

Apr 18 – Mar 19 95 38 119 3.13 40.0% 

Apr 17 – Mar 18 211 59 292 4.95 28.0% 

Apr 16 – Mar 17 307 111 454 4.09 36.2% 

Apr 15 – Mar 16 314 126 435 3.45 40.1% 

 

  

Page 83



 

14 | P a g e  

REGIONAL AND NATIONAL ANNUAL DATA 

 

Reoffending rates per cohort – Regional and national      

Locality Year 

Reoffences 

per 

Reoffender 

Binary 

Reoffending 

% 

South-West Apr 18 – Mar 19 3.89 38.2% 

National Apr 18 – Mar 19 3.91 37.8% 

 

11.3 The most recent national data (April 2018 – March 2019) indicates that Gloucestershire’s binary 

reoffending rate has increased to 40% which is slightly higher than South-West and national 

rates. However, the size of the reoffending cohort has reduced by 73% from 2015 as a direct 

result of Children First. Furthermore, whilst the binary rate has slightly increased, the actual 

number of reoffences has dramatically decreased by nearly 73% from 2015/16, which is 

exceptional performance. 

 

11.4 In addition, local indicators for 2020/21 are looking even more favourable, with further 

significant reductions in the number of young people reoffending, and another big decrease in 

the number of reoffences committed. However, it is sensible to wait for the national publication 

of these figures as they may be subject to change.  

 

11.5 Reducing reoffending amongst children subject to court orders continues to be a significant 

challenge as these children are likely to have experienced significant trauma, Adverse Childhood 

Experiences (ACEs), and have multiple, complex needs. Their behaviour is also likely to be 

entrenched and persistent. Whilst Children First will be impacting on ensuring their needs can be 

identified earlier, they require specialist input, assessment, risk management and support from 

experienced and suitably qualified workers in the multi-agency teams, in order to help them turn 

their life around. 

 

12.0 Custody 

 

12.1 The use of custody measures when a young person is sentenced in court for a period of time to 

a Young Offenders Institution/Secure Training Centre or Secure Children’s home. 

 

Custody – rate per 1,000 of the 10-17 population 

 
Apr 16 – Mar 

17 

Apr 17 – Mar 

18 

Apr 18 – Mar 

19 

Apr 19 – Mar 

20 

Apr 20 – Mar 

21 

Gloucestershire 0.11 0.15 0.07 0.11 0.09 

South West 0.15 0.19 0.11 0.11 0.06 

Nationally 0.44 0.37 0.31 0.23 0.13 

 

12.2 Gloucestershire YOS consistently reports low custody rates and always performs significantly 

better than national averages. Due to a significant drop across the South-West, we are slightly 

higher than the SW average this year. However, as previously noted, our cohort is extremely 

Page 84



 

15 | P a g e  

complex, and some offences were significant enough to warrant substantial custodial sentences 

over the last two years, and these young people remain in custody. 

  

12.3 Actual numbers of youth custodial sentences imposed on Gloucestershire young people in 

2020/21 were 5 which continues the downward trend from 17 in 2015/16. This continues to 

represent a significant decline in the use of custody overall at a national level. 

 

13.0    LOCAL PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

 

13.1 Education Training and Employment 

 

13.1.1 Education, Training and Employment (ETE) is a significant factor in reducing the risk of 

reoffending by children and young people. This has become a greater challenge over recent 

years, reflecting the changes to this cohort of young people on the edge of the criminal justice 

system who now have multiple and increasingly complex and multiple needs and whose 

offending behaviour is often entrenched. These young people are often the hardest to engage 

and sustain in ETE, particularly if they have been disengaged from ETE for a period of time. 

 

13.1.2 Gloucestershire YOS has a dedicated Education Lead Case Responsible Officer (CRO) who works 

alongside caseworkers, education providers and colleagues in the Local Authority to improve 

educational outcomes for children who come into contact with the criminal justice system in 

Gloucestershire. This can be particularly effective for children diverted from the formal system, 

as we can work in partnership to prevent exclusion or enable reintegration into an education 

setting whilst avoiding unnecessary criminalisation. 

 

13.1.3 In the previous year, 37% of all offenders completing a Youth Justice Intervention in 2020/21 

were NEET, which is a 20% improvement over the last two years. It is worth noting that whilst 

the NEET team within the integrated Youth Support Team (YST) provide support to these young 

people, there are fewer employment and training opportunities available to them, particularly 

given their complex risks and needs, alongside a lack of any formal qualifications. The COVID 

pandemic has further limited the opportunities, particularly for the complex/vulnerable young 

people known to the YOS. 

 

13.1.4 Gloucestershire YOS have access to the Local Authority’s education database and undertake 

checks for all young people entering or existing within the youth justice arena. There are key 

themes emerging amongst this cohort, which include: poor attendance rates, high rates of 

exclusions, the prevalence of Special Educational Needs and other additional needs.  

 

13.1.5 For example, in 2020/21, of those young people whose interventions ended, 29% had an 

Education Health Care Plan, 76% had identified SEND, a staggering 97% (44 out of 45) had 

experienced at least one school exclusion, and 64% of these had been permanently excluded. 

As a result of the pandemic all of the children who were in this cohort had less than 50% 

attendance at school in the last year. This will be a key priority for the Service and the Board in 

the coming year. 

 

13.1.6 Our Education Lead CRO carries out thorough checks on every young person we work with in 

the YOS, and also carries out SEND screening. The relevant school for each young person is also 

Page 85



 

16 | P a g e  

contacted and the YOS CRO details are passed on, so we can be updated going forward in terms 

of attendance and/or behaviour concerns. Where a young person is struggling at school, our 

Education Lead will work with them and their Parent/Carer to attend school meetings, including 

readmission meetings where they have received a fixed-term exclusion, and will also support 

the Parent/Carer through the appeal process after a permanent exclusion. 

 

13.1.7 There are some Alternative Provisions that we work very regularly with due to the complex 

needs of the young people in the CJS.  Our Education Lead  attends a monthly multi-agency 

meeting to ensure our young people are receiving their full education entitlement.  

 

13.1.8 Where a young person has needs that have not yet been fully identified or are in the process of 

being explored, our Education Lead will support the young person, Parent/Carer and the school 

through Gloucestershire’s SEND Graduated Pathway. We also support Education, Health and 

Care Plan (EHCP) applications. Where an application is successful, we will then work alongside 

the Specialist Commissioning Team to organise and accompany the young person and their 

Parent/Carer to visit any specialist schools if required. 

 

13.1.9 In circumstances where a young person already has an EHCP, our Education Lead ensures that 

our team, and the young person and their family have a copy of the plan so we can work 

cohesively to address their needs. If a young person with an EHCP is sentenced to custody, we 

ensure this plan is also forwarded to the Education Lead in the Secure Estate. 

 

13.1.10 Young people with EHCPs are supported during their transition to Post 16 Education, Training 

or Employment (ETE) and this can include accompanying them to visit Colleges, Training 

Providers or other venue as required. Where a young person does not have Post 16 provision 

identified, we work with the Specialist Commissioning Team to ensure the young person is able 

to access some form of ETE. We then continue to support those with EHCPs post statutory 

education to ensure consistency and good service during their transition. 

 

13.1.11 For any young people open to the YOS who are registered as Elective Home Education (EHE), 

our Education Lead has regular contact with the Education Inclusion Service (EIS), and will work 

collaboratively with the allocated staff member within their team to ensure the young person 

continues to be supported. There are currently 8 children open to Gloucestershire YOS who are 

registered as EHE, which equates to 3.6%. 

 

13.1.12 The YOS Education Lead also attends the multi-agency Intervention Circles fortnightly and all 

Secondary School Team Around the Locality Clusters (TALCs). In addition, they also work 

alongside the Virtual School to ensure the education needs of those children open to YOS and 

in care are fully provided for. 

 

13.2 Restorative Justice 

 

13.2.1 Restorative Justice is a critical aspect in terms of reducing reoffending and all victims continue 

to be invited to participate in restoration. To further enhance our offer, Gloucestershire YOS 

have recruited a Restorative Justice Practitioner and we are collaborating with Restorative 

Gloucestershire to ensure the practitioner is fully trained in all aspects of restorative justice. As 

previously referenced, during 2020/21 the YOS worked with the charity Why Me? around 

Page 86



 

17 | P a g e  

restorative practice. The learning from this work will be adopted to ensure that improvements 

are made wherever possible. 

 

13.2.2 Our objective is to ensure both victims and children who offend have the opportunity to explore 

the offending behaviour in order to redress the harm caused and reduce future reoffending. 

Research analysed by the Ministry of Justice has shown that effective restorative justice 

practice can reduce the frequency of reoffending by 14 per cent – Green Paper Evidence Report 

– Breaking the Cycle: Effective Punishment, Rehabilitation and Sentencing of Offenders. 

 

13.2.3 Restorative Gloucestershire are also a key partner in the Children First scheme and have 

facilitated a number of face-to-face conferences in Gloucestershire between children who have 

offended and their victims. The service also has good links with Victim Support including 

signposting and liaising regarding support for victims.  

 

13.3 Children’s Social Care  

 

13.3.1 During 2020/21, 52 of the 85 of children made subject to formal or informal youth justice 

interventions in Gloucestershire were open or known to Children’s Social Care at the time, 

which equates to 61%. This is compared to 39 of the 136 children processed through Children 

First Pathways, which equates to 29%. Going forward we intend to explore the history of those 

children awarded Cautions or other formal sanctions to clarify whether they have previously 

been offered, and taken, the opportunity to be diverted through Children First. It is critical that 

those children with complex needs are provided the same opportunities for diversion where 

appropriate. 

 

13.3.2 Gloucestershire’s Children Services was rated inadequate by Ofsted in 2017 and continues on 

an improvement journey. We have a strong and close working relationship with Children’s 

Social Care which benefits the children because we collaborate on assessments, support and 

intervention where appropriate. We are developing a protocol between YOS and Children’s 

Social Care to ensure our practices are aligned. 

 

13.4 Health 

 

13.4.1 Gloucestershire YOS remains committed to increasing workers’ understanding of the impact of 

health needs on children and young people’s offending behaviour and subsequently the 

number of referrals to the Health Team within Gloucestershire YOS. 

 

13.4.2 There are  many aspects of health that affect a young person. Dental issues due to many young 

people not visiting a dentist regularly. The combination of a poor diet and lack of dental hygiene 

can have a result on physical health such as abscesses, and mental health issues such as poor 

self-esteem. 

 

13.4.3 As noted, many young people within the YOS have poor education attendance, which means 

they are likely to miss essential vaccines that are a regular part of a school child’s life, leaving 

them vulnerable to illness. 

 

Page 87

https://restorativejustice.org.uk/sites/default/files/resources/files/Green%20paper%20evidence%20report.pdf
https://restorativejustice.org.uk/sites/default/files/resources/files/Green%20paper%20evidence%20report.pdf


 

18 | P a g e  

13.4.4 Nutrition and healthy eating are other aspects that tend to impact young people who are not 

in a family or school routine, and poor diets consisting of high fat and high sugar mean there 

are increasing levels of young people presenting as obese. Further impacts include an inability 

to concentrate or regulate their behaviour, as well as issues such as poor self-esteem and 

emotional health issues. Eating disorders are another aspect causing severe detrimental 

impacts to some young people. 

 

13.4.5 There are also concerning numbers of young people presenting with undiagnosed Learning 

Disabilities. Common scenarios relate to young people displaying behaviours synonymous with 

Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) and/or Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD). Due 

to poor school attendance many miss out from formal diagnosis but it is very likely that 

recognition of these needs may have prevented the kinds of behaviour they may have been 

excluded for, leading into risks of offending behaviour and poor emotional health. 

 

13.4.6 Our Physical Health Nurse has noted that without question, the most common issues young 

people are currently presenting with links to emotional and mental health concerns. Many have 

low self-esteem, low mood, and anxiety - sometimes around the offending behaviour and the 

potential consequences.  

 

13.4.7 Gloucestershire YOS continue to work closely with health colleagues to ensure the offer is 

flexible and can be adapted to suit the needs of this complex cohort. Child and Adolescent 

Mental Health Services (CAMHS) are represented on the weekly Joint Decision Panel (JDP) 

Children First. Speech, Language and Communication needs continue to be the most prevalent 

identified health need for children coming into contact with the Criminal Justice system. 

 

14.0 HIGHLIGHTS 

 

14.1 Children First 

 

14.1.1 Children First is a diversionary scheme that has been operating in Gloucestershire since January 

2018. It is a truly multi-partnership approach towards reducing youth offending and aims to 

avoid the stigmatising impact of a criminal record, whilst providing robust intervention to 

address  recidivism. The model is based upon a trauma-informed approach, and where possible 

restorative interventions are considered. Gloucestershire is proud to place the child first and 

the behaviour second. 

 

14.1.2 The diversion scheme is now well-embedded in the county and goes from strength to strength. 

The numbers of first-time entrants continue to be significantly lower than regional and national 

averages. This is likely to have a long-lasting influence on those children who, without this 

intervention, may have been disadvantaged by becoming labelled in the system due to poor 

judgment and mistakes made in childhood. 

 

Headline outcomes in year four: 

 

• There has been a 63% reduction in first time entrants to the criminal justice system as a 

direct result of Children First. 

Page 88



 

19 | P a g e  

• 144 children were diverted away from the formal criminal justice system and into 

restorative interventions. 

• Nearly a third of the 144 children diverted were open or known to Children’s Social Care at 

the time. 

• Reoffending rate of 14.8% compared with a national rate of 27% for young people in receipt 

of youth cautions. 

• Gloucestershire’s Out of Court Disposal (OOCD) Scrutiny Panels have concluded that 

decision making at the Joint Decision Panel for Children First have been appropriate, 

proportionate and effective in all 30 cases reviewed in the last year – a 100% success rate. 

 

14.1.3 The Gloucestershire partnership of GCC, Health, Education, Police and Prospects (part of Shaw 

Trust) via the Youth Support Team remain fully committed to Children First and the 

fundamental principles of the scheme, whilst recognising that we are on a continual journey of 

improvement, which ensures that victims remain at the heart of the process. As part of the 

improvement journey in 2020/21 we have: 

 

• Applied to the Youth Endowment Fund for extensive funding to further enhance the 

provision.  

• Worked in collaboration with the OPCC and Gloucestershire Constabulary to widen the 

eligibility criteria with a view to improving the disproportionality within the justice system 

and provide diversionary opportunities to more children from ethnic minority 

backgrounds.  

• Sourced ongoing funding for the full-time Co-ordinator post, along with a dedicated full-

time Sergeant from Gloucestershire Constabulary. 

• Recruited an additional Senior Case Responsible Officer with responsibility for oversight of 

quality and assurance within Children First. 

• Increased the breadth and depth of membership of the Children First Strategic Group to 

include senior representatives from Health, Education and Victim Support, in addition to 

existing members of senior representatives from YOS, Police, OPCC, and Restorative 

Gloucestershire. 

• Explored an independent evaluative study with the University of Gloucestershire. 

 

14.2 Transfers to Local Authority Accommodation under PACE 

 

14.2.1  The Children Act 1989 stipulates that young people should not be kept in Police custody if bail 

is refused following charge and must be transferred to local authority accommodation (with 

few exceptions). Between April 2020 and March 2021 there were eight young people refused 

bail after charge. Of those eight, seven requests were made by Police for transfers to the Local 

Authority - three young people were successfully transferred, and four were unable to be 

transferred due to lack of availability of an appropriate placement. The transfer of one young 

person was not requested as he was charged at 6am and it was felt it would be more beneficial 

for him to remain and get a couple of hours rest before appearing at Court.  

 

14.2.2 Our PACE Transfer Protocol has been further revised to coincide with the recent opening of 

Trevone House, a state of the art £2.5 million provision in Gloucester which provides semi-

independent accommodation, as well as other specialist services, for young people and young 

adults. Included within this site is a dedicated bed for PACE admissions for young people aged 

Page 89



 

20 | P a g e  

16 and over. This dedicated provision means that more children will be transferred to the local 

authority rather than stay in custody overnight. 

 

14.3 Youth Custody Programme Officers 

 

14.3.1 Throughout the pandemic we have provided Gloucestershire Constabulary with a 7 day a week 

Custody Advice Line which means Police Officers can call our staff who will then provide support 

to children pre and post arrest, and in custody. The purpose of this is to gather relevant 

information from various databases and through liaison with parents/carers and other 

professionals to inform decision-making and improve outcomes, such as transfers to the Local 

Authority, and/or the provision of Appropriate Adults. All of this work reduces, as far as 

possible, the length of time children spend in police custody and eventually the overall numbers 

of children coming into custody. From April 2021 we reverted to a six day a week offer, including 

a presence in the Custody Suite. 

 

14.3.2 By ensuring needs are identified at a much earlier stage and that support is offered, we are able 

to reduce the numbers of young people who are frequently arrested. The Youth Custody 

Programme Officers also offer follow up appointments in the community, delivered via the 

Liaison and Diversion Team, where required, and identify children of concern for review by the 

multi-agency Custody Subgroup.  

 

14.4 Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) 

 

14.4.1 In order to ensure intervention is delivered at the earliest stage where there is a risk of 

offending, Gloucestershire YOS has ensured that work relating to young people involved in ASB 

has continued to progress. The key aim is that there is a consistent county-wide approach which 

ensures that the underlying causes of the anti-social behaviour are explored and understood. 

In addition, we aim to provide effective early intervention and a partnership approach which 

offers support to the young person and their family where required.  

 

14.4.2 Gloucestershire YOS have worked in close partnership with Gloucestershire Constabulary in 

order to ensure that any Anti-Social Behaviour Injunctions (ASBI) are appropriate and used as a 

last resort to tackle disruptive behaviour in the community. Only two ASBIs were awarded in 

the last year, and in both cases, due to excellent work with both the Neighbourhood Teams and 

YOS staff, the injunctions were revoked due to significantly improved behaviour from the two 

children. 

 

14.4.3 The Safer Gloucestershire Board has a focus on anti-social behaviour, and the YOS has 

requested funding for additional part-time hours for a dedicated Youth Worker who will have 

a remit on supporting and providing interventions to children on the periphery or actively 

engaged in anti-social behaviour. 

 

14.5 Harmful Sexual Behaviour (HSB) 

 

14.5.1 This is a growing concern nationally and the YOS will add to the work undertaken by the multi-

agency Task and Finish group prior to the pandemic, which was presented to and endorsed by 

the Gloucestershire Children Safeguarding Partnership. The objective is to develop a 

Page 90



 

21 | P a g e  

consultative offer and a virtual HSB team in Gloucestershire, underpinned by a Countywide 

Strategy. 

 

14.6 Liaison and Diversion (L&D) 

 

14.6.1 Gloucestershire Youth Support Team are sub-contracted by Gloucestershire Health and Care 

NHS Foundation Trust to deliver the children and young people’s element of the Liaison and 

Diversion service within the county.  Gloucestershire YST offer Liaison and Diversion screenings 

to young people both in custody and the community who are suspected of an offence, to ensure 

their needs can be identified at the earliest opportunity and support offered. Due to the 

integrated nature of the service, children and young people can seamlessly receive support in 

relation to health, accommodation or ETE needs.  

 

14.6.2 Our Liaison and Diversion provision continues to lead the way nationally - the NHS has 

acknowledged Gloucestershire as the ‘gold standard’ and recent changes to the process have 

further improved our response and completion rates. In order to develop our practitioners 

further, the various departments within the Health Team – CAMHS, SALT, Substance Misuse 

and Physical Health, have provided regular training to ensure they are able to identify relevant 

needs swiftly and effectively. 

 

14.7 Youth Work and Activities 

 

14.7.1 As Gloucestershire YOS are fully embedded into the Gloucestershire Youth Support Team (YST), 

they are able to seamlessly utilise the multi-disciplinary elements of the service. This also 

includes experienced Youth Workers who target support to reach the most vulnerable children 

and those most at risk of offending. Youth Workers also provide support to other community 

groups who are providing more universal youth work. The Activities Team also deliver 

engagement and positive activities for young people, including the delivery of the Duke of 

Edinburgh Awards with young people across the county, holding the license on behalf of GCC. 

This includes delivery of DofE for the Alternative Provision and Special Schools in the county. 

 

14.7.2 Throughout the pandemic our Youth and Activity Workers have continued to engage with high-

risk children face-to-face in a COVID compliant manner. We are now focusing on opening up 

our offer to allow a more open-access facility once the last restrictions are lifted. 

 

14.8 Criminal Exploitation 

 

14.8.1 During 2020/21, Gloucestershire YOS have worked closely with a number of key partners, 

including Gloucestershire Constabulary and the Local Authority to ensure there is a 

safeguarding approach to children who were being criminally exploited. The YOS HoS is a 

member of the newly formed Organised Crime Strategic Partnership Board and is collaborating 

on the County’s new strategy to address and disrupt organised crime, including criminal 

exploitation of children. 

 

14.8.2 The YOS HoS is also collaborating with the County in terms of their training for all frontline 

practitioners across all agencies in understanding, recognising and referring children at risk of 

criminal exploitation. 

Page 91



 

22 | P a g e  

 

14.9 Training 

 

14.9.1 The Youth Offending Service work with some of the most complex and co-morbidly 

vulnerable/risky young people in Gloucestershire.  This requires staff to have a wide range of 

skills, knowledge and experience, supported and informed by continuous professional 

development.  

 

14.9.2 Due to the pandemic, the past 12 months have been difficult for training as face-to-face 

sessions have not been possible. However, a number of virtual sessions have been delivered 

internally and practitioners have also accessed a range of external training online. 

 

14.9.3 Included in the training has been further development in terms of our Harmful Sexual Behaviour 

(HSB) – AIM training for YST specialists. There are four HSB specialists in the service, two of 

whom sit within the YOS teams and focus on children within the criminal justice system. We 

support our HSB specialists to complete training on a regular basis to ensure their knowledge 

and skills are up to date. 

 

14.9.4 During the early part of the year practitioners completed specific HSB training which developed 

their skills when working with children with learning difficulties and working with children 

where the behaviour has taken place via online platforms.  

 

14.9.5 We are now taking second year Social Work students within the Community and Youth Justice 

Teams, and this means that YOS practitioners are able to complete the Practice Supervisor 

Award. This is useful for their development and is beneficial for the whole team. It helps us 

maintain a relationship with the University which is further enhanced by the YST delivery of 

lectures and information sessions Social Work students. 

 

14.9.6 Our Health Team has delivered regular half day sessions for practitioners including the 

following: 

 

• Physical Health 

• Engaging with Drugs support 

• Anxiety 

• SALT training 

• Suicide ideation 

• Drug treatment 

• Sleep hygiene 

• Self-harm 

14.9.7 Additional training has been provided for practitioners across the YOS and YST including: 

 

• Sexual health training has resumed virtually and is available to all YOS staff. 

• Induction sessions for new Practitioners and Managers, including mentoring sessions. 

• AssetPlus, Audit and Gatekeeping training for new Managers. 

• YJB regional Trauma Recovery Model training - 3 practitioners completed this recently. 

Page 92



 

23 | P a g e  

• Risk training – a review and practice update for managers with regard to High-Risk 

Planning Meetings (HRPM). 

• Resilience training for all Managers. 

• Safeguarding Training - Level 2 

• Child Protection Inter-Agency Level 3 Safeguarding Training for all practitioners. 

 

Challenges, risks, and issues 

 

15.0 Key challenges and risks to future delivery 

 

 These have been highlighted throughout the plan and are highlighted here: - 

 

15.1 First Time Entrants 

 

15.1.1 Due to the significant reduction in FTE since 2018, the current baseline will be a hard challenge  

to improve upon and continued efforts and resources by Police and Youth Justice will be required 

in order to maintain performance.  

 

15.2 Reducing reoffending  

 

15.2.1 Reducing reoffending continues to prove a challenge, despite the vast numbers now being 

diverted away from the formal system and who do not go onto reoffend. There remains, 

however, a complex cohort of children who often have multiple and complex needs who progress 

through the formal system and whose offending behaviour becomes entrenched. These young 

people require stable accommodation, intensive support, and specialist input, often to address 

a history of complex trauma and abuse in order to live a life free from offending. Specialist input 

to young people with complex needs and high levels of risk remains a priority in 2021/22.  

 

15.2.2 Further analysis of this cohort and improved targeting of resources is required to have a positive 

impact on reoffending rates for this group of young people. We will be exploring an Enhanced 

Case Management (ECM) approach which is a trauma-informed way of working with children in 

the Youth Justice System. This acknowledges the prevalence of trauma in the lives of children 

who have prolific offending histories and is grounded in a thorough understanding of child 

development. It has been developed as a psychology-led service, which includes multi-agency 

case formulation and intervention planning, which enables Youth Justice Practitioners to tailor 

and sequence interventions more effectively, according to the developmental and mental health 

needs of individual children. 

 

15.2.3 Initial reoffending rates for those children and young people diverted away from the formal 

criminal justice system are considerably lower when compared with those who are criminalised. 

Gloucestershire YOS have standardised a process for tracking the reoffending rates of children 

subject to a Children First Pathway (CFP) over a period of time, as it is important to continue to 

demonstrate the longer-term benefits of diverting children and young people from the formal 

criminal justice system. 

 

15.3 Reduce use of Custody 

Page 93



 

24 | P a g e  

 

15.3.1 Significant reductions in custody rates have been achieved over the last few years. However, 

further reduction is a challenge, particularly with the overall number of disposals falling. In 

common with the national trend, children in care are over-represented in the custodial 

population in Gloucestershire, as are children from ethnic minorities, and the YOS continues to 

work closely with Gloucestershire Children’s Services to improve resettlement and outcomes for 

these young people. 

 

15.3.2 The numbers of children remanded to custody remains low, however this remains unpredictable, 

and the duration of the remand can also vary. This can present a financial risk and 

Gloucestershire YOS ensures close liaison with Children’s Services and Commissioning 

Placements Team to ensure that risks are mitigated. 

 

15.4 Restorative Justice 

 

15.4.1 Children First has had a significant impact on increasing levels of engagement with victims of 

youth crime in Gloucestershire and their subsequent engagement in Restorative Justice 

processes. Gloucestershire YOS has increased the number of restorative interventions delivered 

overall and ensure these remain at the heart of all youth justice interventions, whilst avoiding 

the unnecessary criminalisation of children wherever possible. The focus on Restorative Justice 

will therefore continue, however it will be important to ensure that feedback is sought from 

victims on a regular basis to ensure best practice, victim satisfaction, and enhance credibility and 

efficacy of Children First. 

 

15.5 Education, Training and Employment (ETE)  

 

15.5.1 For young people who offend in Gloucestershire, achieving and sustaining a place in education, 

training or employment, remains a significant challenge.  However, the actual numbers of 

children and young people completing statutory youth justice interventions is now significantly 

lower so less children are impacted.  The integrated nature of the service ensures that there is 

access to specialist support from NEET Workers within the teams, however there are limited 

further education or employment opportunities for children who have offended in 

Gloucestershire, particularly as a consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic.  

 

15.5.2 There are many children of school age in Gloucestershire offending who are not receiving 

suitable education provision. The challenges for this group of children include poor attendance, 

high rates of exclusion, significantly reduced timetables, and previously unidentified additional 

needs. Gloucestershire YOS working hard to develop consistent approaches regarding support 

and challenge for schools, particularly in terms of reducing exclusions. The YOS Education Lead 

CRO is a member of multi-agency groups targeting the most complex children, including 

Intervention Circles and Team Around the Locality Clusters (TALC). 

 

 

15.6 Children’s Social Care 

 

15.6.1 Gloucestershire Children’s Services continue their improvement journey following an inadequate 

Ofsted rating in 2017. Whilst Ofsted have noted a number of improvements since this time, 

Page 94



 

25 | P a g e  

Gloucestershire Children’s Services continue to be subject to regular monitoring visits. More than 

half of the children open to Gloucestershire YOS are also open to Children’s Services. 

 

15.6.2 One of the key questions, as reflected in the national protocol on reducing unnecessary 

criminalisation of looked-after children and care leavers, is whether those in the care system may 

be further disadvantaged due to a lack of resilience and/or effective practice in some care 

settings. It is critical that we ensure such children are not simply reported to the Police for minor 

indiscretions, and if they are reported, that they are always offered the option of diversion rather 

than formal outcomes. 

 

Disproportionality 

 

15.7 Ethnicity 

 

15.7.1 A key issue of the YOS is to ensure that the administration of Youth Justice is fair and non-

discriminatory.  

 

15.7.2 The latest data available shows that in Gloucestershire, 20% of children who were cautioned or 

sentenced during 2019/20 were from ethnic minority groups, but only account for 7% of the 

population (Census 2011). Furthermore, children from mixed backgrounds are 4.7 times more 

likely to be cautioned or sentenced than White children.  

 

 
YJB data June 2021 

 

15.7.3 One of the priorities this year is to analyse and identify the causes behind this significant 

disparity, increase practitioner training in terms of inclusion and unconscious bias, and 

implement relevant recommendations from the vast research available. 

 

15.7.4 An additional point of note is the disparity between the percentage of ethnic minority children 

diverted through Children First (13%) compared to percentage processed through the formal 

Criminal Justice System (26%). It is anticipated that the new process of including cases where the 

child has provided a ‘no comment’ interview will go some way to balance this very concerning 

discrepancy. 

 

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

4.0

4.5

5.0

Mixed

R
e

la
ti

v
e

 R
a

te
 I

n
d

e
x

 (
R

R
I)

Ethnicity

Chart 3 - Relative Rate Index for cautions and sentences given to children, Gloucestershire 
YOT, year ending March 2020

Page 95

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/765082/The_national_protocol_on_reducing_unnecessary_criminalisation_of_looked-after_children_and_care_.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/765082/The_national_protocol_on_reducing_unnecessary_criminalisation_of_looked-after_children_and_care_.pdf


 

26 | P a g e  

15.8 Gender 

 

15.8.1 It was noted during the 2019 HMIP Inspection that Gloucestershire has a disproportionate 

number of female children offending. Recent comparative data shows this is still the case and 

the percentage of females going through both diversion and the Criminal Justice System exceed 

20%. This is significantly higher than the national average of 13% and also higher than the South 

West average at 17.6%. Once of our priorities for the Service will be to explore the potential 

causes of female offending and develop strategies to reduce the disproportionality. 

 

15.9 Additional identified risks and mitigation: 

 

Risk: The Youth Justice Plan is not effective in tackling key issues including new entrants to the 

justice system and re-offending.  

  

Mitigation: The Youth Offending Service is currently performing well against key performance 

metrics and the current plan set out further measures to improve effectiveness 

 

Risk: Partners are insufficiently engaged in the administration and effectiveness of Youth Justice 

in Gloucestershire.    

 

Mitigation: The Youth Partnership Board provides oversight of partner agency support for the 

YOS and delivery of the Youth Justice Board. 

 

16.0 Priorities for 2021/22 

  

• Reduce disproportionality and ensure that outcomes and the experience of ethnic 

minority children and females who come into contact with the youth justice system in 

Gloucestershire are proportionate and fair. 

• We will work with Education colleagues to ensure that all children open to the service 

receive an appropriate education offer and continue to challenge and pursue a reduction 

in exclusions. 

• Contribute to the prevention and safeguarding of children at risk of criminal exploitation 

in Gloucestershire. 

• We will continue to work with Commissioning and Children’s Social Care to ensure 

practice synergises with the work of the YOS in order to avoid the criminalisation of 

children and young people and reduce offending. 

• Develop greater insight into violent offending by children and young people and the 

underlying causes in order to inform prevention activity. 

• To continue to develop our trauma informed approach towards our practice to support 

the complex cohort of young people who are responsible for high numbers of reoffences 

and who have experienced trauma and Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs). 

• Develop and implement a countywide strategy to Harmful Sexual Behaviour displayed by 

children and young people in Gloucestershire. 

• Ensure that learning from the Why Me? Project exploring our restorative justice practice 

is incorporated within our intentions to further expand the utilisation of restorative 

interventions. 

Page 96



 

27 | P a g e  

• Gather feedback from children and young people, parents/carers, victims, and partners 

on a systematic basis and use it to further develop services and improve outcomes for 

these groups. 

• Ensure that the YOS continues to operate in an agile and flexible way which allows for 

uninterrupted delivery, should further restrictions be necessary due to COVID-19. 

 

Plan approval and sign-off 

 

Gloucestershire Youth Offending Team 

 

We confirm that the Youth Justice Partnership Board has approved the Youth Justice Plan for 2021/22 

 

Karon McCarthy 

 

Head of Service 

Community and Youth Justice 
Date: 29.6.2021 

Signature:   
 

 

Andy Dempsey Chair, Youth Justice Partnership Board Date: 30.6.2021 

Signature: 
 

 

 

 

Page 97



 

Appendix 1 

YST Structure Chart 

 

P
age 98



 

29 | P a g e  

Appendix 2 

Staffing of the YOS by gender and ethnicity 

 

 

 
  P

age 99



 

30 | P a g e  

Appendix 3 

Expenditure 

 

 

 
 

Revenue £ 

YJB Grant £54,8033 

Total Revenue £548,033 

Staff Costs £480,807 

Equipment Costs £14,476 

Support & Infrastructure Costs £52,750 

Total Expenditure £548,033 
 

 
Staff Employed by YJB Grant 

Job Title FTE 

Service Manager – Youth Justice 1 

Team Manager 0.9 

Assistant Team Manager – Youth 

Justice 
1 

Senior CRO – Youth Justice 1 

Senior Programme Officer 1 

CRO – Youth Justice 2 

Programme Officer 1 

Admin Officer 3 

Total 10.9 

 

P
age 100



REPORT TITLE: MHCLG Domestic Abuse Section 31 Grant Funding for 2021/22
Cabinet Date 21st July 2021

Cabinet Member Councillor Kathy Williams
Cabinet Member, Adult Social Care Delivery

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet approval for investment of the 
MHCLG Domestic Abuse Section 31 Grant for 2021/22 to enable us to meet 
our statutory duties under the Domestic Abuse Act 2021.

Recommendations

That Cabinet agrees to:

1. Modify the existing Lot 1 provider contract with Gloucestershire 
Domestic Abuse Support Service (GDASS) up to the value of 
£405,968 over 2 + 2 years (the current contract ends 30th June 2023 
and if the +2 option is exercised it will end 30th June 2025) to include: 
Floating Support (£12,000 x4 = £48,000); Flexible Funding (£40,000 
x4 = £160,000) and Target Hardening/Sanctuary referral (£49,492 x4 
= £197,968)

2. Modify  the existing Lot 1 provider contract with GDASS up to the 
value of £60,000 over three years with annual break clauses for 
Floating Support linked to call off contracts for Places of Safety and 
Dispersed Refuge (£12,000 x3 = £36,000; £8,000 x3 = £24,000)

Delegate authority to the Executive Director: Adult Social Care and Public 
Health, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care 
Delivery to:

3. Issue contracts under Lot 2 of the Domestic Abuse Framework up to 
the value of £800,000 over three years for the purpose of providing 
support in Places of Safety (£60,000 x3 + £18,100 x3 additional costs 
= £234,300); a DA Intervention Post (£88,000 x3 = £264,000); 
Specialist DA Advocates in Housing Teams; DA Training for the 
Housing Sector and DA Housing Champions (estimated £100,000 x3 
= £300,000)

4. Allocate a proportion of our Tier 1 administrative burdens funding 
towards posts which support the domestic abuse and sexual violence 
work associated with the duties arising from the Domestic Abuse Act 
2021 to a maximum annual value of £100,000. 

Page 101

Agenda Item 10



5. Run a mini competition on the DA framework under Lot 2 to support 
refuge accommodation up to the value of £300,000 over three years 
and award a contract to the successful bidder.

6. Issue contracts under Lot 2 of the Domestic Abuse Framework or the 
Community and Accommodation Based Support (CABS) Framework 
for scheme costs in dispersed refuge units to the maximum value of 
£180,000 over three years

7. Allocate the remainder of the grant (approximately £438,069 for 
2021/22) following publication of the domestic abuse needs 
assessment and strategy in September 2021 and the subsequent 
investment recommendations from the LPB.

Reasons for 
recommendations

Our rationale for this recommendation is that compared to option b) 
(paragraph 5.1) it will minimise the delay in investment of our 2021/22 
MHCLG domestic abuse grant funding and it will ensure that we meet our 
statutory duties with respect to the DA Act 2021.

Resource 
Implications

The investment required to implement the recommendations is within the 
Domestic Abuse Act 2021 MHCLG Grant allocation for 2021/22 (£1,105,661) 
however there are risks to the funding as outlined in the main report.

Background 
Documents

 Strategy to End Violence Against Women and Girls 2016 - 2020

 Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (DASV) 
Strategy and Outcomes Framework 2014 - 18

 Domestic Abuse Act 2021 legislation

 Domestic Abuse Act 2021 Overarching Factsheet
 Domestic Abuse & Sexual Violence Commissioning Group (DASV 

CG) papers are available on request from Helen Flitton, Head of 
Commissioning for Drugs & Alcohol & Domestic Abuse 
Helen.Flitton@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Statutory Authority Gloucestershire County Council’s statutory duty under the Domestic Abuse 
Act 2021

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

All

Officer Name:  Helen Flitton
Tel. no: 01452 328602 | Email: Helen.Flitton@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Timeline April 2021 – March 2022

Page 102

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/strategy-to-end-violence-against-women-and-girls-2016-to-2020
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2674/dasv_commissioning_strategy_october_14_hwbb_approved-66999.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2674/dasv_commissioning_strategy_october_14_hwbb_approved-66999.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/17/contents/enacted
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/domestic-abuse-bill-2020-factsheets/domestic-abuse-bill-2020-overarching-factsheet
mailto:Helen.Flitton@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:Helen.Flitton@gloucestershire.gov.uk


3

Background 

1.1 Domestic abuse (DA) causes harm to adults, children and communities; violates human 
rights and can affect anyone regardless of age, gender, sexuality, race, income, class, 
mental or physical ability and lifestyle. 

1.2 There is increasing awareness and understanding that DA takes many forms and it is 
now understood to be far more prevalent than previously assumed.  We also know that the 
emotional, academic and life chances of children who witness DA can be damaged by their 
experiences.

1.3 There are high economic, social and human costs on public services, communities and 
individuals as a result of DA.  More effort and resources targeted on prevention and early 
intervention can reduce the impact DA has on attainment, health and wellbeing and crime 
and disorder. 

1.4 Effective responses to DA require multi-agency co-operation and agreement for both 
the commissioning and delivery of services; there is an expectation from government that 
all publically funded partners should work together and the new legislation that came into 
effect in April increases expectations and responsibilities around public sector, including 
local authority, responses.  

The Domestic Abuse Act 2021

2.1 In spring 2018, the Government conducted a public consultation on ‘Transforming the 
Response to Domestic Abuse’.  The Government response to the consultation and a draft 
Domestic Abuse Bill were published in January 2019.  The response set out 123 
commitments, both legislative and non-legislative, designed to promote awareness of 
domestic abuse; protect and support victims and their families; transform the justice 
process to prioritise victim safety and provide an effective response to perpetrators; and to 
drive consistency and better performance in the response to domestic abuse across all 
local areas, agencies and sectors. 

2.2 The DA Bill had its first reading in the House of Commons in July 2019 and its second 
reading in October 2019 before the dissolution of Parliament. In December 2019 the new 
Government was elected with a manifesto commitment to “support all victims of domestic 
abuse and pass the Domestic Abuse Bill” originally introduced in the previous Parliament. 
The Bill was reintroduced in March 2020 and received Royal Ascent in April 20211.  

2.3 The aim of the Act is to raise awareness and understanding about the devastating 
impact of domestic abuse on victims and their families; further improve the effectiveness of 
the justice system in providing protection for victims of domestic abuse and bringing 
perpetrators to justice; and strengthen the support for victims of abuse by statutory 
agencies.

2.4 The Act creates a statutory definition of domestic abuse, emphasising that domestic 
abuse is not just physical violence, but can also be emotional, controlling or coercive, and 
economic abuse and establishes in law the office of Domestic Abuse Commissioner, setting 

1 The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 

Page 103

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/17/contents/enacted


4

out the Commissioner’s functions and powers.  Importantly, it places a statutory duty on tier 
1 local authorities to provide support to victims of domestic abuse and their children within 
refuge and other domestic abuse safe accommodation, with the aim of achieving 
consistency across England.  

2.5 The main requirements under the statutory duty are to: 

1. Convene a Domestic Abuse Local Partnership Board (LPB)
2. Complete a Needs Assessment
3. Develop a Domestic Abuse Strategy and commission appropriately
4. Monitor and Report to Government
5. Both Upper and Lower Tier Local Authorities to have regard to Statutory 

Guidance in exercising the above functions
6. Tier 2 (District) local authorities to co-operate with tier 1 (County) local 

authorities 

2.6 The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) will allocate 
non-ring-fenced funding on an annual basis to support Tier 1 and Tier 2 local authorities to 
fulfil their statutory obligations with respect to this duty. For 2021/22 Gloucestershire County 
Council has been allocated £1,105,661 which includes funding for support to DA victims 
and their children in DA safe accommodation and the associated administrative burdens.  
The district councils have been allocated a combined total of £198,956 to cover their 
administrative burdens but if the proposed options are agreed, will also receive some of the 
Tier 1 allocation to commission on our behalf.

2.7 We are required to prepare a domestic abuse needs assessment and strategy every 
three years with an annual refresh.  The deadline for the first strategy to be submitted to the 
DA Commissioner is August this year.  We will also need to prepare an annual report on 
investment and impact with the first report due in June 2022.

Mechanism for Commissioning DA in Gloucestershire

3.1 In 2013, the Council re-commissioned DA specialist support services for victims as a 
community-based model enabling victims to stay in their own home where it is safe to do 
so, rather than through an accommodation-based support model of delivery (i.e. refuges). 
The model included a help desk, one to one support for victims across the spectrum of risk 
and group work support for victims aged 16+ in line with the government definition of DA.  
This enabled many more victims of DA to be supported. Children were considered within 
the context of the family. 
 
3.2 In 2014, in response to government drivers, including that DA cannot be addressed by 
one agency alone, a new joint countywide strategic approach was developed for DA and 
sexual violence, accompanied by new governance arrangements. A Domestic Abuse and 
Sexual Violence (DASV) Commissioning Group was convened, made up of partner 
agencies that were investing in DA (Gloucestershire County Council (GCC), the Office of 
the Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC), Gloucestershire Constabulary, District 
Councils, Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and Probation.  They 
developed a Gloucestershire Joint Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (DASV) 
Commissioning Strategy and Outcomes Framework (2014 - 2018). This strategy set out a 

Page 104



5

collective commitment by partners to a joint strategic vision, principles and commissioning 
outcomes for DA. The outcomes being sought were to:

 Focus on early help programmes (alongside specialist support for victims) for 
individuals and the whole family affected by DA

 Ensure health, social care and other professionals who are in contact with families 
vulnerable to DASV are confident and competent in their response to support them, 
creating environments for disclosure at all levels

 Provide a co-ordinated approach across partner agencies, aligning commissioning 
and delivery of DASV services to ensure effective and efficient use of resources.

3.3 The strategy was supported by an implementation plan, overseen by a multi-agency 
DASV Implementation Group. Although the strategy and outcomes framework (2014 – 
2018) were due to be refreshed by 2019 it was agreed that, as the strategy remained 
relevant, it would be better to wait until the Domestic Abuse Bill had been passed before 
refreshing it to ensure that our commissioning captured any additional outcomes and duties 
as identified by the Act.  

3.4 In 2018, to strengthen Gloucestershire’s joint agency commitment and response to DA, 
the DASV Commissioning Group created a five-year DA Joint Commissioning Framework 
(DA Framework) to improve joint commissioning of DA services with partners at a strategic 
level and align current and future investment in DA across the county to:

• maintain the specialist approach for high risk victims and their families
• shift over time towards prevention and away from reactive crisis
• increasingly integrate provision and influence practice across the system
• support the development of a more confident system wide workforce
• collect shared robust intelligence

3.5 The DA Framework includes for the procurement of specialist DA services for victims 
16+, places of safety, addressing perpetrator behaviour, young people 13+, early 
identification and workforce development activity and services to address stalking outside 
the context of DA. The DA Framework does not include commissioning activity for children 
under 13 years which is commissioned separately. 

3.6 Funding for specialist DA services (which are not statutory) has been maintained over 
the period 2013-21.  

Implementation of the Domestic Abuse Act Statutory Duties

4.1 With a strong history of partnership working and already established and adaptable 
governance structures, Gloucestershire is in a good position to implement the Act.  We 
have already convened the new Domestic Abuse Local Partnership Board (LPB) which 
consists of multi-agency Strategic, Operational and Consultation Groups which report up to 
Safer Gloucestershire (with a dotted line to the Health and Wellbeing Board) and link 
closely with the Safeguarding Boards and the Sexual Violence Partnership Board amongst 
others.  We have consulted with the LPB groups with regard to our statutory duty to provide 
domestic abuse support in refuge and other domestic abuse safe accommodation.  

Page 105



6

4.2 We have commenced work on our DA needs assessment and have commissioned 
‘Perpetuity’ to carry out engagement and consultation work.  Out statutory obligation is to 
carry out a needs assessment for accommodation based support but the Partnership has 
agreed that it would be beneficial to widen the scope to include: community based support; 
how we respond to perpetrators; the impact on children (light touch at the moment but we 
will pick this up in more detail at a later date); and the picture of stalking, honour based 
violence and forced marriage as well as the views of those with lived experience and the 
general community.  We hope to have the needs assessment completed by mid July but 
early identification of themes will help us to start to build up a picture of need and inform our 
strategy development.  Early findings indicate a need to explore our response to protected 
characteristic groups (in particular ethnic minorities and those who identify as Lesbian, Gay, 
Bisexual, Transsexual and Queer (LGBTQ)) as well as those with no recourse to public 
funds.  Complex needs are also a theme linked to accommodation-based support.

4.3 Under normal circumstances we would wait until we have the outputs from the needs 
assessment and strategy process to make any decisions on long term investment.  
However, we need to be mindful that MHCLG will be looking to adjust funding for 2022/23 
based on spend of this year’s funding and if we wait until the needs assessment and 
strategy are complete we will have limited time to make commissioning decisions within 
year.  

4.4 In light of this, we have gained agreement from the LPB to take a two-phase approach 
to allocation of the funding whereby we make an initial investment in services which we 
know improve outcomes for victims and then allocate the remaining funds once we have 
the intelligence from our needs assessment and have agreed a strategic direction.

4.5 A ‘DA support in safe accommodation’ options paper (see Appendix 1) was taken to the 
first meetings of the LPB outlining a range of options that could be considered within the DA 
safe accommodation agenda for possible investment.  Further conversations have since 
taken place outside of these meetings with the District Councils, Providers and other 
stakeholders as well as with our internal support services to assess the feasibility of 
commissioning through the Framework and our current contracts.  Some of the options 
have been discounted at this stage and others are considered to be longer term options 
which need further scoping before decisions can be made.  Appendix 2 shows the options 
that are not being considered this year.

4.6 The LPB have made a recommendation for the following options to be progressed 
immediately with respect to commissioning accommodation-based support

1. Places of Safety (POS)
Current provision 10 - 12 units.  This offer is subject to a homelessness application, 

prioritising homelessness over DA risk.
Current Funding Funding for the current POS (x12) is covered by existing grant funding 

for at least a further 3 years, this is managed by the Districts. The 
Floating Support for the scheme is delivered by GDASS; the funding 
for this is captured in option 5.

MHCLG 
investment 

- Districts to 

12 new POS properties (change over every 6 months) 24 clients per 
year.  Includes specialist support and housing management

POS Scheme Costs: 

Page 106



7

commission Housing Officer Support hrs/ Management oversight hrs/ staffing on 
costs/ IT & phones/ training = £60,000

Additional Costs:
To enable tenancy access, sustaining tenancy & move on = £18,100, 
to be discussed/ agreed with MHCLG

DA Floating Support Costs:
Floating Support Hours: 10x 2.5hr support sessions per client & link 
worker support following move on 1hr a month for 3 months for 24 
clients = £12,000

TOTAL annual investment for 12 new PoS = £90,100
Mechanism for 
commissioning

 Districts to commission the PoS post via the DA Framework under 
Lot 2 – three-year contracts with one-year break clauses to account 
for annual funding allocation (recommendation 3)

 GCC to commission Floating Support Costs via modification of the 
current GDASS contract (recommendation 2) 

Risks/issues It is difficult to identify and allocate properties to the current Places of 
Safety scheme.  Further negotiations will need to take place between 
District Councils and registered social landlords.

2. Dispersed Refuge
Current provision None currently in the county.  These are self contained single units of 

accommodation available to all DA victim groups with high level 
specialist DA support provided. The specialist DA support could be 
attached to the units or commissioned via the GDASS contract. The 
routes to access and prioritisation for these units may be different to 
the Places of Safety. This accommodation would prioritise DA risk over 
a homelessness duty. 

Current funding £0
MHCLG 
Investment

– GCC to 
commission

Possibility of 2x 4bed units in Gloucester. 

Based on the CABS call off contract the estimated costs would be 
£25,000 - £30,000 per 4 bed unit per year. £50,000 - £60,000 for the 8 
units 

Based on the POS costs above and initial conversations with a Lot 2 
Provider the estimated costs for 8 units would be £40,000

Estimated maximum TOTAL annual Investment = £40,000 - £60,000

DA Floating Support Costs:
Floating Support Hours: 10x 2.5hr support sessions per client & link 
worker support following move on 1hr a month for 3 months for 16 
clients = £8,000

Mechanism for 
Commissioning

 GCC to commission via Lot 2 call off contract.  Three-year contracts 
with annual break clauses (recommendation 3)

 GCC to commission floating support costs via modification of the 
existing GDASS contract (recommendation 2)

Page 107



8

Risks / issues Approach has been made to Providers on Lot 2 of DA Framework. 
Several Providers do not have properties in Gloucestershire and others 
do not have any self-contained properties available. Additional capital 
funding would need to be sought to support Providers in bringing 
additional properties to the market in Gloucestershire. One Provider 
has 2x 4 bed units that could be considered. Another provider is 
bringing new secured tenancy properties to the market and could 
consider change of use for this remit.  Further conversations need to 
be had with registered social landlords.

3. Stroud Beresford Refuge (including support for children)
Current provision Gloucestershire’s only women’s refuge 
Current funding Charitable donations; Big Lottery Community Fund et al
MHCLG 
Investment
– GCC to 
commission

£100,000 annual investment (27% of the total running costs of the 
Stroud Beresford Refuge/ approx. 70 staffing hours per week).

Mechanism for 
commissioning

GCC to commission via Lot 2 call off contract (recommendation 5)

Risks/issues To consider if it is possible to extend the current support to children 
beyond refuge residents.

4. Flexible Funding Scheme
Current provision Part of the Whole Housing Approach, this is a funding pot (held by a 

coordinator within the specialist domestic abuse service) which offers 
timely and bespoke personalisation funding to victims of domestic 
abuse for housing related needs. The funds would allow the individual 
with their domestic abuse worker to apply for funding for goods or 
services that they identify would help them access or maintain 
accommodation. Flexible funding would be awarded if it met this 
purpose, regardless of eligibility or evidence of the individual’s’ financial 
circumstances or experience of abuse, providing other funding 
avenues did not meet the need or had rejected the application. This 
empowers the individual to be able to identify and meet needs or 
address barriers that might otherwise prevent them from accessing 
safe and secure housing, and without incurring a debt or financial 
burden through loans.

Current funding £0
MHCLG 
Investment
– GCC to 
commission

£40,000 annual investment (to include some legal costs) allocated 
through GDASS

Mechanism for 
commissioning

GCC to commission via modification of the current GDASS contract 
(recommendation 1)

Risks / issues

5. Floating Support / Mobile Advocacy
Current provision Provided by GDASS
MHCLG Floating Support Hours for the current 12x POS (change over every 6 

Page 108



9

Investment

– GCC to 
commission

months) 24 clients per year:

10x 2.5hr support sessions per client & link worker support following 
move on 1hr a month for 3 months for 24 clients = £12,000

Mechanism for 
commissioning

GCC to commission via modification of the current GDASS contract 
(recommendation 2)

Risks/issues Funding will be for staff so employment terms may need to be limited to 
annual contracts which may mean attracting and retaining staff is 
difficult.

6. Enabling access to Target Hardening/ Sanctuary and provide floating support
Current provision Part of the WHA, support element to be provided for victims/ survivors 

in receipt of security measures via this scheme. 
Current funding The scheme is currently funded by the Districts x6 and OPCC. The 

support element would be provided by GDASS as part of their service 
offer. – Commissioned by GCC

Investment

– GCC to 
commission

150 clients per annum - 2hrs per client for housing options and 
completing Target Hardening/ Sanctuary referral = £4,263

Floating Support/ IDVA Hours:  8x 2.5hr sessions per client = £42,630

Oversight/ Management Hours: 1hr per client issue resolving, 1 hr per 
month case closure, 2hrs per quarter contract monitoring = £2,599

TOTAL annual Investment = £49,492
Mechanism for 
commissioning

GCC to commission via modification of the existing GDASS contract 
(recommendation 1)

Risks/issues Consider if any growth is needed in this scheme going forward

4.7 The total maximum spend for these options is £359,592. 

4.8 In addition to the above options, the Districts have agreed the following, which are likely 
to be actioned later in the year:

11. DA 
Intervention 
Post 

MHCLG 
funding for 
this post due 
to end 
approx. 
March 2022

Districts 
to 
commis
sion

£44,000 per post per 
annum including on 
costs 

Total annual 
investment = £88,000

recommendation 3

2 new posts 
2021/22 in addition 
to the current 
funded post. 
Decision on 
number of roles 
required across all 
districts after the 
first year

12. Specialist 
DA Advocates in 
Housing Teams Medium 

priority

Districts 

Districts are unable to 
provide detail on 
estimated costs at this 
stage. They are 
recruiting new staff 
(using the burdens 

Role would need to 
be connected to a 
DA specialist 
provider or affiliated 
to a national body 
for DA

Page 109



10

13. DA Training 
for the Housing 
Sector

Investment in Lot 5 
of the DA 
Framework could 
be considered

14. DA Housing 
Champions

to 
commis
sion

funding described in 
paragraph 2.6). Once 
these staff are in post 
work on options 12, 
13, 14 (and option 1) 
will commence.  Any 
identified funding may 
be required for these 
options from Qtr. 3 at 
the earliest.
A rough Estimate for 2 
x post +training is 
£100,000

recommendation 3

Low investment 
required –
coordinator role to 
deliver alongside 
the current DA 
champions network

4.9 This brings the total to maximum spend per annum to £447,592 (known costs) plus 
unknown costs for options 12, 13 and 14 (estimate maximum £100,000 per annum) which 
will be clarified once the initial posts are recruited to.

4.10 In our conversations with partners and providers we have identified that the year on 
year nature of the funding makes it difficult to recruit and plan ahead.  We are proposing to 
offer three-year contracts with annual break clauses (where appropriate to do so) which 
would incentivise providers and offer some security without adding unacceptable risk to 
commissioners.

4.11 Tier 1 local authorities are expected to use some of their grant allocation against 
administrative burdens associated with implementing the statutory duty.  We are proposing 
to use this money to fund 0.5WTE of the Consultation Coordinator post, a percentage of the 
current Domestic Abuse Outcome Manager and Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 
Coordinator posts and training for the Partnership Board and wider workforce.  We have 
estimated that the maximum amount assigned to these costs will be £100,000 per annum 
(recommendation 4).

4.12 After investment in the accommodation based support options and administrative 
burdens noted above, we will look to invest the remainder of the grant (approximately 
£438,069 for 2021/22) once we have completed our needs assessment and strategy.  It 
should be noted that if we are not able to allocate this money in year, MHCLG will look to 
adjust future year’s funding. We will be looking for the LPB to make recommendations for 
the remaining funding in September 2021 and seek delegated authority to sign off these 
investment decisions to ensure that we can act on them as quickly as possible 
(recommendation 7).

Options

5.1 The following options have been considered:

a) To proceed with putting in place the contractual arrangements described above with 
immediate effect to enable the County Council to meet their statutory obligations under 
the Domestic Abuse Act 2021 and maximise the MHCLG funding available for domestic 

Page 110



11

abuse accommodation based support in future years.

b) Wait until we have the outputs from the needs assessment and strategy development to 
consider how we wish to invest the funding for 2021/22. This is not recommended 
because: any delay in providing accommodation based support will impact victims and 
their children at a time of rising need and waiting until the Autumn to make investment 
decisions will severely limit our ability to use the MHCLG funding in this financial year 
and will thus impact on the amount of funding we will receive in future years.

c) Do nothing. This would not allow the Council to meet statutory obligations and meet the 
needs of victims of Domestic Abuse and their children, so this is not recommended. 

5.2 We are recommending option a) in order to meet our statutory obligations to provide 
accommodation-based support within this financial year for victims of Domestic Abuse and 
their children and maximise the MHCLG funding available for this purpose in future years.  

Risks 

6.1 The following risks have been identified:

• For both options but particularly option b) there is potential for delays in decision 
making and governance processes which would result in limited investment of 
funding this year with a knock-on effect of reduced funding next year.

• We know that the consequence of being in lock-down during the COVID-19 
pandemic has had a massive impact on victims of DA and demand is rising for 
support services.  To delay investment would potentially waste an opportunity to 
increase availability of support to victims and their children and also introduce the 
risk of not meeting our statutory obligations with regard to providing support to 
victims and their children in DA safe accommodation.

• The annual funding mechanism increases the likelihood of it being difficult to attract 
providers.  This report is recommending that this is mitigated by offering longer call-
off contracts with annual break clauses.  This would offer both providers and 
commissioners a great degree of certainty without committing us beyond our means.

• There is a risk that Tier 2 partners are not ready to commission within the time frame 
we are looking for.  To mitigate this we are engaging with the districts through the 
LPB and the Strategic Housing Partnership. 

• There is some risk in our ability to align the support elements of the contracts with 
the Tier 2 commissioning as this is dependent on how districts deliver their grant.  As 
above, we are engaging with the districts through the LPB and Strategic Housing 
Partnership to ensure that this worked is progressed as soon as possible.

• The MHCLG funding is not ring-fenced and there is no guarantee that the level of 
funding will remain the same year on year.

• The Council will procure services where possible using the existing Domestic Abuse 
Support Services Framework which enables the Council to run compliant mini 

Page 111



12

competitions with providers on the framework and compliant non-competed options. 
The modification of the Lot 1 GDASS contract, is permitted under Public Contracts 
Regulations (2015) Regulation 72(b) which allows for the contract to be modified due 
to the significant inconvenience or substantial duplication of cost as long as the 
circumstances would not have been foreseen, the overall contract nature of the 
contract hasn’t changed and the increase in price does not exceed 50% of the 
original value. The complexity of the contract means that an award to anyone other 
than the incumbent Provider would cause significant inconvenience and a substantial 
duplication of costs. As the COVID pandemic and its effects could not have been 
predicted, the nature of the overall contract is not changing and the price increase is 
under 50% of the original contract the tests are met to modify the contract. All Public 
Contract Regulations reporting requirements will be met.

Financial implications

7.1 The investment required to implement the recommendations is within the 2021/22 
MHCLG Grant allocation.  MHCLG funding will be made available on an annual basis as 
long as the statutory duty exists however, as indicated above, the funding is not ring-fenced 
and there is no guarantee that the level of funding will remain the same.  

7.2 If we make commissioning decisions based on year on year availability of funding this is 
likely to be more expensive to us. As indicated above, mitigation for this would be to offer 
longer contracts with annual break clauses which would make it more attractive to providers 
and give both them and us more certainty.   
Climate change implications

8.1 Carbon Emissions Implications? Positive/ Neutral/ Negative
8.2 Vulnerable to climate change? Yes/ No/ Maybe

Equality implications

Has an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) been completed? Yes / No

9.1 The Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) originally produced to support the decision to 
create a Joint Commissioning Framework for Domestic Abuse (2017) is linked in the 
background documents.  We have a statutory duty to produce a needs assessment every 
three years and within this we are required to pay particular regard to protected 
characteristics and intersectionality.  Once the DA Needs Assessment has been completed, 
the EIA will be updated accordingly and will inform decisions about how the remainder of 
the grant is used. 

9.2 The investments being recommended in this report will support greater access to 
domestic abuse services across both accommodation and community-based support for all 
victims and their families. This proposal does not discriminate against any of the protected 
groups and actively seeks to ensure equality of opportunity to improve outcomes for all.

9.3 Cabinet Members should read and consider the Equalities Impact Assessment in order 
to satisfy themselves as decision makers that due regard has been given.

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

Page 112



13

10.1 All bidders for call off contracts under the Domestic Abuse Strategic Commissioning 
Framework must complete Security Standards Forms as part of the bidding process.  All 
current contracts on the Framework have completed DPIA assessments

Social value implications

11.1 Opportunities to maximise economic and social benefits beyond the scope of the 
commissioned activity will be included in the service specifications, invitation to tender and 
monitoring requirements for the investments we are making.

Consultation feedback

12.1 The Domestic Abuse Needs Assessment will inform our future investment decisions 
around the DA agenda and as part of the process of preparing it we have commissioned an 
external consultancy to carry out an engagement and consultation exercise with particular 
emphasis on protected characteristics and intersectionality.  

12.2 The structure of the new DA Local Partnership Board includes a consultation group 
made up of individuals with lived experience and other stakeholders.  The expectation is 
that the learning and feedback from this group will be threaded through the work of the LPB 
and any future commissioning decisions.

Officer recommendations

13.1 Officer advice is to agree the recommendations set out in this report to proceed with 
option a).

Performance Management/Follow-up 

14.1 Local authorities will have a duty to submit annual reports to central Government.  The 
first report is due in June 2022.

14.2 A ministerial-led National Expert Steering Group will be established to monitor and 
evaluate delivery of the new duty.  This Group will include representatives from local 
government, Police and Crime Commissioners, health bodies, specialist domestic abuse 
service providers and housing associations. The Domestic Abuse Commissioner will also 
be a member.

14.3 Individual contracts within the DA Joint Commissioning Framework are managed by 
GCC, the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC), Gloucestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group (GCCG) and the District Councils.  Regular contract management 
and reporting processes are in place and reporting will be managed through the normal 
governance processes in addition to the DA LPB governance.  We report DA KPI’s 
internally within GCC and are working with the performance team to develop a corporate 
DA indicator.

14.4 The DA LPB will report up to the Safer Gloucestershire Board and inform the Health 
and Wellbeing Board.  

Page 113



14

Appendix 1

Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse LPB Strategic Group

Agenda Item 6: MHCLG Funding Allocation for Gloucestershire 2021/22: 
Funding options for support to domestic abuse victims and 
their children in Domestic Abuse (DA) Safe Accommodation

Meeting Date Monday 26th April 2021
Author Tina Hemingway 
Item for decision or 
information?

For decision 

Key Issues:  
The Domestic Abuse Bill places a duty on Local Authorities in England to provide 
support to victims of DA and their children in domestic abuse safe accommodation. 

The MHCLG will allocate non ring-fenced funding on an annul basis to support Tier 
One and Tier Two local authorities to fulfil their statutory obligations with respect to 
this duty. For 2021/22 Gloucestershire County Council has been allocated 
£1,105,661 which includes funding for support to DA victims and their children in DA 
safe accommodation and the associated administrative burdens.  The district councils 
have been allocated a total of £198,956 to cover their administrative burdens.

We are required to prepare a domestic abuse needs assessment and strategy by 
August 2021 and under normal circumstances we would wait until we have the 
outputs from this process to make any decisions on long term investment.  However, 
we need to be mindful that MHCLG will be looking to adjust the next year’s funding 
based on how we have used this year’s funding and if we wait until the needs 
assessment and strategy are complete we have limited time to make commissioning 
decisions within year.  

In light of this, we are proposing to take a two-phase approach to allocation of the 
funding whereby we make an initial investment in areas which we already know, 
through our collective knowledge, improve outcomes and then allocate the remaining 
funds once we have the intelligence from our needs assessment and have agreed a 
strategic direction.

This paper summarises the options for investment to help Board members consider 
the best approach to our initial spend.  

Recommendations to Board: 
We would like the Board to indicate:

 their support for a two-phase approach to investment of the MHCLG funding

 their views either for or against the options laid out in the table

Financial/Resource Implications: 
 As detailed above

Page 114



15

MHCLG Funding Allocation for Gloucestershire 2021/22
Funding Options for Domestic Abuse (DA) Safe Accommodation

Introduction
The Domestic Abuse Bill places a duty on Local Authorities in England to provide 
support to victims of DA and their children in refuges and other safe accommodation. 
The definition of ‘safe accommodation has been kept fairly broad to include: specialist 
safe accommodation; dispersed accommodation; sanctuary schemes; and move-on or 
second stage accommodation amongst others.  The duty includes a requirement to:

 Provide all eligible homeless victims of domestic abuse automatic ‘priority need’ 
for homelessness assistance.

 Ensure that where a local authority, for reasons connected with domestic abuse, 
grants a new secure tenancy to a social tenant who had or has a secure lifetime 
or assured tenancy (other than an assured short hold tenancy) this must be a 
secure lifetime tenancy.

The types of support provided through the new duty to victims of DA and their children 
while in DA safe accommodation, include:

 Advocacy support – development of personal safety plans, liaison with other 
services (for example, GPs and social workers, welfare benefit providers);

 Domestic abuse-prevention advice – support to assist victims to recognise the 
signs of abusive relationships, to help them remain safe (including online) and to 
prevent re-victimisation;

 Specialist support for victims with protected characteristics and/ or complex 
needs, for example, interpreters, faith services, mental health advice and 
support, drug and alcohol advice and support, and immigration advice;

 Children’s support – including play therapy and child advocacy;

 Housing-related support – providing housing-related advice and support, for 
example, securing a permanent home and advice on how to live safely and 
independently; and

 Counselling and therapy for both adults and children.
 
The MHCLG has allocated Gloucestershire County Council £1,105,661 for 2021/22 in 
relation to this duty which includes some funding for the associated administrative 
burdens.  District Councils have been allocated the following amounts to cover their 
administrative burdens only:

Page 115



16

Cheltenham £33,524
Cotswold £33,790
Forest of Dean £31,748
Gloucester £32,639
Stroud £32,440
Tewksbury £34,815
Total £198,956

Understanding the Accommodation Landscape in Gloucestershire

In order for us to be able to prioritise investment and commission appropriately we need 
understand current provision and any gaps we might have. The table below is a 
summary of work that has been completed to get an understanding of the current safe 
accommodation offer across Gloucestershire. 

Emergency Temporary/ short term Move on/ long term
Specialist DA 
Safe 
Accommodation

Places of Safety (x12 units)
Refuge (x9 bed spaces)

Own home with Target 
Hardening or 
Sanctuary 
GreenSquare – move 
on accommodation 
(x12 units tbc)

General Access 
Safe 
Accommodation

B&B (x93)
Rapid Housing 
Pathway

Hostel (x83)
Assessment Centre 
(x14)
Temporary 
Accommodation – self 
contained flats

ABS: 16+ (x141), 
18+ (x190), 
mental health (x40), 
young parents (x19)
Move On 
Accommodation
Social Housing 

In addition to this work, as required by Government we are preparing a DA Needs 
Assessment but this will not be available until July 2021.  It should be noted that as part 
of the Needs Assessment we will be required to consider the offer for DA victims who 
present from outside of Gloucestershire.

Options for Investment
In advance of getting a full understanding of the current offer and level of need (met 
and unmet), we have considered the areas within the DA safe accommodation agenda 
for possible investment. 

I would suggest that we take a two phased approach to investing the MHCLG allocated 
funding. While it is clear that we will be expected to meet our new statutory duties to 
provide support to victims of DA and their children in DA safe accommodation from 
April 2021, any decision about long term investment in this area will need to consider:

 The DA Needs Assessment for Gloucestershire that is required by Government

Page 116



17

 The Domestic Abuse Strategy for Gloucestershire that is also required by 
Government and will be published (anticipated time frame Aug 2021)

 Availability of the MHCLG funding which is currently only made available on an 
annual basis with no guarantee of future funding levels (although there is a 
commitment to fund whilst the statutory duty exists)

 It is also worth noting that the MHCLG funding that tier 1 local authorities receive 
is not ring fenced for DA

Below are a range of funding/ investment options to consider supporting 
Gloucestershire in meeting its statutory duties. 

Options Priority/ 
Timeframe

Lead Investment 
level

Risks/ Issues

1. Places of 
Safety (12 
units)

2. Dispersed 
Refuge (12 
units)

High Priority 
Fund in 
2021/22

Joint: 
Districts & 
GCC

Districts to 
advise based 
on the current 
PoS model

Difficult to identify 
and allocate 
properties to the 
current scheme, 
alternative 
approach to be 
considered with 
Providers on Lot 2 
of DA Framework

3. Stroud 
Beresford 
Refuge
(including 
support for 
children)

High Priority 
Fund in 
2021/22

GCC Unknown, 
need to 
understand 
current 
reliance on 
annual 
MHCLG 
funding 

Need to consider if 
it is possible to 
extend the current 
support to children 
beyond refuge 
residents

4. Flexible 
Funding 
Scheme 

High Priority
Fund in 
2021/22

GCC Unknown, to 
discuss with 
Districts & 
GDASS

None

5. Floating 
Support/ 
Mobile 
Advocacy 

High Priority
Fund in 
2021/22

GCC Work with 
GDASS to 
understand 
current costs 
to be covered. 
Additional 
funding will 
depend on 
other options 
we invest in

Funding will be for 
staff so 
employment terms 
may need to be 
limited to annual 
contracts which 
may mean 
attracting and 
retaining staff is 
difficult

6. Support for 
clients 
receiving 
Target 

High Priority
Fund in 
2021/22

GCC Work with 
GDASS to 
understand 
current costs 

Consider if any 
growth is needed in 
this scheme going 
forward

Page 117



18

Hardening/ 
Sanctuary 
measures 

for approx. 200 
clients per 
year

7. Managed 
Reciprocal’s 

For districts to 
consider and 
advise 
?2021/22

Districts 
via 
Programm
e 
Manageme
nt Team

Low 
investment 
required –
coordinator 
role

Low risk, this 
approach may 
already be in 
operation 

8. Private 
Sector 
Leasing 
Scheme

For districts to 
consider and 
advise 
?2021/22

Districts Districts to 
advise

9. Emergency 
Accommodati
on

For districts to 
consider and 
advise 
?2021/22

Districts Districts to 
advise

10. Move On 
Accommodati
on

For districts to 
consider and 
advise 
?2021/22

Districts Districts to 
advise

Other funding 
streams exist – 
Homes England 
CME programme

11. DA 
Intervention 
Post 

MHCLG 
funding for this 
post due to 
end approx. 
March 2022

Districts Districts to 
advise

12. Specialist 
DA 
Advocates in 
Housing 
Teams

Medium 
priority
Consider 
2022/23

Districts For districts to 
consider and 
advise

Role would need to 
be connected to a 
DA specialist 
provider or affiliated 
to a national body 
for DA

13. DA 
Training for 
the Housing 
Sector

Medium 
priority 
Consider 
2022/23

Districts For districts to 
consider and 
advise

Investment in Lot 5 
of the DA 
Framework could 
be considered

14. DA 
Housing 
Champions

Medium 
priority 
Consider 
2022/23

Joint: 
Districts & 
GCC

Low 
investment 
required –
coordinator 
role

To include as part 
of the current DA 
champions network

15. DA 
Perpetrator 
Management 

Medium 
priority 
Consider 
2022/23

Joint: 
Districts & 
GCC

For districts to 
consider and 
advise

Need to ensure 
connections with 
PRG

16. DA 
Support for 
Children

Medium 
priority 
Consider 
2022/23. 

GCC Need to 
consider with 
CSC 
commissioners

The scope of the 
planned DA needs 
assessment does 
not include under 
16

Page 118



19

17. Intensive 
Housing 
Management

Longer term 
decision needs 
to be informed 
by the DA 
Needs Ass

Joint: 
Districts & 
GCC

18. Housing 
First/ 
Housing Led 
Model

Longer term 
decision needs 
to be informed 
by the DA 
Needs Ass

Joint: 
Districts & 
GCC

19. Specialist 
DA 
Accommodati
on

Longer term 
decision needs 
to be informed 
by the DA 
Needs Ass

Joint: 
Districts & 
GCC

Would require 
high 
investment

Issues with funding 
only being 
guaranteed on an 
annual basis

20. Safe 
Space, Wrap-
around care 
accommodati
on

Longer term 
decision needs 
to be informed 
by the DA 
Needs Ass

Part of the 
complex 
needs 
agenda 

Unknown, 
would be a 
contribution to 
the whole 
model

This would be an 
approach for 
complex needs that 
could include DA 
victims

Further Considerations
 The MHCLG funding is specifically for DA safe accommodation not generic safe 

accommodation, but the grant is not ring fenced, there is however an expectation 
that this funding is spent on delivering the statutory duties.

 Gloucestershire is part of the national refuge network; we need to be clear what 
our contribution to this network is and how this is accessed from outside of 
Gloucestershire. 

 Need to consider accessibility for protected characteristic groups i.e. BAME, 
LGBT, disabled, deaf, older.

 Consider service development that is informed and led by victims or protected 
characteristic groups (by and for approach).

 All decisions to be informed by the voice of the victim (some of the tier 1 
administrative burdens funding will be used to fund a Consultation Group Co-
ordinator that will lead on voice of the victim).

 The Domestic Abuse Bill/ Act promotes the Whole Housing Approach (WHA), 
the government is likely to seek evidence of this approach in the DA needs 
assessment and resulting DA Strategy and commissioning approach. The WHA 
includes; DAHA accreditation flexible funding, mobile advocacy, Sanctuary, 
perpetrator management, managed reciprocals. For Districts to consider what 
additional investment is needed across different aspects of the system to look at 
the scope of this activity and implementing aspects of the WHA. 

Page 119



20

 Need to ensure that there is adequate capacity in the housing sector going 
forward to be able to facilitate the DA agenda, including; promoting the strategic 
DA agenda, leading on the Whole Housing Approach (WHA), development of DA 
Housing Pathway, commissioning and contract management activity, data 
collection and analysis, oversight of training, dealing with issues and blockages 
in the housing pathway, engagement with the private rented/ owned sector. 

 Consider the need for investment to support DA victims with No Recourse to 
Public Funds in accessing DA safe accommodation. Need to confirm if the 
MHCLG funding can be used in this way or if there is alternative funding for this 
group. 

Description of the Options Presented

1. Places of Safety: Development of the current Places of Safety model with the 
addition of at least 24 new units with specialist support and housing management. 
To discuss possible options with the Districts (who commission the current model 
via GreenSquare) and Providers awarded to Lot 2 of the DA Commissioning 
Framework. This offer is subject to a homelessness application, prioritising 
homelessness over DA risk. – Joint commissioning

2. Dispersed Refuge: These are self contained single units of accommodation 
available to all DA victim groups with high level specialist DA support provided. The 
specialist DA support could be attached to the units or commissioned via the 
GDASS contract. The routes to access and prioritisation for these units may be 
different to the Places of Safety. This accommodation would prioritise DA risk over a 
homelessness duty. – Joint commissioning

3. Stroud Beresford: Consider what investment is required by the current refuge in 
Gloucestershire. Also consider the expansion of the children’s play worker offer – 
Commissioning by GCC

4. Flexible Funding Scheme: Part of the WHA, this is a funding pot (held by a 
coordinator within the specialist domestic abuse service) which offers timely and 
bespoke personalisation funding to victims of domestic abuse for housing related 
needs. The funds would allow the individual with their domestic abuse worker to 
apply for funding for goods or services that they identify would help them access or 
maintain accommodation. Flexible funding would be awarded if it met this purpose, 
regardless of eligibility or evidence of the individual’s’ financial circumstances or 
experience of abuse, providing other funding avenues did not meet the need or had 
rejected the application. This empowers the individual to be able to identify and 
meet needs or address barriers that might otherwise prevent them from accessing 
safe and secure housing, and without incurring a debt or financial burden through 
loans. – Joint Commissioning led by GCC

5. Floating Support/ Mobile Advocacy: Part of the WHA, increasing investment in 
the current community based model to cover the cost of current support in DA safe 
accommodation settings and facilitate additional capacity to offer support in any new 

Page 120



21

DA safe accommodation settings and to provide additional capacity for additional 
referrals from housing. – Commissioning by GCC

6. Target Hardening and Sanctuary Scheme: Part of the WHA, support element to 
be provided for victims/ survivors in receipt of security measures via this scheme. 
The scheme is currently funded by the Districts x6 and OPCC. The support element 
would be provided by GDASS as part of their service offer. – Commissioned by 
GCC

7. Managed Reciprocal’s: Part of the Whole Housing Approach (WHA), social 
housing tenants can have planned but expedient move away from an area where 
they are at risk of domestic abuse, to an area that they have identified would meet 
their needs, without losing their security of tenure, whilst also balancing demand on 
providers and receiving districts. This could be beneficial in Gloucestershire to 
ensure equity of moves across six districts through multiple registered providers with 
varying levels of stock. We would need to understand the willingness of social 
housing providers to support this approach (Is this approach already taken as part of 
the Homeseekers Policy?) – Commissioning by Districts)

8. Private Sector Leasing Scheme: The local authority leases properties from private 
landlords to use as temporary accommodation, as well as carrying out the property 
management functions. Private sector leasing could provide a range of 
accommodation types and sizes across the county, rather than relying on where 
registered providers hold stock, which would give more flexibility in meeting the 
housing and safety needs identified by victims of domestic abuse while waiting for a 
long-term housing solution. – Commissioning by Districts

9. Emergency Accommodation for DA victims: It is suggested by the Districts that 
at any given time they have approximately 100 DA victims in emergency and 
temporary accommodation. To work with the Districts to consider the current 
temporary accommodation offer and what might be needed in terms of increasing 
the capacity and suitability of emergency accommodation options for DA victims. 
Noting that for the MHCLG funding to be used for this purpose the accommodation 
would have to be DA specific, self contained and safe. – Commissioning by Districts

10.Move On Accommodation: To increase the volume of move on permanent 
accommodation in Gloucestershire to facilitate a faster throughput of the specialist 
DA accommodation. To work with the Districts to consider the move on 
accommodation that is currently available in Gloucestershire and consider what 
additional capacity might be needed to support DA victims with a timely move on to 
settled accommodation. (Engagement with social housing providers – GreenSquare 
purchasing 12 properties) - Joint commissioning led by Districts

11.DA Intervention Post: Supports complex cases in temporary accommodation to 
look at longer term and sustainable accommodation solutions

12.Specialist DA Workers in Housing Teams: IDVAs or specialist DA support 
workers in housing teams. These could be specialist DA workers that housing teams 

Page 121



22

employ and manage directly or they could be specialist staff from a DA service that 
are co-located in the housing teams. Scope, function and volume of the role would 
need to be discussed with the Districts. - Commissioning by Districts

13.DA Training: Development of a training pathway for housing professionals 
including; DA awareness, DA housing protocol, risk assessment & DASH 
completion, safety planning and addressing DA, to be considered across the 
housing sector. Investment in the development and delivery of training for the 
housing sector. This could be commissioned through Lot 5 of the DA 
Commissioning Framework. – Commissioned by Districts

14.DA Housing Champions: role out the professional DA Champions network within 
the housing sector. Additional investment would be needed to support GDASS or an 
alternative provider to develop and support this approach within housing on an 
ongoing basis. – Joint commissioning led by Districts

15.Domestic Abuse Perpetrator Management: Part of the WHA, consideration to be 
given to the accommodation needs of perpetrators of DA to reflect our model that 
where appropriate and safe to do so the victim and children are enabled to stay in 
the family home with the perpetrator needed to seek alternative accommodation 
arrangements. To discuss with District colleagues how this is proactively managed 
and any additional investment that might be needed in the system to support this 
approach. To ensure that any housing approach that proactively engages with 
perpetrators of domestic abuse, considers the offer of support that is available 
through the county’s commissioned perpetrator service (Positive Relationships 
Gloucestershire). Also consider the impact of the new DAPO/ DAPN, when these 
come into effect. For the housing sector as a whole to take a proactive approach to 
DA perpetrator management ensuring understanding of how the proactive 
management of a perpetrator will contribute to the safety of a victim and their 
children. Need to understand if there are any resources or training needs across the 
housing sector as a whole to facilitate this approach. – Joint commissioning led by 
Districts

16.DA Support for Children:  Consider what support is needed for the children on DA 
victims receiving support in DA safe accommodation. Need to fully understand the 
accommodation where accessing this support is appropriate i.e. in a Refuge. Need 
to understand the scope of the support that it would be appropriate to offer. To work 
with the CSC Commissioning colleagues to consider what is currently available in 
Gloucestershire and consider what additional or new capacity might be needed to 
support the children of DA victims in safe accommodation. – Commissioned by GCC

17. Intensive Housing Management Model: Provision of properties owned or leased 
by a local authority, charity or registered provider which could serve as second 
stage accommodation option or as longer term move-on accommodation for victims 
of domestic abuse who need a level of support from their landlord beyond that of 
basic property management functions in order to maintain their tenancy. Would 
need to work with the Districts to understand the demand for this approach and the 
benefits that this would bring for victims of DA and the housing system as a whole – 
Joint commissioning led by Districts

Page 122



23

18.Housing First or Housing Led Model: It may be appropriate to consider these 
approaches for domestic abuse victims with complex needs who DA services have 
previously found difficult to engage. These clients may be more difficult to place in 
traditional refuge placements and may find a dispersed refuge or place of safety 
offer difficult to manage. High intensity support would be provided to secure a long 
term tenancy, while noting that the model does not require the client to engage with 
support. A wrap around flexible, responsive support package would be provided to 
adjust to the specific needs of victims over time, while ensuring that they have the 
security of their own accommodation which continues even after the need for 
support ends. Housing would typically be offered through social landlords so that 
there is an offer of permanent housing, and an affordable rent. This approach does 
require having providers who are willing to deliver to this model. – Joint 
Commissioning

19.Specialist DA Safe Accommodation:  This is specialist accommodation is for 
specific groups of DA victims i.e. specialist refuge provision for LGBT, BAME, 
disability, multiple complex needs. The support provided will be bespoke for a 
specific identified group. We would need the full detail of the DA Needs Assessment 
prior to making any decisions about investment in this specialist support. – Joint 
commissioning

20.Safe Space, Wrap-around Care Accommodation: In relation to adults 
experiencing multiple disadvantages, the ambition would be to create asset-based, 
wrap around support to complement and enhance the current pathway of services 
and help people with complex needs to feel safe and listened to.  This would be 
through: building a ‘multiple agency/expertise’ in-reach and outreach workforce, 
especially targeting those clients not in touch with specialist services; and creating 
safe spaces for those who need a stable environment in order to engage with 
in/outreach staff as needed on their journey

Summary

In the context of our current community based support model, we are looking to make 
initial investment decisions that will help support our statutory obligations whilst we 
undertake our full needs assessment and consider any recommendations.  We would 
like the Board to indicate:

 their support for a two phase approach to investment of the MHCLG funding
 their views either for or against the options laid out above

Page 123



24

Appendix 2: Options not being considered in 2021/22

The options below are NOT being considered as part of the 2021/22 MHCLG 
funding allocation
7. Managed 
Reciprocal’s 
Districts

Decision not to progress:
Not clear that there is currently demand and while some value was 
recognised this could possibly be met by operational policies through the 
statutory framework as agreed between districts.

8. Private 
Sector 
Leasing 
Scheme
Districts

Decision not to progress:
Not realistic to mobilise a new service within timelines.   There may be 
scope to utilise accommodation through an existing district partnership 
contract.  This can be explored further in due course.

9. 
Emergency 
Accommoda
tion
Districts

Decision to not progress: can be explored further following the outcome 
of the needs assessment.  The expansion of the Domestic Abuse 
Intervention Officer post (Option 11) will provide support to victims in 
emergency accommodation.  
We are open to further exploration of this option following the needs 
assessment e.g. if there is a need for an emergency accommodation unit 
tailored to specific needs.  We will also need to monitor the demand for 
emergency accommodation through Homelessness Reduction Act 
applications.
The preferred delivery of emergency/temporary accommodation is the 
Places of Safety/Dispersed Refuge model.

10. Move On 
Accommoda
tion
Districts

Not a priority for this financial year.
We may in future want to seek a support officer(s) to work specifically 
with move-on options but this is not a current priority.  

15. DA 
Perpetrator 
Management 

Medium 
priority 

Conside
r 

2022/23

Joint: 
District

s & 
GCC

For districts to consider and advise Need to ensure 
connections 
with PRG

16. DA 
Support for 
Children

Medium 
priority 

Conside
r 

2022/23
.

GCC Need to consider with CSC 
commissioners

The scope of 
the planned DA 
needs 
assessment 
does not 
include under 
16

17. Intensive 
Housing 
Management

Longer 
term 

decision 
needs 
to be 

informe
d by the 

DA 
Needs 

Joint: 
District

s & 
GCC

For districts to consider and advise 
once the needs assessment is 
complete

Page 124



25

Ass
18. Housing 
First/ 
Housing Led 
Model

Longer 
term 

decision 
needs 
to be 

informe
d by the 

DA 
Needs 

Ass

Joint: 
District

s & 
GCC

19. 
Specialist 
DA 
Accommoda
tion

Longer 
term 

decision 
needs 
to be 

informe
d by the 

DA 
Needs 

Ass

Joint: 
District

s & 
GCC

Would require high investment Issues with 
funding only 
being 
guaranteed on 
an annual basis

20. Safe 
Space, 
Wrap-
around care 
accommodat
ion

Longer 
term 

decision 
needs 
to be 

informe
d by the 

DA 
Needs 

Ass

Part of 
the 

comple
x 

needs 
agend

a

Unknown, would be a contribution 
to the whole model

This would be 
an approach for 
complex needs 
that could 
include DA 
victims

Page 125



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TITLE: Elected Member Community Grant Scheme Build Back Better – Councillor 
Scheme 

Cabinet Date 21st July 2021 

Cabinet Member Cllr Lynden Stowe
Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance and Change

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report This report will seek to establish a four-year grant scheme running to 31 
January 2025, where Councillors are each allocated £40,000 in total to 
spend within their division across this period. 

Recommendations

That the Cabinet delegates authority to the Executive Director of Adult Social 
Care and Public Health to authorise the allocation of the grants in accordance 
with the criteria and financial regulations in consultation with the Deputy 
Leader and Cabinet Member – Finance and Change 

Reasons for 
recommendations

To provide a light touch community initiative grant programme that is 
accessible to all voluntary and community groups to help communities 
recover, rebuild and protect themselves from the impacts of Covid19.

There is an existing robust process that was adopted for the Growing Our 
Communities Grant programme from 2018 – 2021 which will be adopted to 
ensure compliance with accounting instructions and governance 
requirements.

Resource 
Implications

The total funding proposed is £2.12 million over 4 years with the available 
funding sources being  

£530k from the Contain Outbreak Management Fund (Including 
£5,000 per elected member as agreed at full Council on 17 February 
2021)
£1,060k from unringfenced Covid monies (£1.06m)
£530k from general fund reserves (£0.53m)

Page 127

Agenda Item 11



Background 
Documents

Member grant scheme conditions
Growing Our Communities Fund - Gloucestershire County Council

Statutory Authority Gloucestershire County Council 

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

All 

Officer Diana Billingham
Telephone: 01452 328609
Email: Diana.Billingham@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Timeline July 2021 – launch Year 1 of Build Back Better – Councillor Scheme 
supported with extensive communications plan and guidance for Councillors 
December 2021 – Review and analyse distribution of grants allocations to 
ensure there are no barriers to accessing grants and improve 
communications and engagement 
March 2022 – Review and evaluate distribution of grants awarded. Update 
Communications strategy to include projects supported to encourage other 
applicants 

Page 128

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/business-property-and-economy/finance-funding-and-grants/growing-our-communities-fund/
mailto:Diana.Billingham@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Background 

1.1 Gloucestershire County Council has implemented three Councillor-led grant schemes 
since 2014 – Active Together, the Children’s Activity Fund and Growing our Communities.  
Over 1500 small grants have been awarded to community groups across the county.  This 
shift towards smaller funding pots for local groups has led to new ways of working 
collaboratively with communities in terms of grant provision and has enabled 
Gloucestershire County Council to broker new, improved and trusted relationships with 
the Voluntary and Community Sector.  This has now become firmly embedded in the ways 
the Council operates and they have expanded into other thematic areas.   An engaged 
grant making approach with applicants and councillors who are empowered to make a 
difference in their communities leads to a greater sense of ownership.

1.2 The purpose of the grants programme is to invest in local community groups which are 
vital to the county’s recovery from the pandemic as we support our communities to “Build 
Back Better”.  It will give light touch funding to community initiatives that: 

 Help communities to recover, rebuild and protect themselves from the impacts of 
Covid-19

 Promote and encourage community health and wellbeing
 Improve digital inclusion 
 Promote nature and/or the environment
 Promote healthy lifestyles
 Encourage safer neighbourhoods. 

1.3 The scheme will be called the Build Back Better – Councillor Scheme

1.4 Each Councillor will have £40,000 to spend in their division over 4 years from July 2021 
until 31 January 2025.  Potential applicants will be signposted to their local County 
Councillor prior to submitting a Grant application as all applications must be supported by 
the local Member.

1.5  The scheme will afford Councillors the flexibility to award their entire £40,000 allocation to 
one project or across several in their division.  There will be no lower limit. Councillors 
may also submit joint bids for projects that cross divisional boundaries.  While 
accountability for the final decision will rest with the Executive Director of Adult Social 
Care and Public Health (in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Change), the criteria for the scheme are deliberately broad in order to provide the 
maximum flexibility to community groups and Councillors in developing and supporting 
proposals.  The expectation is that Councillor supported bids will be approved wherever it 
would be lawful to do so.  Where a bid cannot be supported there will be full engagement 
with the Councillor before an application is refused.

1.6 The following groups will be eligible to apply:

 Community or voluntary groups

 Registered Charities

 Community Interest Companies

Page 129



 Town and Parish Councils

 Sports groups and associations

 Schools and Academies

 Religious Groups where the application demonstrates that the project will bring 

wider community benefit and the primary purpose of the activity is not religious

 Patient led support groups 

 Organisations located outside of Gloucestershire where the application 

demonstrates that the funding will primarily directly benefit a Gloucestershire 

community. 

Options

2.1 Option 1 – Allocate £2.12 million to a Councillor led grant scheme to invest in local 
community groups to ‘Build back better’ administered by staff in the Prevention Wellbeing and 
Communities team

2.2 Option 2 – Cabinet do not approve the creation of a Councillor led grant scheme

Risks 

1.1 There is a risk that the fund will not be used equitably across all electoral division.  This 
will be mitigated by a robust communications plan and working actively with the voluntary 
and community sector networks and with Councillors.

1.2 There is a risk that the groups that most need support are unable to access the grant 
process.  To mitigate this, officers will collaborate with colleagues from the District 
Councils, Town and Parish Councils and Voluntary sector infrastructure agencies to 
support community groups with the application process. 

Financial implications

 The total grant budget of £2.12m will be funded as follows:
£530k from Contain Outbreak Management Fund (COMF) (Including £5,000 per 
elected member as agreed at full Council on 17 February 2021 
£1,060k from unringfenced Covid monies (£1.06m)
 £530k from general fund reserves (£0.53m)

Climate change implications

 The grants programme will actively encourage green infrastructure, environmental and 
active travel projects which will contribute positively to reducing the carbon footprint.

Page 130



Equality implications

 The fund has the potential to impact positively on under represented groups and those 
more adversely affected by the impacts of Covid19.   The main aim of the programme is 
to reduce health inequalities and level up opportunities.  The fund will be proactively 
promoted in a range of ways including via county councillors, staff, GCC’s social media 
channels (Facebook, Twitter, Instagram and Next Door), media contacts, community 
champions and groups, district councils and other public sector partners, town and 
parish councils. 

Has an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) been completed? Yes 

Cabinet Members should read and consider the Equalities Impact Assessment in order to 
satisfy themselves as decision makers that due regard has been given.

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

 None identified

Social value implications

 The grants programme will enable communities to act for themselves, be innovative 
and create the right conditions for building resilience and developing aspiration.  An 
engaged grant making process allows for flexibility to ensure the greatest impact and to 
encourage sustainability.

Consultation feedback

 Engagement has taken place with senior officers and lead Cabinet Members.

Officer recommendations

 That the Cabinet delegates authority to the Executive Director of Adult Social Care and 
Public Health to authorise the allocation of the grants in accordance with the criteria 
and financial regulations in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Change. 

Performance Management/Follow-up 

A review meeting will take place every six months between the officers responsible for 
overseeing the scheme and the Cabinet Member for Finance and Change.

Feedback from County Councillors will be monitored and fed into the review.

Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TITLE: Provision of Food Waste Transfer Services

Cabinet Date 21st July 2021

Cabinet Member Cllr David Gray, Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To consider future options for the provision of food waste transfer services 
for the delivery of food waste from districts to the central treatment facility, 
and to seek approval to put in place the preferred option for the award of a 
contract for these services to commence 1st October 2021.

Recommendations

That Cabinet: 

1. Awards a contract for the provision of Food Waste Transfer Services in 
Gloucestershire to the local authority owned and controlled “Teckal” 
company known as Ubico Limited in which Gloucestershire County 
Council (GCC) is a shareholder. The proposed contract shall continue for 
an initial period of 8 years (commencing 1st October 2021) and include an 
option to extend its term for a further period of not more than 2 years; 
and,

2. Delegates authority to the Executive Director for Economy, Environment 
and Infrastructure, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Environment and Planning to determine whether to exercise such option 
to extend on the expiry of the initial 8 year term.

2) 

Reasons for 
recommendations

To comply with the Councils statutory duties as a Waste Disposal Authority.

Resource 
Implications

The contract award described in this report will be undertaken using existing 
staff and financial resources.
The annual contract value will vary depending upon the amount of food waste 
collected and the haulage distances from each collection point.  
Notwithstanding this, the estimated total value of the proposed contract shall 
be £1.6M for the initial term and a further £400k if the council elects to 
exercise the above-mentioned two year extension option. 
The cost of implementing the recommendations set out in this report will be 
met from within existing budgets.

Page 133

Agenda Item 12



Background 
Documents

The requirement for the continued provision of food waste transfer services 
arises from a previous decision by Cabinet in March 2021 to award a contract 
for the treatment of food waste:
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1622

Statutory Authority Environmental Protection Act 1990 s.51(1) and Waste (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2011 regulation12

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

All

Officer Name:     Andy Pritchard
Tel. no:   01452 427014
Email:     andy.pritchard@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Timeline Contract commences 1st October 2021.

Page 134

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1622


Background 

1. The separate collection and treatment of food waste is an established service 
throughout Gloucestershire. All 6 district councils offer a weekly kerbside 
collection service to householders, whilst the County Council provides the 
treatment facility and any necessary haulage from district depots to the 
treatment facility, located in Bishops Cleeve. In 2020/21 the service collected 
and treated a total of 24,400 tonnes of food waste.

2. In order to deliver maximum efficiency in the service, food waste from Stroud 
District, Gloucester City, Cotswold District and Forest of Dean District is bulked 
before being transferred to the treatment facility. This amounted to 17,000 
tonnes in 2020/21. Due to the proximity of the treatment facility to Cheltenham 
Borough and Tewkesbury Borough, food waste from these areas is delivered 
directly by the collection vehicles at no additional cost to the County Council.

3. Current food waste haulage arrangements are in place with a number of local 
private sector operators. Each arrangement was established separately over 
the past decade at the time when district council food waste collections 
commenced. Four different providers are used to service the four district depots 
currently served, meaning that the council has a good understanding of the 
local market and the costs associated with the delivery of this service. 

4. Following a formal tender process, a new contract for the continued treatment 
of food waste has recently been awarded to the incumbent provider 
(Andigestion, at Bishops Cleeve) and will run for up to 10 years (an initial 8 year 
term, with a 2 year extension). This ongoing commitment to divert food waste 
from the residual waste stream will necessitate the continued provision of food 
waste haulage from all areas except Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Boroughs.

5. Food waste transfer arrangements are required to be renewed in Stroud 
District, Gloucester City and Forest of Dean District by 1st October 2021. 
Current arrangements to transfer food waste from Cotswold District will 
continue until November 2025, after which time a two-year contract extension 
may be exercised or a new arrangement will be required.

6 Options for the delivery of food waste haulage services are discussed below.

Options

7. Option 1 - Do nothing - This is not a viable option as the provision of these 
services is a statutory obligation under the Environmental Protection Act 1990 
s51. Failure to provide separate collections and treatment for food waste would 
mean this waste would instead be treated as residual household waste. This 
would not be in keeping with national or local policy on reducing residual waste 
and would also result in significant additional costs to the council.

8. Option 2 – Enter into an agreement with Ubico Ltd to deliver Food Waste 
Transfer Services (Recommended) - The County Council retains a 

Page 135



shareholding in Ubico Ltd. This means the council may direct award the 
proposed contract to Ubico Limited under the Teckal exemption codified in 
Regulation 12 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015, rather than procure 
the required services from the open market. The said Teckal exemption is 
available to the council in view of the fact that Ubico Ltd is a local authority 
owned and controlled company. This direct contract award would save 
reprocurement costs in the region of £25-30k.

9 The contract would include transfer of food waste from Stroud District, 
Gloucester City and Forest of Dean District collection areas from the 
commencement date. Food waste transfer from Cotswold District collection 
area would be included once the current arrangements expire. Cheltenham 
Borough Council and Tewkesbury Borough Council would continue to deliver 
food waste directly to the treatment facility without the need for the County 
Council to provide a transfer service.

10 The contract would be delivered at cost and the council would not pay a profit 
margin, which would need to be charged by a private sector provider. Ubico 
has provided a quotation based on service information supplied by the council’s 
waste management team. It will provide the service without an increase in 
managerial overheads, which would be achieved by using the existing HRC 
and fleet management services provided to the council. The anticipated cost of 
the proposed contract with Ubico Ltd would be lower than that currently paid; 
this may be a 20% reduction on existing costs achieved over the life of the 
contract. There may also be an opportunity to explore further efficiencies and 
optimisation across the wider Ubico portfolio, for example through combined 
fleet provision with the HRC service. This would offer greater flexibility and 
resilience to both the food waste transfer and HRC haulage arrangements in 
future.

11 Aligning contract length/s with the existing food waste treatment contract (up to 
30th September 2029, plus an option to extend up to a further two years) would 
ensure continuity of service throughout this period.

12 Option 3 - Procure the service from the commercial market by way of a 
competitive procurement process - There remains an option to go to the 
market to re-procure the service.  This option would involve the setting up of a 
project team to deliver a procurement exercise which would require legal, 
technical and financial advice.  

13 There is a viable local market for the provision of suitable private sector 
haulage services. This includes local haulage companies and waste services 
operators. Current arrangements for the provision of these services are in place 
with a number of these commercial operators. These arrangements have 
generally been reliable over the years, but a recent service failing meant that 
the council had to instruct Ubico to step in for a short period of time, when the 
existing contractor was unable to fulfil its obligations due to a driver shortage. 
Ubico proved during this short period that it was able to mobilise quickly and 
deliver the service to the required standard.

Page 136



14 Contract/s could be procured from one or more commercial operators and the 
duration of these could be aligned with the food waste treatment contract. This 
procurement exercise would cost in the region of £25-£30k and the cost of the 
resulting services would include a profit margin that would need to be charged 
by the commercial operators. A comparison of costs charged by the council’s 
existing private sector hauliers against the quotation provided by Ubico 
suggests that this option is more expensive, with a differential of around 20% 
possible over the life of the proposed contract. 

15 Option 4 – Instruct districts to deliver food waste direct to the treatment 
facility – Direct delivery of food waste is currently undertaken by Cheltenham 
Borough Council and Tewkesbury Borough Council due to the close proximity 
of these collection areas to the treatment facility. The County Council provides 
a waste transfer service to all other districts from their collection round areas.

16 There is a theoretical option to require all waste collection authorities to deliver 
food waste direct to the treatment facility. This would require the County 
Council to make a ‘reasonable payment’ to the district as a contribution to the 
costs they incur. In 2019 the County Council adopted a ‘tipping away policy’ to 
guide this process in the event that it is utilised. However, in the case of food 
waste, there are overriding practical problems with this, as described below.

17 Food waste collections are often undertaken with other recycling collections, 
resulting in a mix of materials being carried on one collection vehicle. By 
requiring the waste collection authorities to drive to multiple locations to tip 
(typically with relatively small tonnages of each material), waste collections 
would be significantly disrupted due to the additional drive times involved. 
Waste collection logistics are based upon local delivery points and it would be 
unreasonable to require these vehicles to dispose of food waste outside their 
collection areas. In addition, kerbside collection vehicles are not configured to 
undertake bulk haulage. This option would increase the number of journeys 
made by collection vehicles and add significant additional cost to district council 
collections. It would represent a major disruption to their current operations as 
well as increasing the environmental impact of the service. It would not be 
deliverable within the necessary timescales and would be strongly opposed by 
district councils.

18 There are therefore two viable options to consider in delivering this service; a 
direct award to Ubico (option 2) or procurement from a commercial operator 
(option 3). A direct award to Ubico is likely to deliver the most financially 
beneficial outcome in terms of service costs and offers the potential for further 
efficiencies.

Risks 

19 Haulage services are well established and the transfer of food waste from the 
collection points to the treatment facility is low risk. Ubico is an established 
vehicle operator that consistently achieves a “green” rating from the regular 
inspections undertaken by the Vehicle and Operator Services Agency. Ubico 
runs a fleet of some 450 vehicles, including a fleet of hook-loader vehicles for 

Page 137



the council’s HRC service. A similar vehicle would be dedicated to the food 
waste haulage service.

20 The transfer service can be flexible in order to respond to changing amounts of 
waste. Food waste is bulked at the collection point. And only full containers of 
waste will be transferred at any one time. The frequency of transfer 
requirements can be set up to respond to this. A direct contract award to Ubico 
Ltd, allows the food waste haulage and HRC materials haulage operations to 
be combined. This provides the food waste service with access to a greater 
number of vehicles and drivers to call upon in the event of any unforeseen 
circumstances such as vehicle breakdowns or sickness absence. 

21 There is always a small risk that transfer is disrupted by road closures. These 
are generally temporary, and in most cases an alternative route can be used. 
This is therefore considered be a low risk. This risk would apply to any chosen 
provider.

Financial implications

22 The provision of food waste transfer is a fundamental requirement of the food 
waste collection and treatment process, and this service has been in place for 
many years with the commercial market. As a result, the budget exists to 
provide the service without the need to seek additional funding. Our current 
operations are paid at commercial rates, and with this market knowledge it is 
anticipated that the recommended option would provide good value, with a 
quotation received from Ubico demonstrating a potential saving of up to 20% 
overall. In addition, by awarding to Ubico a further £25k in procurement costs 
would be avoided. By combining the bulk haulage fleet with the HRC 
operations, there is a potential for further savings to be realised over the life of 
the contract as well as increased resilience and flexibility to respond to 
changing circumstances without recourse to contract negotiations with external 
providers.

Climate change implications

23 The provision of these services ensures that the benefits of separate food 
waste collection and treatment are maximised. By transferring bulked amounts 
of food waste, the numbers of haulage journeys are kept to a minimum, thereby 
reducing the overall haulage miles and emissions which would arise from direct 
delivery using lower capacity waste collection vehicles. 

Equality implications

24 Has an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) been completed?   No

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

25. No Data Protection Impact Assessment implications.

Social value implications

Page 138



26 As a local employer, Ubico have a good track record of training their staff and 
providing promotion opportunities; in this instance a driver training programme 
that allows operations staff to train as HGV drivers. This provides staff with 
development opportunities, benefits the local economy and also helps us 
overcome a national shortage of drivers. 

Consultation feedback

27 Consultation has taken place with Ubico, the Lead Cabinet Member and Senior 
Officers in the preparation of this report.

Officer recommendations

28 That Cabinet 

 Awards a contract for the provision of Food Waste Transfer Services in 
Gloucestershire to the local authority owned and controlled “Teckal” 
company known as Ubico Limited in which Gloucestershire County 
Council (GCC) is a shareholder. The proposed contract shall continue 
for an initial period of 8 years (commencing 1st October 2021) and 
include an option to extend its term for a further period of not more than 
2 years; and,

 Delegates authority to the Executive Director for Economy, 
Environment and Infrastructure, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Environment and Planning to determine whether to 
exercise such option to extend on the expiry of the initial 8 year term.

Performance Management/Follow-up 

29 Performance will be measured in terms of haulage efficiency, service cost and 
service availability. These metrics are monitored on an ongoing basis, with 
costs being reported within the monthly forecasting for the relevant cost centre. 
Ubico services are already reviewed regularly, with formal reporting and review 
taking place on a quarterly basis. This new transfer operation would be 
included as part of this exercise. 

Page 139



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TITLE: Arle Court Transport Hub – Contract Procurement and Ancillary 
Orders

Cabinet Date 21st July 2021

Cabinet Member Cllr David Gray - Environment and Planning 

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of 
Report

 To seek Cabinet approval for the Executive Director of 
Economy, Environment & Infrastructure to conduct a series 
of competitive procurement processes in respect of the 
contracts described in the Recommendations section of this 
report for the supply of construction works and advanced 
highways and civils works in relation to the Arle Court 
Transport Hub scheme; and 

 To award such contracts, upon the conclusion of such 
procurement processes, to the preferred tenderers evaluated 
as offering the Council the most economically advantageous 
tenders.

Recommendatio
ns

That Cabinet delegates authority to the Executive Director of 
Economy, Environment & Infrastructure (in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning) to:

1. Conduct a competitive procurement process under the 
council’s Contractor Partnering Framework Agreement: 
Major Construction Works 2019, Lot 2 in respect of a call-off 
contract for the supply of construction works in relation to the 
Arle Court Transport Hub scheme; 

2. Conduct a separate competitive procurement process in 
respect of a contract for the delivery of advanced highways 
and civil engineering works in relation to the Arle Court 
Transport Hub scheme;

3. Award such contract to the preferred tenderers;

4. Make such ancillary traffic regulation orders as are required 
in order to successfully implement the Arle Court Transport 
Hub scheme (to include, amongst other things, temporary 
traffic regulation orders (TTRO’s) for temporary speed limits 

Page 141

Agenda Item 13



etc. during the construction phase of the scheme).

Reasons for 
recommendatio
ns

The proposed decision will enable the Council to engage suppliers 
through the procurement mechanisms above for the purpose of 
securing construction contracts in respect of the Arle Court 
Transport Hub scheme, which will provide the best opportunity to 
meet the timescales set out in the Homes England Grant 
Determination Agreement for the M5 Junction 10 Project.

Resource 
Implications

The Arle Court Transport Hub scheme will be funded through the 
successful bid to Homes England Housing Infrastructure Fund 
(HIF) for £249m for the M5 Junction 10 scheme. 
The procurement strategy for the construction of Arle Court 
Transport Hub involves the council’s use of its existing Asset 
Management and Property Services (AMPS) Contractor 
Partnering Framework Agreement: Major Construction Works 
2019, Lot 2 which has been used in the past for the council’s 
Gloucester Transport Hub and Quayside House projects. 
Contracts let under this framework can be used to provide early 
contract involvement from the Design and Build Contractor. 
The Arle Court Transport Hub procurement strategy also includes 
a separate contract for the delivery of the advanced highways and 
civil engineering works. This approach delivers best value and 
allows an earlier construction start date. 
The Executive Director of Economy, Environment & Infrastructure 
will keep the procurement strategy under review and may make 
minor updates at a later date for reasons that would be 
advantageous for the Council in response to changes to project 
risk, programme or cost constraints. 
The Arle Court Transport Hub scheme is programmed to start on 
site (subject to planning approval) in Autumn 2022. The estimated 
value of the advanced highway and civil engineering works 
contract thereunder is estimated at less than £3m, with the total 
value of the scheme (including all contracts) valued as 
approximately £20m.
As scheme promoter, the County Council will be liable for the full 
cost of the scheme contracts. If additional funding is required, it 
will be secured prior to the award of the construction contract. Any 
additional cost will be funded from within the wider M5 J10 
scheme funding, or alternative funding, such as sustainability 
funding (e.g. for photovoltaic cells), highways capital programme, 
S106 developer contributions, Community Infrastructure Levy, etc.
As stated in the County Council’s Constitution, ‘Directors are 
responsible for ensuring that variations in capital project estimates 
that occur during the course of a contract are contained within the 
resources allocated to that service’. The scheme’s costs will be 

Page 142



monitored and managed accordingly.

Background 
Documents

 Gloucestershire’s Adopted Local Transport Plan 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/gloucestershires-
local-transport-plan-2020-2041/ 

 Joint Core Strategy 
https://www.jointcorestrategy.org

 M5 Junction 10 Improvement Scheme; Revenue budget 
approval and Homes England contract conditions agreement
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx
?ID=1493 

Statutory 
Authority

Highways Act 1980
Traffic Management Act 2004
Local Transport Act 2008
Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013
Infrastructure Act 2015

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

Cllr Roger Whyborn - Benhall and Up Hatherley 

Officer Any representations should be sent to:
Name: Kath Haworth, Head of Highway Authority
Email: Kathryn.Haworth@gloucestershire.gov.uk
Tel: 01452 328792

Timeline Outline design (for planning) – Summer 2021
Submit planning application – Autumn 2021
Consultation (as part of planning application) – Autumn 2021
Procurement – Autumn / Winter 2021
Construction Start – Autumn 2022
Construction End – Autumn 2023

Page 143

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/gloucestershires-local-transport-plan-2020-2041/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/gloucestershires-local-transport-plan-2020-2041/
https://www.jointcorestrategy.org/
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1493
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1493


Background

1. Gloucestershire faces significant challenges to achieve its vision for economic growth. A 
Joint Core Strategy (JCS) – a partnership between Gloucester City Council, Cheltenham 
Borough Council and Tewkesbury Borough Council was adopted to produce a coordinated 
strategic development plan to show how the area will develop during the period up to 2031. 
This includes a shared spatial vision targeting 35,175 new homes and 39,500 new jobs. 
Major development of new housing (c.9,000 homes) and employment land (c.100ha) is 
proposed in strategic and safeguarded allocations in the West and North West of 
Cheltenham. This, in turn, is linked to wider economic investment, including a government 
supported and nationally significant Cyber Park 2 adjacent to GCHQ, predicted to generate 
c.7,000 jobs.

2. To unlock the housing and job opportunities in Gloucestershire around Junction 10 of the 
M5, additional highway capacity is required to accommodate the expected increased 
motorised and non-motorised traffic. In March 2019, a Business Case was submitted by 
Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) to the Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF), wherein 
an investment case was made for the following infrastructure improvements, which 
together make up the M5 Junction 10 Improvements Scheme:

 An all-movements junction at M5 Junction 10
 A new West Cheltenham Link Road from J10
 Widening of the A4019 to the east of the Link Road
 A38/A4019 junction improvements at Coombe Hill
 Extension to Arle Court Park and Interchange

3. This Cabinet Paper Report relates to the procurement of the final element; expansion of 
the existing Arle Court Park and Ride site to form a new transport interchange, now known 
as Arle Court Transport Hub.

4. The existing park and ride site is a 576 capacity, surface level open air car park. The 
facility is in a strategically important location to the south of the A40 dual carriageway, 
adjacent to the Arle Court Roundabout, close to Junction 11 of the M5 on the west side of 
Cheltenham. The site is owned and maintained by Gloucestershire County Council and 
there are a number of regular bus services that service the site. In recent years, parking 
charges were introduced for non-bus users in order to manage the demand for parking 
spaces. 

5. The creation of a Transport Hub has the aim of easing travellers’ journeys between their 
cars and making available more appropriate transport modes for local journeys in and 
around central Cheltenham. The project looks to reduce congestion and pollution on the 
A40 and ease people’s transition to incorporate sustainable transport into their everyday 
habits. In this context, this predominantly means bus, walking and cycling options.

Page 144



6. The key aspects required to achieve GCC’s ambitions for the site as well as future 
challenges and opportunities needed to make the scheme successful are as follows: 

 Approximately doubling the site’s parking capacity with a new multi-storey car 
park;

 Provide an allocation of electric vehicle charging spaces, with the capability in to 
increase the number of EV spaces in the multi-storey car park in the future;

 Expansion of the bus capacity and space to turn around to enable increased 
services in future including long distance coaches;

 Allocation of coach parking and future proofing for electric buses;
 Addition of a waiting passenger facility building;
 Upgrade of access to and from the site for walking, cycling and electric scooters 

and enhanced storage of active vehicles on site; 
 Improved bus and car park access;
 Excellent sustainability credentials including on-site solar renewable energy 

generation.

Options

7. The options for Cabinet are as follows:

 Option A: To authorise the Executive Director of Economy, Environment & 
Infrastructure to progress the Arle Court Transport Hub scheme as set out in this 
report’s recommendations; or

 Option B: Decline to authorise the recommendation. The Homes England 
Housing and Infrastructure Fund (HIF) funding described in this report is secured 
on the basis that the scheme shall be delivered in its entirety by the dates shown 
in the grant determination agreement. If suitable procurement mechanisms 
cannot be put in place the Homes England funding for the project in its entirety 
would be at risk. 

Risks 

8. An up to date risk register for the scheme exists and has been regularly updated in line 
with the GCC Risk Management process, in order to investigate, manage and mitigate key 
risks. The key risks in relation to delivering the Arle Court Transport Hub can be 
summarised as follows:

Delays to planning approval
9. Any delays to the submission or approval of the planning application would result in delays 

starting the construction works. Any changes required to the design as a result of the 
planning process are also likely to introduce delays and increased cost. 

Page 145



Increase in construction cost estimate
10.The capital costs of the scheme increase as a result of factors uncovered during surveys 

and later design stages. The Arle Court project management team provide regular budget 
monitoring scheme updates to the M5 Junction 10 programme team through the 
implementation of stage management plans. If budget forecasts indicate additional funding 
is required, this will be raised with the programme team and funding be sought from either 
the wider Junction 10 scheme risk allocation or alternative sources. Value engineering 
exercises can also be used minimise costs. 

Changes to M5 Junction 10 Scheme
11.The Arle Court scheme is fully funded as part of the wider M5 Junction 10 Homes England 

HIF bid. Should there be any changes to the progress of the Junction 10 scheme, the 
funding for the Arle Court Transport Hub scheme would be put at risk. 

Delays to West of Cheltenham Transport Improvement Scheme (WCTIS)
12.The eastern end of the park and ride site is currently being used by the WCTIS scheme as 

a site compound. Any delays to the completion of the WCTIS scheme would impact on the 
start of the construction of the transport hub. 

Financial implications
13.Funding for the design and construction of the Arle Court Transport Hub scheme is fully 

secured through the successful M5 J10 bid to Homes England’s Housing Infrastructure 
Funding (HIF).

14.The budget estimates for the construction of the scheme will be updated as the design 
progresses. Should the estimates increase above the level of the initial allocation, 
confirmation of additional funds or amendments made to the design will be required prior to 
the award of construction contracts. 

15.As scheme promoter, the County Council will be liable for any future cost overruns 
associated with the delivery of the Arle Court Transport Hub scheme. This will be funded 
from within the wider J10 HIF funding envelope or alternative funding, such as funding 
sources for renewable energy or electric vehicle charging, the highways capital 
programme, Section 106 developer contributions, Community Infrastructure Levy, etc.

16.As stated in the County Council’s Constitution, ‘Directors are responsible for ensuring that 
variations in capital project estimates that occur during the course of a contract are 
contained within the resources allocated to that service’. The scheme’s costs will be 
monitored and managed accordingly.

Climate change implications
Carbon Emissions Implications ? Positive / Neutral / Negative
Vulnerable to climate change? Yes/ No / Maybe

17.Arle Court Transport Hub has a framework in place to ensure the scheme has excellent 
sustainability credentials in design, construction and operation. A sustainability toolkit is in 
the process of being developed to link legislation, policy and aspirations for the scheme to 

Page 146



the objectives and outcomes. The toolkit contains bespoke carbon assessments in line with 
latest guidance, providing a full range of analysis from a mandatory assessment for 
building control, through to detailed assessments of full operational energy usage. Further 
assessments will also take place on biodiversity and ecology to ensure a high standard of 
environmental performance is achieved across the scheme. 

18.The Arle Court Transport Hub will provide a significant allocation of electric vehicle (EV) 
charging spaces within the multi-storey car park. There will be an initial allocation of 
approximately 100 charging spaces which ensures that the site becomes the largest EV 
charging location in Gloucestershire. The design and construction of the car park will also 
be carried out to allow for the significant future expansion of EV charging points. Provision 
within the design will ‘future proof’ the car park and allow for a large majority of spaces in 
the multi-storey car park to upgraded to EV charging as demand requires. Increasing the 
EV parking spaces to 150 can currently be accommodated using the existing power 
networks in the area. 

19.The aspiration for the scheme is net zero carbon from day to day operations. Due to the 
current early position of the scheme within its project lifecycle, further options analysis will 
take place around how this can be delivered including the consideration of any additional 
costs that may be required. The scheme will include an allocation of photovoltaic cells to 
provide a green source of energy to power the car park and building. The size of the array 
of photovoltaic cells will be confirmed at detailed design stage, however estimates show 
the solar power generated could provide in excess of the power required for the operation 
and maintenance of the site. Further calculations taking place during the next design phase 
to assess the carbon impact of construction. Carbon savings will also be implemented 
through the scheme supporting the transition to electric vehicles through the commitment 
to electric vehicle charging and encouraging the switch from private car use to more 
sustainable means.

20.The photovoltaic cells also play a key role in the charging of electric vehicles. The power 
generated on site will be utilised straight to the EV charging points as they provide a very 
effective on-site use of the power generated. The EV strategy will look to utilise as much of 
the energy generated on site, with early design estimates suggesting up to half of the initial 
allocation of EV spaces could be powered by a full array of photovoltaic cells in favourable 
conditions.

Equality implications

Has an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) been completed? Yes / No

21.The Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) (Appendix A) will be reviewed and updated on 
completion of work packages (i.e. on completion of design, procurement, on completion of 
construction, after opening, etc.) to ensure a continuing duty of regard for equality impacts 
on groups with protected characteristics.

22.The strengthening actions identified in the Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) include:

Page 147



 Monitoring of service users once in operation to identify if groups with protected 
characteristics are being discriminated against or if this scheme is advancing 
opportunities for these groups. This could be done through user surveys;

 We will consider further improvements to design elements and stakeholder 
engagement to ensure no one is left behind;

 Appropriate traffic management plan and information provision during 
construction stage to consider severance and obstruction issues for those with 
protected characteristics;

 Supply of equality and diversity policy details from external contractors involved 
in the provision of construction and operation services.

23.The Equality Impact Assessment demonstrates that due regard has been shown to the 
three aims of the public sector equality duty (section 149 of the Equality Act 2010) during 
the development of the proposed procurement route to deliver the project.

24.Cabinet Members should read and consider the Equality Impact Assessment in order to 
satisfy themselves as decision makers that due regard has been given.

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

25.During stages of the scheme (such as the key stakeholder engagement feedback), where 
data has been collected it will be anonymous and any personal data will be treated as 
confidential and in accordance with UK GDPR laws and Gloucestershire County Council’s 
data protection policy.

26.Future contact with members of the public will only be made in relation to the scheme if 
they have signed up for the Arle Court Transport Hub scheme news bulletin. 

Social value implications

27.The Arle Court Transport Hub will help support access to jobs and services for residents 
along the A40 corridor and GCHQ cyber hub. The scheme looks to facilitate sustainable 
transport options and reduce the number of cars on the A40 which pass through both noise 
and air quality management areas.  

28.The scheme will also will provide connections to future development in the area, including 
strategic housing sites, business developments and the Cyber Central development to the 
west of Cheltenham. Cyber Central will provide 45 hectares of employment land and will 
encourage significant development in line with the adopted Joint Core Strategy and the 
Gloucestershire 2050 Vision. Growing our economy presents the opportunity for 
Gloucestershire to be a ‘magnet’ county, growing the working age population by keeping 
and attracting more 18-40 year olds with high level qualifications who want to live and work 
in the county.

29.The scheme will also provide the opportunity for sustainable travel with the introduction of 
connected cycle infrastructure and e-scooters. Thus, reducing the congestion on the A40 
corridor. 

Page 148



30.The Contracts let for Arle Court Transport Hub will embrace social value collaboratively 
and leave a legacy of positive, social and environmental change for everyone involved: 
GCC, contractor, supply chain and local community. These positive steps are evidenced in 
better working conditions, social inclusion, environmental efficiencies, local procurement & 
social enterprise spend, work placements, job creations, school/college career events, 
partnership mental health training and fitness for work sessions. 

Consultation feedback

31.An engagement exercise has been completed for initial proposals for Arle Court Transport 
Hub to gather feedback from key stakeholders and impacted residents in the vicinity of the 
site. Engagement channels have included emails, letters to residents, a dedicated 
webpage on the Council’s website, MP, GCC and Cheltenham Borough Council member 
briefings and meetings with the project team. 

32.To date, over thirty stakeholders have been contacted as part of the targeted engagement 
including:

 Local businesses and business groups including the Cheltenham BID, Chamber 
of Commerce, GFirst LEP and Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust; 

 Disability interest groups;
 Environmental interest groups;
 Travel and transport interest groups including Gloucestershire County Council 

Cycling Advisory and Liaison Group and Elective Vehicle Owners Groups;
 Transport Operators including Bus Service Providers;
 Gloucestershire County Council and Cheltenham Borough Council members and 

Council officers;
 MP’s for Cheltenham, Gloucester and Tewkesbury; and
 Local Residents in the immediate vicinity of the site.

33.A dedicated inbox was set up to engage, monitor and respond to stakeholders as well as 
providing a telephone number if stakeholders were unable to contact the Stakeholder 
Engagement and Communications Team via email. Virtual stakeholder workshops were 
held with many key stakeholders and online meetings offered to residents who live 
adjacent to the site. All engagement was logged and fed back to the project team.

34.The feedback received from all of the engagement to date included several themes, 
notably coaches and parking, active travel, passenger facilities and operating hours and 
landscaping. A breakdown of the responses and feedback will be summarised and 
considered as part of the next stage of design. Overall, the feedback suggested that 
stakeholders recognised the potential benefits of the scheme and opportunity the scheme 
presents to improve the local transport network. 

35.The County Council will hold follow up discussions where necessary following the review of 
feedback provided. 

36.The next phase of consultation will take place as part of the planning application later in the 
year.

Page 149



37.The County Council will require that, as part of the tender process, any successful 
contractor will undertake contractor share events in advance of any works commencing to 
introduce the contractor, answer any concerns and provide more information on the 
construction programme.  This will be supported by pro-active scheme communications 
including a press release and an associated letter drop. 

Officer recommendations

38.That Cabinet approves the recommendations as set out in this report.

Performance Management/Follow-up 

39.GCC has set up a clear and robust structure to provide accountability and an effective 
decision-making process for the management of the major projects. A GCC led six-weekly 
Programme Board and Steering Group are in place and Lead Cabinet Members are 
updated through regular reports as required.

40.Governance of the projects are set out within the Programme Execution Plan (PgEP), this 
defines the structure, roles and responsibilities of GCC within the project and further details 
the governance and decision-making process. Monthly updates will be produced from each 
project as a Highlight Report, all key findings from project Highlight Reports are to be 
collated as a Dashboard report and used at the Programme Board and Steering Group 
meetings to provide project updates.

41.Robust governance is also supported by the submission and ongoing assessment of the 
Homes England processes and regular financial reporting. A comprehensive bid 
submission was also presented to the Homes England when securing the HIF funding.

Page 150



.

REPORT TITLE: Financial Monitoring Report 2021/22

Cabinet Date 21st July 2021

Cabinet Member Cllr Lynden Stowe, Cabinet Member for Finance and Change 

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To provide an update on the year-end forecast for the 2021/22 County 
Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets

Recommendations

That the Cabinet:

1. Notes the forecast revenue year end position based on actual expenditure 
as at the end of April 2021 and May 2021 (Period 2) forecasts for the 
2021/22 financial year is an overspend of £4.570 million all of which 
relates to non Covid-19 expenditure, as we are forecasting a balanced 
position in relation to Covid-19 expenditure and income.  

2. Notes the forecast capital year end position as at the end of May 2021 of 
£158.187 million against the current budget of £158.187 million.

3. Approves the recommended transfer of £1million from the earmarked 
minimum wages reserve, which is no longer required, to General 
Reserves.

4. Approves the £4.005 million decrease to the capital programme as 
outlined in section B of the report. 

Reasons for 
recommendations

Resource 
Implications

These are detailed within the report

Background 
Documents

MTFS Report to 12th February 2021 County Council 

Statutory Authority

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

County Wide

Page 151

Agenda Item 14



Officer Paul Blacker, Director of Finance (01452) 328999 
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
Jayne Fuller, Corporate Finance Manager (01452) 328926

jayne.fuller@gloucestershire.gov.uk
Timeline Not applicable

Revenue Expenditure 2021/22

A. Revenue Forecast Outturn Position 2021/22

1. The current forecast of the year end revenue position against the revenue budget of 
£483.008 million, based on forecasts in May 2021 (Period 2) is an overspend of 
£4.570 million all of which relates to non Covid-19 expenditure. 

2. The largest non-Covid-19 budget variance is the £6.591 million forecast overspend 
in Children and Families – this overspend is partially offset by the £2.052 million 
underspend in Technical & Countywide. 

3. The Council’s forecast cost of responding to the Covid-19 pandemic (excluding 
expenditure funded from specific grants) is £22.472 million in 2021/22 which is 
funded by £11.526 million 21/22 Covid-19 Emergency Grant, and carry forward from 
20/21 of £10.946 million emergency grant. The forecast gross lost income for the 
period April to June 2021 is £890k. Confirmation that the Lost Sales, Fees and 
Charges scheme will continue until the end of June 2021 has been received, 
however the forecast gross lost income for 21/22 is £2.937 million which will have to 
be funded from the emergency grant if the schemed does not continue beyond 
June. A balanced position is therefore forecast for Covid-19 related activity.   

4. In addition to the £22.472 million of general Covid-19 grant funding detailed above, 
the Council has also received other ring fenced Covid-19 related grant funding. The 
specific grant allocations for 2021/22 total £9.1 million with and additional £17.2 
million carried forward from 2020/21. Details are in the table below:

Page 152

mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jayne.fuller@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Other ringfenced  Covid -19 related grant
21/22

20/21 carry 
forward

Infection Control Grant  ( up to 30.06.21) 2.545 0.000

Department for health and Social Care-Rapid Testing 1.684 0.000

Test & Trace 0.000 1.426

Covid-19 Bus Service Support Grant 0.000 0.180

H2ST DFE grant 0.000 0.339

DHSC -Contain Outbreak Management fund 2.974 13.337
Department for Work & Pensions -  Covid Winter Grant 
Scheme 0.524 0.000
MHCLG Clinically Extremely Vulnerable (CEV) people
Tranches 1-4 .  0.000 1.230
Community Testing 0.000 0.409
Holiday & Activities Fund 20/21 1.391 0.156
Practical support payment 1 0.000 0.121
Other ringfenced  Covid -19 related grant 9.119 17.197

5. The assumption in this report is that relevant expenditure will be limited to the value 
of these ring fenced grants – any underspend will either need to be returned or 
carried forward to be spent in accordance with the grant conditions in future years.

6. An analysis of the current forecast position is provided in the table and narrative 
below. 

Page 153



Directorate Breakdown for Cabinet Report - Position May Forecasts 2021 (P2)

Variance

Revised 
2021/22 
Budget

%
Forecast 

excluding 
Covid-19

£000 £000 £000 % £000 £000

Adults 156,336 160,308 3,972 2.54% 3,972 0 

Prevention & Wellbeing 35,566 36,217 651 1.83% 700 -49 

Children & Families 126,571 140,513 13,942 11.02% 7,351 6,591 

Economy, Environment & Infrastructure 75,888 81,027 5,139 6.77% 5,139 0 

Community Safety 20,009 20,067 58 0.29% 58 0 

Corporate Resources 34,788 40,120 5,332 15.33% 5,252 80 

Total for Services 449,158 478,252 29,094 6.48% 22,472 6,622 

Technical & Countywide 33,850 31,798 -2,052 -6.06% 0 -2,052 

Total 483,008 510,050 27,042 5.60% 22,472 4,570 

Additional Funding Covid-19 including 
carry forward to be allocated 22,472 0 -22,472 -22,472 

Revised Total 505,480 510,050 4,570 0.95% 0 4,570 

Covid-19 
ForecastService Area

Forecast 
Outturn 
Position

Forecast 
Outturn 

Variance

Adult Social Care 

7. Adult Social Care is reporting an underlying overspend of £4.886 million which 
includes £3.972 million for the Covid-19 costs.  Excluding the Covid-19 costs ASC 
are reporting an overspend of £914k, which can be covered by the Vulnerable 
Adults Reserve. Therefore, Adult Social Care is forecasting a balance position – 
excluding Covid-19 spend. 

8. Adult Social Care reserves currently stand at £9.481 million. The reserves continue 
to be held as Vulnerable Adults Reserve at £2.665 million with the balance 
specifically set aside for the backdated element of new Ordinary Residence cases 

Page 154



and additional commitments relating to the Care Act.  It is recommended that 
specific adult services reserves are reduced by £1 million following due to the 
Supreme Court announcement of their judgement on the 19th March 2021 on 
minimum wages. It is proposed that the £1 million is transferred to the Council’s 
General Reserve.  June Cabinet approved £4.054 million of carry forward requests 
and this has been added to the Adults Social Care reserves.  There are plans during 
2021/22 to use this carry forward funding.

 There continues to be a number of significant risks that are ongoing which mainly 
relate to, Covid-19, S117 backdated payments, responding to winter pressures, 
as well as the Adult Single Programme (ASP). The ASP savings target for 
2021/22 is £3.193 million. 

9. The forecast cost of the Covid-19 response for 2021/22 within Adults is made up of:

 £3.531 million of additional support to care providers – not yet confirmed to pay
 £0.086 million additional workforce spend
 £0.102 million on PPE
 £0.247 million ASP risks
 £3.972 million funded from Covid general grant 
 £4.229 million funded from Covid-19 Specific Grants for Infection Control Fund 

and Rapid Testing

10. LD External Care is projecting a £3.074 million underspend.  This relates to £1.998 
million of underlying underspends and £1.076 million of MTFS funding which not 
expected to be used during 2021/22 because of delays relating to Covid-19.  This is 
a one-off benefit in 2021/22.

11. Older People (OP) and Physical Disabilities (PD) are reporting a £4.209 million 
overspend.  The overspend is split across individual service budgets with OP 
showing as £2.361 million and PD £1.848 million.  The overspend mainly relates to 
the unachieved cost reductions from previous years and the brought forward 
underlying financial position, voids relating to homes run by a major provider, 
increased cover for bad debts and additional winter pressures

12. The Mental Health position of a £991k overspend as calculated by the 
Gloucestershire Health and Care NHST Finance Team, net of unallocated MTFS 
growth and savings held by the Lead Commissioner. A long-term plan is being 
developed by the Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Trust to address the 
underlying overspend.

Page 155



13.Other Services comprise all staffing budgets for Adult Social Care, as well as a 
number of specific commissioned contracts. The position for these services nets to a 
£1.186 million underspend the majority of which relates to staff vacancies. 
Significant variances include:

a. £635k significant overspend in respect of unfound reablement savings.

b. £916k significant underspends: £449k OP/PD Integrated Social Care 
Management (ISCM) due largely to vacancies; and £467k LD Assessment, 
Support Planning & Management mainly due to vacancies. 

Prevention and Wellbeing 

14.Services within this area include Public Health, Supporting People and a number of 
smaller budgets covering the prevention hub team and grants. In total Prevention 
Services are £651k over-spent but this includes £700k of Covid-19 expenditure. 

15.Covid-19 grants totalling £15.293 million have been carried forward and a further 
£2.974 million COMF grant has been received for 2021/22 and the total funding will 
be targeted at continuing the containment and management of the outbreak through 
testing and tracing, supporting vulnerable groups and communities. 

16.The underlying non-Covid-19 position for Prevention and Well Being is a £158k 
under-spend. Public Health services are funded by a ring-fenced grant, which if 
unspent is required to be carried forward in a specific reserve. The Public Health 
(PH) position, excluding Covid-19 expenditure, is forecast to be £109k under-spent 
and this will be transferred to the PH reserve at year end. Therefore, the forecast 
non-Covid-19 underspend net of the transfer to the PH Reserve is £49k relating to 
prevention hub activities.

17.Estimated Covid-19 expenditure against the general grant totals £700k and covers 
two key areas - support for the long-term impact of Covid-19 and supplier relief for 
supporting people providers. 

18.The in-year forecast for Public Health is an under-spend of £109k due to lower take-
up for health checks and sexual health testing as fewer people are currently 
accessing the service. 

Children & Families

19.The current forecast for the year end revenue position as at May 2021 for non-DSG 
funded services is an over-spend of £13.942 million (11.02% of budget). Included 
within these figures is the forecast additional cost of the impact of Covid-19 on 
budgets which totals £7.351 million giving an underlying over-spend of £6.591 

Page 156



million The significant over-spend continues to be against the external placements 
budget due to increasing numbers of children in care partly linked to the pandemic 
but also the number and cost of placements.

20.Additional forecast expenditure for the impact of Covid-19 covers four key areas 
which are external placement costs including the additional cost of accommodation 
for care leavers, cost of social care staff, support to vulnerable pupils and the 
additional cost of holiday food provision above the grant awarded. A significant part 
of this forecast includes the continuing impact on social care and education services 
even though lockdown measures are easing.

21.Activity levels within social care continue to cause significant budgetary pressures 
on children’s services and in particular against the external placement resulting in 
the over-spend. At the end of April 2021 children in care numbers were 789 
compared to 754 at the end of April 2020.

22.The current forecast over-spend against the external placement budget is £11.751 
million (37.7% above budget) and includes an assumption of £4.2 million for new 
cases in-year to allow for additional placements to replace existing care 
commitments or for higher number of placements due to increased activity. The 
forecast also includes the current and future impact of Covid-19 on placement 
numbers which totals £5.221 million resulting in an underlying over-spend of £6.53 
million. The underlying non-COVID over-spend is due to the number of residential, 
fostering and supported living placements and also the cost of complex residential 
placements. The current forecast average unit cost of a placement is £111,600 per 
annum compared to a budgeted unit cost of £105,200 (residential/supported living 
average unit cost is £176,800). The current unit costs are likely to change due to 
fluctuations in assumptions used at the start of the financial year. There are 
currently 468 external placements, of which 125 are residential and 132 supported 
living placements. 

23.At this stage in the year the forecast has to be based on a lot of assumptions in 
terms of growth in activity, delays in transitions, capacity in the fostering market both 
in-house and external and the impact of Trevone House providing additional 
capacity for young people. Assumptions will be reviewed on a monthly basis and 
adjusted accordingly. Improving social care practice to divert children from care at 
an earlier point and achieve permanence at the earliest opportunity will reduce 
numbers of children in care costs in the longer term.

24.Against safeguarding staffing budgets there is a forecast over-spend of £253k (1.3% 
above budget) which includes £307k as a contingency for additional staffing 
capacity to respond to any spike in activity due to the impact of the Covid-19 crisis; 
the underlying position is forecast to be close to budget as a result of effective 
management of the workforce, improved processes for recruitment, more effective 

Page 157



advertising and the support and training provided by the social work academy. 
Turnover of staff has been between 15% and 18.1% over the last six months and at 
the end of April there were 81 agency workers in post. 

25.The increase in the number of Education, Health and Social Care plans (EHCPs) is 
causing a budgetary pressure in SEN budgets with a reported over-spend of £348k. 
Whereas in-house fostering and adoption services are under-spent by £514k due to 
activity at the start of the year being below budgeted assumptions. 

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) position

26.Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) funded services are forecast to be over-spent by 
£16.811 million in 2021/22, which includes the deficit carry forward of £13.67 million. 
This carry forward deficit figure excludes the surpluses carried forward for early 
years and de-delegated amounts which were committed at the end of the financial 
year end but not spent.  

27.A High Needs Block deficit budget of £3.626 million has been set for 2021/22. The 
deficit budget results from setting realistic budgets within high needs services 
considering growth trends and existing activity demands on special school and 
independent provision and top up budgets. 

28.The budget pressures that Gloucestershire is facing reflect the national picture with 
significant deficits in DSG high needs being held in many Local Authorities. The 
implementation of the High Needs Strategy will be essential to ensure the budget is 
balanced in future years and a spending review of services is in progress with a 
financial recovery plan being reviewed and developed alongside this review. 

Economy, Environment & Infrastructure

29.Economy, Environment and Infrastructure are currently forecasting an overspend 
position of £5.139 million (6.8% of the budget).  This is all down to the impact of 
Covid-19 related costs or loss of income as set out in the paragraphs below.

30.Loss of income is forecasted to be £2.729 million which is split between £0.392 
million from Registrations and Libraries, £2.295 million from parking related income 
and £42k from other income.

31.Covid-19 costs are forecasted to be £2.410 million made up of £1.588 million for the 
Recovery Strategy, £241k for PPE and social distancing related spend and £144k of 
other spend across the directorate on a range of issues. Included within the £2.410 
million of Covid 19 costs are unachievable savings relating to £193k for registration 

Page 158



& library income and £244k against parking fee income which are both highly 
unlikely to be achieved.

32.There is a non Covid-19 overspend forecast of circa £250k against Highways due to 
the high level of road defects arising from the prolonged period of bad weather 
which has required additional gangs and material spend in April and May.  We will 
be looking to absorb this overspend from within EE&I with natural vacancies if 
possible throughout the year therefore we are currently forecasting a balanced 
position for EE&I excluding the Covid-19 related pressures outlined above. 

Community Safety Directorate

33.The Community Safety Directorate is forecasting an overspend of £58k (0.29% of 
budget) which are estimated costs attributed to Covid-19.  Excluding Covid-19 costs, 
the forecast outturn indicates an on-target spend. The figures include £587k of 
carried forward funds, approved by June Cabinet, to implement the Fire and Rescue 
Service Improvement Plan.

Corporate Resources

34.Corporate Resources are forecasting an overspend of £5.332 million (15.3% of the 
budget). Included within these figures is the forecast additional cost of the impact of 
Covid-19 on budgets which totals £5.252 million giving an underlying overspend of 
£80k. (0.2% of the budget.)

35.The additional forecast expenditure of £5.252 million for the impact of Covid-19 
incudes £100k in the Asset Management & Property Services budgets, £75k against 
Occupational Health, £58k Information Management Service and £50k Legal costs, 
together with a contingency allocation of £4.969 million which is available to support 
further Council wide spend pressures should they arise during 2021/22.

Technical and Countywide

36.The forecast Non-Covid-19 outturn position for Technical and Countywide budgets 
is a £2.052 million underspend. The main areas of variance are highlighted in the 
paragraphs below.

37.Positive interest rate credits on cash balances are forecast to produce a £823k 
under spend during the year. This is lower than previous years as a result of lower 
interest rates introduced to mitigate the economic impact of Covid-19. 

38.The 2021/22 budget includes an MtC savings contingency; this was approved by 
Council to reflect the high-risk nature of some of the savings programmes in 

Page 159



demand led areas in 2021/22. £1.229 million is being used to support the overall 
budget position for 2021/22. 

B. Capital Expenditure

Current Spend 2021/22

39.The re-profiled capital budget for 2021/22 is £158.187 million. Actual spend against 
the capital programme as at the end of May 2021 (period 2) is £1.004 million.

Budget and Forecast Outturn Position 2021/22

40.The forecast outturn position for 2021/22 is £158.187 million in line with the 
reprofiled budget of £158.187 million.

Service Area

Reprofiled
Budget
2021/22

Current
Year

Spend
2021/22

% Current
Year

Spend
Against

Reprofiled
Budget

Forecast
Outturn
2021/22

Forecast
Year-end
Variance

£'000 £'000 % £'000 £'000
Capital Receipts Works Before Sale 0 0 0 0
Adults 6,731 368 5 6,731 0
Childrens Services

Schools 41,456 644 2 41,456 0
Non-Schools 603 7 1 603 0

Economy, Environment & Infrastructure
Highways 64,482 -389 -1 64,482 0
Strategic Infrastructure 5,321 25 0 5,321 0
Waste Disposal 712 0 0 712 0
Libraries 951 -1 -0 951 0

Community Safety
Fire and Rescue Service 650 278 43 650 0
Trading Standards 39 0 0 39 0

Corporate Services
AMPS 12,022 126 1 12,022 0
ICT Projects 10,694 -109 -1 10,694 0
Business Service Centre 1,001 33 3 1,001 0
Archives & Information Management 53 0 0 53 0
Customer 972 22 2 972 0

Investing In Self Funded Income Schemes 12,500 0 0 12,500 0
Total 158,187 1,004 1 158,187 0

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 2021/22

41.All services are currently forecast to spend on budget in 2021/22.

Page 160



Changes to the Capital Programme in 2021/22 and future years

Highways

42.The table below shows a series of Highway capital schemes forecasting to spend 
above £250k each. The funding for these projects was approved as part of a single 
line category within the MTFS in February 2021 and therefore were not individually 
itemised. The net impact is nil.

Forecast Total
 Scheme Cost

Y-0085-05260 Brockweir Bridge Refurbishment (Joint funding with Monmouthshire) 728,985
Y-2008-06094 A419 Bristol Rd Whitminster Rbt Jct13 resurfacing 499,560
Y-2008-64593 Boverton Drive Brockworth Concrete Road replacement 538,025
Y-2008-06211 A430 Bristol Road Gloucester resurfacing 572,815
Y-2008-55005 A46 Bath Rd Dudbridge Hill to Rodborough Hill Resurfacing 576,059
Y-2008-64587 Estcourt Road, Gloucester, North Side Service Road Concrete Road replacement597,742
Y-2008-15938 A429 Fosseway Moreton-in-Marsh to Broadwell Resurfacing 641,489
Y-0069-69011 A435 Cheltenham Racecourse - Landslip 563,979
Y-0069-69015 Badgworth Road (Reddings Bridge) - Landslip 776,269
Y-0069-69021 Blakeney West - landslip scheme 1,363,235
Y-0069-69009 Rushmire Hill B4058 - Landslip 2,354,237
Y-0080-01006 Cheltenham West On Street Parking (scheme largely complete in previous years)660,299

Forecast Total
 Scheme Cost

Y-0085-02550 Mythe Bridge Repairs 287,340
Y-0085-58550 Lower Soudley Bridge  Retaining Wall 296,896
Y-0085-04201 Haw Bridge - Repainting and Bearing renewal 300,860
Y-2008-64594 Upper Church Rd & Church Rd, Cainscross, Concrete Road replacement 258,515
Y-2008-54649 Severn Vale Drive, Quedgeley - Resurfacing 260,091
Y-2008-17252 Alkington Lane Berkeley - Resurfacing 260,137
Y-2008-57429 Alstone Lane Cheltenham -Resurfacing 286,200
Y-2008-56289 Whittington Rd & Bibury Rd Cheltenham - Footways 291,532
Y-2008-53146 A48 Woolaston to Alvington Resurfacing 296,333
Y-2008-06476 B4014 Hampton Street Tetbury - Resurfacing 298,980
Y-2008-53137 A48 Nibley Hill to Nibley Green - Resurfacing 317,210
Y-2008-16487 Chedworth Road Withington - Resurfacing 332,515
Y-2008-16131 B4632 Stratford Road, Mickleton - Resurfacing 354,538
Y-2008-53289 A46 Fairview Rd & A4019 St Margaret's Road, Cheltenham Resurfacing 374,740
Y-2008-06091 A419 Stroud Rd & Cowcombe Hill Chalford - Resurfacing 376,517
Y-2008-53213 A38 Bristol Road Swanley Lane Junction - Resurfacing 384,286
Y-2008-53204 A38 ( M50 Junction northwards) - resurfacing 391,149
Y-2008-53214 A38 Bristol Road, Stone- Resurfacing 404,159
Y-2008-68577 A38 Southern Connector Quedgeley - Resurfacing 494,350
Y-0099-01410 Barnwood Road/Elmbridge Road Traffic Signal Refurbishment 250,000
Y-0099-00130 Toadsmoor Hill Chalford - Traffic Signal Refurbishment 300,000

The below list of Highways Schemes are expected to spend over £500k and 
were not previously listed as individual schemes on the MTFS document.

The below list of Highways Schemes are expected to spend between £250k and £500k 
and were not previously listed as individual schemes on the MTFS document.

43. It is proposed that Cabinet support a net increase of £1.138 million in the Highways 
capital budget as summarised below:

 £330k contribution from Monmouthshire Council towards the Brockweir 
Bridge refurbishment project. 

 £125k contribution from Stroud CIL towards the Newman Henders Bridge 
refurbishment project. 

Page 161



 £50k contribution from Stroud CIL for the Cam & Dursley Cycletrack. 
 £71k contribution from Stroud CIL for the Cam & Dursley Station 

Improvements. 
 £75k contribution from Stroud CIL for the Cainscross Road Cycle Facility. 
 £44k contribution from Stroud CIL for the Stroud Valleys Cycle Trail.
 £150k reduced contribution from Stroud District Council towards the A38 

Canal Bridges project. 
 £10k contribution from Frampton-on-Severn parish council towards a

Community Offer Pedestrian project.
 £88k developer contribution towards the Gloucester to Quedgeley Canal 

Cycletrack project.
 £308k developer contribution for the A438/Shannon Way Junction project
 £74k developer contribution towards Northway Lane Cycletrack project.
 £17k reduced developer contribution towards Honeybourne Cycle project.
 £130k RCCO from the Highways Locals revenue budget to support delivery 

of a number of capital projects. 

Libraries

44. It is proposed that Cabinet support an increase of £4k in the Libraries capital budget 
relating to a developer contribution to the Gloucester Library project.

Waste Disposal

45. It is proposed that Cabinet support a decrease of £4k in the Waste Disposal capital 
budget for the compactors scheme. The £4k income from the sale of Waste 
equipment was instead used within the revenue budget.

ICT Projects

46. It is proposed that Cabinet support a £4.032 million transfer to revenue of ICT 
capital budget for a number of ICT schemes that are cloud based and now assessed 
to be revenue in nature.  There is funding held in the Capital Fund to support this 
transfer, the schemes are detailed below:-

 Citrix Replacement £407k
 Azure Cloud Migration £1.500 million
 Microsoft Essentials £1.366 million
 Toolset (ITSM & SIEM) £334k
 Telephony (Teams) £365k
 Legal Case Management System £60k

Page 162



Business Service Centre

47. It is proposed that Cabinet support a £1.111 million transfer to revenue of Business 
Service Centre capital budget for a number of schemes that are cloud based and 
now assessed to be revenue in nature.  There is funding held in the Capital Fund to 
support this transfer, the schemes are detailed below:-

 SAP Development MTFS 19/20 £220k
 SAP Environment - Data Storage £82k
 Procure to Pay Digital Project £660k
 HR Scanning System £149k

Overall

48.As a result of the above changes, the overall capital programme will decrease by 
£4.005million. 

Page 163



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Short Breaks for Children and Young People with Disabilities
	6 Variation of existing contracts for an extension to the existing services to Children and Family Centres
	7 Extension of existing contact for Youth Support Services.
	8 Residential Framework for Children's Homes
	9 Youth Justice Plan 2021/22
	Youth Justice Plan - 2021-22 YJB SUBMISSION Final PDF

	10 MHCLG Domestic Abuse Section 31 Grant Funding for 2021/22
	11 Elected Member Community Grant Scheme Build Back Better - Councillor Scheme
	12 Provision of Food Waste Transfer Services
	13 Arle Court Transport Hub –Contract Procurement and Ancillary Orders
	14 Financial Monitoring Report 2021/22

